

Binnion, Amy Margaret (2010) Regulation of chemokine expression in human airway smooth muscle cells. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.

Access from the University of Nottingham repository:

http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/11344/1/Thesis_full_document_with_corrections.pdf

Copyright and reuse:

The Nottingham ePrints service makes this work by researchers of the University of Nottingham available open access under the following conditions.

This article is made available under the University of Nottingham End User licence and may be reused according to the conditions of the licence. For more details see: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/end_user_agreement.pdf

A note on versions:

The version presented here may differ from the published version or from the version of record. If you wish to cite this item you are advised to consult the publisher's version. Please see the repository url above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information, please contact eprints@nottingham.ac.uk

REGULATION OF CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN HUMAN AIRWAY SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

Amy Margaret Binnion BSc MBBS MRCP

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

May 2010

ABSTRACT

Asthma is an inflammatory disease of the airways characterised by airway remodelling and hyperresponsiveness. New treatments are needed for patients with severe asthma whose disease is not controlled with currently available Asthma pathophysiology is complex, however, accumulating therapies. evidence suggests multiple inflammatory pathways in asthma converge onto a relatively small number of downstream targets that may be of therapeutic interest. These include mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs), the proinflammatory transcription factors nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) and activator protein-1 (AP-1) and transcriptional regulators such as histone acetyl transferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs). Chemokines are molecules secreted at sties of inflammation, attracting inflammatory cells and perpetuating the inflammatory response. Here we studied the mechanisms by which the pro-inflammatory mediator endothelin-1 (ET-1) and the cytokine tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) promoted expression by primary human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMC) of two important chemokines, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and eotaxin. Further, we studied the mechanisms by which existing asthma therapies (long acting beta agonists (LABA) and glucocorticoids) modulated TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin expression. Endothelin-1 stimulated MCP-1 release through a transcriptional mechanism involving NF- κ B and AP-1; the upstream signalling pathway involved p38 and p44/p42 MAPKs. Previously, this lab showed that TNF- α -induced eotaxin release is also NF-kB-dependent, involving histone H4 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter. Here we found that $TNF-\alpha$ -induced eotaxin release does not involve histone H3 acetylation, and that TNF- α -dependent histone H4

acetylation does not occur through alterations in total HDAC activity or levels of the key HDACs -1 and -2. Similarly, modulation of TNF- α effects on eotaxin expression by glucocorticoids and LABA is independent of total HDAC activity and HDAC-1 and -2 levels. These studies support the body of evidence suggesting that multiple inflammatory pathways in asthma converge onto a small number of downstream targets, and are relevant to the understanding and treatment of asthma.

PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS

Full papers

<u>Sutcliffe AM*</u>, Clarke DL, Bradbury DA, Corbett LM, Patel JA and Knox AJ. Transcriptional regulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 release by endothelin-1 in human airway smooth muscle cells involves NF-kappa B and AP-1. *Br J Pharmacol* 2009. 157 (3): 436-50.

Clarke DL, <u>Sutcliffe AM*</u>, Deacon K, Bradbury D, Corbett L and Knox AJ. PKC β II augments NF- κ B-dependent transcription at the CCL11 promoter via p300/CBP associated factor recruitment and histone H4 acetylation. *J Immunol* 2008. 181 (5): 3503-14.

Mullan CS, Riley M, Clarke D, Tatler A, <u>Sutcliffe A*</u>, Knox AJ, Pang L. Beta-tryptase regulates IL-8 expression in airway smooth muscle cells by a PAR-2-independent mechanism. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **2008. 38(5): 600-8**

Pang L, Nie M, Corbett L, <u>Sutcliffe A*</u> and Knox AJ. Mast cell β -tryptase selectively cleaves eotaxin and RANTES and abrogates their eosinophil chemotactic activities. *J Immunol* 2006. 176 (6): 3788-3795.

Abstracts

<u>Sutcliffe AM*</u>, Clarke DL, Bradbury DA, Corbett LM and Knox AJ. Transcriptional regulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 production by endothelin-1 in human airway smooth muscle cells involves NF-κB and/or AP-1. 2006 American Thoracic Society Conference (poster).

<u>Sutcliffe AM*</u>, Corbett LM, Clarke DL, Bradbury DA, Pang L, Nie M and Knox AJ. Endothelin-1 transcriptionally regulates monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) production by human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMC): role of MAP kinases. 2005 American Thoracic Society Conference (poster).

<u>Sutcliffe AM*</u>, Corbett LM, Pang L and Knox AJ. Endothelin-1 stimulates interleukin-8, eotaxin and monocyte chemotactic protein-1 release by cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. 2004 American Thoracic Society Conference (poster).

* My maiden name was Sutcliffe

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Alan Knox. His unstinting support, advice and encouragement have made this work possible.

I have been fortunate to work in a group with many excellent researchers who have always been generous with their assistance and advice. Special thanks are due to Lisa Corbett for getting me back up to speed with lab work after a nine year gap, Jamie Patel for assistance with experimental work, Sarah Lewis for statistical advice and Deborah Clarke, Dawn Bradbury and Andy Clayton for much helpful advice and assistance over the years.

I would like to thank my son, Dylan, for putting up with his mum hiding herself away in her office at weekends and, most importantly, my husband Paul, for his unfailing love and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS	iv
Acknowledgements	v
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Asthma	2
1.2 The immune response in asthma	3
1.3 Role of other immune cells in asthma	5
1.3.1 T helper 1 cells	5
1.3.2 Regulatory T cells	5
1.3.3 Th17 cells	6
1.3.4 Natural Killer T cells	7
1.3.5 Cytotoxic T cells	7
1.3.6 Mast cells	8
1.3.7 Eosinophils	9
1.3.8 Neutrophils	12
1.3.9 Monocyte macrophages	13
1.4 Structural changes in the asthmatic airway	14
1.4.1 Epithelial abnormalities	14
1.4.1.1 Epithelial desquamation	14
1.4.1.2 Goblet cell hyperplasia	16
1.4.1.3 Subepithelial fibrosis	17
1.4.2 Increased vascularity of the airways in asthma	18
1.4.3 Airway smooth muscle layer	20

1.4.4 Functional significance of increased ASM in asthma	22
1.4.4.1 Reduction in airway calibre and increased force	
generation	22
1.4.4.2 Altered contractility of ASM	23
1.4.5 Synthetic functions of ASM	24
1.4.6 Differences in ASM between asthmatic and non-	
asthmatic patients	26
1.4.6.1 Cytokine and mediator release	26
1.4.6.2 ASM proliferation	27
1.4.6.3 ASM extracellular matrix interactions	28
1.4.7 Airway smooth muscle/T-cell interactions	29
1.5 Mediator component of asthma	29
1.5.1 Mediator signalling	30
1.5.2 Endothelin-1	34
1.6 Cytokines	35
1.6.1 Tumour necrosis factor-α	35
1.7 Inflammatory gene regulation: cross-talk between cytokine-	
and GPCR-mediated pathways	39
1.8 Chemokines	40
1.8.1 MCP-1 and asthma	41
1.8.2 Eotaxin and asthma	42
1.9 Current asthma treatments	43
1.9.1 Glucocorticoids	45
1.9.2 Limitations of current asthma treatments	47

CHAPTER 2: AIMS OF THIS THESIS	52
2.1 Aims of this thesis	53
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	55
3.1 Materials	56
3.2 Human airway smooth muscle cell culture	57
3.3 Time course, concentration response and inhibitor studies	59
3.4 MCP-1 and eotaxin release	59

3.5 Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)603.5.1 RNA extraction60

	3.5.2 Reverse transcription	61
	3.5.3 Polymerase chain reaction	61
3.6	Quantitative real time RT-PCR	62
3.7	Western blot analysis	63
3.8	Vectors and transient transfections	65

3.8.1 Vectors	65
3.8.2 Transfection protocol	67
3.9 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay	67
3.10 Cell viability (MTT assay)	69

CHAPTER 4: REGULATION OF MONOCYTE CHEMOTACTIC PROTEIN-1EXPRESSION BY ENDOTHELIN-1704.1 Introduction714.2 Experimental protocols744.2.1 MCP-1 release from HASMC74

	4.2.2 Determination of ET receptor mRNA expression by	
	polymerase chain reaction	74
	4.2.3 Determination of MCP-1 mRNA expression by real time	
	polymerase chain reaction	75
	4.2.4 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay	75
	4.2.5 Data analysis	75
4.3	Results	77
	4.3.1 ET-1 stimulates the release of MCP-1 from cultured	
	HASMC	77
	4.3.2 HASMC express endothelin A and endothelin B	
	receptor mRNA	79
	4.3.3 Effects of ET-1 on MCP-1 release are mediated by ET_A	
	and ET _B receptors	80
	4.3.4 Effects of ET-1 on MCP-1 release are mediated by	
	p44/p42 and p38 MAP kinases but not by JNK or PI3 kinase	85
	4.3.5 ET-1 increases MCP-1 mRNA levels	90
	4.3.6 ET-1 does not affect MCP-1 mRNA stability	91
	4.3.7 ET-1 increases MCP-1 promoter activity	92
	4.3.8 Effects of ET-1 on the MCP-1 promoter map to a region	
	between 213 and 128 base pairs upstream of the translational	
	start codon	94
	4.3.9 ET-1 stimulates activity of an NF-κB and an AP-1	
	reporter construct	96
	4.3.10 JNK inhibition has no effect on ET-1-stimulated	
	MCP-1 promoter activity	98

	4.3.11 Inhibitor of κB kinase-2 (IKK-2) blockade inhibits	
	ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 release	99
	4.3.12 ET-1 promotes <i>in vivo</i> binding of NF-кВ p65 subunit	
	and AP-1 c-Jun subunit to the MCP-1 promoter	100
	4.3.13 PD98059 and SB203580 inhibit ET-1-stimulated	
	binding of p65 and c-Jun to the MCP-1 promoter	102
	4.3.14 Cell viability	103
4.4	Discussion	104

Chapter 5: Regulation of eotaxin expression by $TNF\mbox{-}\alpha$ and

ITS MODULATION BY GLUCOCORTICOIDS AND LONG ACTING BETA

AGONISTS: ROLE OF $NF\mathchar`kB$, histone H3 Acetylation and

HIST	FONE DEACETYLASES	116
5.1	Introduction	117
5.2	Experimental protocols	121
	5.2.1 Eotaxin release from HASMC	121
	5.2.2 Determination of HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA expression by	
	real time polymerase chain reaction	121
	5.2.3 Nuclear extractions for total HDAC activity assay	121
	5.2.4 Histone deacetylase assay	122
	5.2.5 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay	123
	5.2.6 Data analysis	123
5.3	Results	125
	5.3.1 TNF- α stimulates the release of eotaxin from cultured	
	HASMC	125

	5.3.2 Fluticasone and salmeterol inhibit TNF-α-stimulated	
	eotaxin release	126
	5.3.3 TNF- α does not cause acetylation of histone H3	
	associated with the eotaxin promoter	127
	5.3.4 TNF-α stimulates NF-κB reporter activity in HASMC:	
	fluticasone and salmeterol do not alter this response	128
	5.3.5 TNF- α does not affect HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels	130
	5.3.6 TNF- α does not affect HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels	132
	5.3.7 Fluticasone and salmeterol do not affect HDAC 1 and 2	
	protein levels	133
	5.3.8 TNF-α does not alter total HDAC activity	136
	5.3.9 Fluticasone and salmeterol do not affect total HDAC	
	activity	137
5.4	Discussion	139
Сн	APTER 6: METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	148
6.1	Introduction	149
6.2	Transcriptional regulation	149
	6.2.1 Polymerase chain reaction	149
	6.2.2 Transient transfections	150
	6.2.3 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay	151
6.3	Receptor studies	154
6.4	Kinase studies	155

CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES	157
7.1 Conclusions	158
7.2 Suggestions for future studies	162
APPENDIX: CELL VIABILITY STUDIES	164
References	169

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Asthma

Asthma is an inflammatory disease of the airways characterised by airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and airway remodelling. AHR leads to variable airflow obstruction, manifest clinically by symptoms such as cough, wheezing, breathlessness and chest tightness. The disorder can range in severity through a continuum from mild and intermittent to persistent and severe asthma that may be life-threatening. Typically, inhaled spasmogens trigger an early asthmatic response characterised by bronchoconstriction, oedema of the airway wall and increased mucus secretion, which typically resolves within 2 to 3 hours. This is often followed by a late asthmatic response characterised by a longer period of bronchospasm, maximal between 6 and 12 hours and associated with an influx of inflammatory cells in the airways.

Asthma affects around 5.2 million adults in the UK, and its prevalence is increasing (1). It costs the NHS £889 million and the UK economy a total of £2.3 billion per annum. Over 1400 people died from asthma in the UK in 2002 (1). The causes for asthma remain obscure but it is known that both genetic and environmental influences play a part. At the airway level, the clinical syndrome of asthma is brought about by a complex interplay between a network of multiple inflammatory and structural airway cells. These cells produce a vast array of biologically active molecules, including cytokines, chemokines, mediators, angiogenic factors, growth factors and matrix modifying enzymes, that act in an autocrine and paracrine manner to initiate and perpetuate airway inflammation and remodelling.

1.2 The immune response in asthma

Airway inflammation is fundamental to the pathogenesis of asthma. The initial trigger to this cascade of inflammatory responses is sensitisation to inhaled allergen. Allergen is taken up and processed by antigen presenting dendritic cells residing under the airway epithelium, via IgE bound to high affinity cell surface receptors. Following engagement with antigen, dendritic cells migrate to local lymphoid tissue. There, they present processed antigen, loaded onto MHC class II HLA molecules, to naïve T cells residing within the lymphoid follicle. This results in activation of the T-cell specific to that antigen, through co-stimulatory signals mediated by the interaction of CD28 on the surface of the T cell with CD80 (HLA B 7.1) or CD86 (B7.2) on the antigen presenting cell (APC) (2, 3). The activated T-cell subsequently expresses IL-2 receptors, and proliferation (clonal expansion) is triggered by release of IL-2 from the APC (4). Activated T-cells migrate back to the asthmatic airway under the influence of chemokines (5).

Activation of T cells by antigen leads to their maturation into one of several different functional subsets, described below, dependent on their cluster differentiation (CD) marker status, and the inflammatory milieu. CD4⁺ cells have the capacity to differentiate into T helper 1 (Th1), T helper 2 (Th2), regulatory T cells (Treg) or Th17 cells. CD8⁺ cells develop into cytotoxic T cells (Tc). The level of IL-12 secretion by dendritic cells affects the balance of Th1 versus Th2 responses, IL-12 shifting the balance towards the Th1 response (6). Asthma is characterised by a predominantly Th2 phenotype (7).

Th2 cells are characterised by the production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, and the presence of CCR4 and CCR8 receptors on their cell surface (4, 8). Their physiological role is to protect against extracellular parasites through interaction with, and stimulation of antibody production by, B cells. Human and animal studies support the concept of a Th2 dominant response in asthmatic airway inflammation. Th2 cytokines are elevated in asthmatic patients at baseline and after subsegmental allergen challenge ((8) and references therein). The Th2 cytokine IL-13 is overexpressed in patients with asthma (9, 10) and, furthermore, its expression is related to the degree of eosinophilic inflammation (11). In murine models of asthma, IL-13 was both necessary and sufficient to cause airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) (12), and depletion of CD4⁺ lymphocytes abolished AHR (13).

B lymphocytes, like T-cells, express surface receptors specific for a particular antigen. When a B-cell encounters its specific antigen, it internalises, processes and presents it to activated Th2 cells. Again, in association with specific co-stimulatory signals (ie CD40 ligand on the T-cell surface and CD40 on the B cell), IL-2 stimulation promotes clonal expansion of the B-cell. The B-cell then differentiates into a plasma cell and secretes large amounts of soluble antibody corresponding to its specific surface receptor. IL-4 and IL-13, secreted by Th2 cells, promote isotype switching of the B-cell to release IgE (4), which can then bind to high affinity receptors on the surfaces of mast cells. Subsequent exposure to the relevant inhaled allergen cross links the IgE on the mast cell surface, causing degranulation and activation of asthmatic airway inflammation.

1.3 Role of other immune cells in asthma

1.3.1 Thelper 1 cells

Th1 cells are defined by the secretion of interferon γ (IFN γ) and tumour necrosis factor β (TNF β) (4). Their role in asthma is unclear, with conflicting evidence as to whether they augment or attenuate asthmatic airway inflammation. For example, some studies found that levels of INF γ and TNF α were elevated in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of patients with asthma (14) and correlated with disease severity (15) suggesting that Th1 cells may contribute to the asthma phenotype and may be associated with more severe disease. In support of this hypothesis, adoptive transfer of Th1 cells in one mouse model of asthma caused severe airway inflammation. In contrast, however, similar experiments in different animal models demonstrated inhibition of airway inflammation and AHR by Th1 cells and IL-16 (which promotes differentiation of CD4⁺ cells towards a Th1 phenotype) (16-18). In keeping with a potential negative regulatory effect of Th1 cells, Krug et al found a reduction in IFNy-producing cells in asthmatic patients after segmental allergen challenge (19). Perhaps most importantly, in asthmatic patients, inhaled IFNy had no effect on symptoms, lung function or BALF eosinophil counts (20).

1.3.2 Regulatory T cells

Tregs are important regulators of autoimmunity. They are naturally generated immune cells thought to be part of the host defence mechanism limiting the pathogen-triggered immune response, before it becomes overwhelming and causes excessive tissue damage. Thus, it has been hypothesised that Treg recruitment into the asthmatic airway could suppress allergic inflammation. In support of this hypothesis, Treg levels were reduced in BALF of children with asthma (21), normal patients had a higher frequency of peripheral blood Tregs compared to atopic patients, whereas atopic patients had higher peripheral blood levels of Th2 cells (22) and levels of Tregs were reduced in individuals with allergic rhinitis (23). Furthermore, the Tregs of atopic patients were less able to suppress allergen-induced T-cell proliferation in vitro (23). Interestingly though, in another study, whilst Tregs were again found to be decreased in atopic versus non-atopic children, in the atopic group, the levels of Tregs were actually higher in those with more severe disease compared to those with mild disease. Functional assays confirmed the competence of the Treg cells from this group (24). The authors speculate that Tregs may be generated as a response to atopy and disease severity. The concept that Tregs may downregulate allergic inflammation is supported by animal studies showing that adoptive transfer of Tregs into allergen sensitised mice prevented allergic airway inflammation and AHR (25, 26). However, their role in asthma remains unclear.

1.3.3 Th17 cells

Little is known about the role of these recently described CD4⁺ T cells in asthma. Th17 cells and their main product, IL-17, are important in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (27). IL-17 has been linked to neutrophilic lung inflammation and AHR in a mouse model (28), and release of neutrophil chemokines from airway epithelial cells *in vitro* (29). IL-17 mRNA

levels were increased in the sputum of asthmatic patients, and correlated with sputum neutrophil numbers (30). Th17 cells can also secrete IL-21, which inhibits Treg development (31) and IL-22, which has multiple actions on non-immune cells in various organs, including the lungs (reviewed in (32)). However, more work is needed to fully understand the role of Th17 cells in asthma.

1.3.4 Natural Killer T Cells

Natural killer T (NKT) cells are a sub-population of T lymphocytes that function to recognise and kill virally infected cells and tumour cells. Their role in asthma is controversial. Akbari *et al* have proposed an important role for NKT cells in asthma based on their observations that these cells formed more than 60% of the CD4⁺ lymphocyte population in the BALF of patients with asthma (33) and that, in a mouse model, NKT cells were essential to the development of allergen induced AHR (34), a finding supported by others (35). However, others, who have criticised the methodology used by Akbari *et al*, showed the proportion of NKT cells in BALF of asthmatic patients to be less than 2.5% of the total lymphocyte population (36, 37) and, furthermore, these cells were <u>not</u> required for the development of allergic airway inflammation in a different mouse model (38). The role of NKT cells in asthma remains uncertain.

1.3.5 Cytotoxic T cells

Like Th17 and NKT cells, there is uncertainty surrounding the role of $CD8^+$ Tc cells in asthma. Sputum $CD8^+$ cells from asthmatic patients were found to

release higher levels of IL-4, IL-5 and IFN γ compared to those from nonasthmatic controls (39) suggesting a role for these cells in asthma pathogenesis. In a CD8⁺ deficient mouse model, ovalbumin-stimulated AHR and airway inflammation was significantly reduced, and adoptive transfer of CD8⁺ cells restored these responses (40). In contrast, Das *et al* found that depletion of CD8⁺ cells had no effect on the development of allergic airway inflammation (38). Several studies have found correlations between the number or activity of Tc cells and asthma severity (39, 41, 42) and viral asthma exacerbations, particularly fatal exacerbations (reviewed in (43)), suggesting these cells may assume more importance in severe disease. However, their exact role remains unclear.

1.3.6 Mast cells

Mast cells are tissue cells housing numerous granules containing a host of preformed mediators, including leukotrienes, histamine, tryptase and some cytokines. They bear high affinity FCcRI IgE receptors on their surface. Crosslinking of these receptors, on binding of antigen-associated IgE, triggers mast cell activation and degranulation, with the release of both preformed and newly synthesised (PGD₂, thromboxaneA₂) mediators. These mediators can both trigger bronchoconstriction and contribute, through their effects on other immune cells and airway structural cells, to ongoing airway inflammation. As described in section 1.4.6.1, there is current interest in the observation that mast cells migrate into airway smooth muscle (ASM) bundles in asthma, where it is thought that they may also contribute to the remodelling response through effects on smooth muscle cell proliferation and matrix deposition (44, 45). Tryptase released from mast cells may also contribute to airway remodelling through its action on protease-activated receptor type 2 (PAR2). PAR2 is present on many cell types, including epithelial cells, fibroblasts, ASM, and inflammatory cells (5) and its activation induces ASM proliferation (46).

As well as its effect on the early asthmatic response, mast cell activation is also thought to contribute to the late asthmatic response. Mast cell activation leads to the release from mast cell granules of certain cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-4 and IL-5 (47, 48) as well as *de novo* synthesis, and thus sustained release, of certain of these cytokines (49), thereby contributing to continued inflammation. In support of the mast cell's dual role in the early and late asthmatic responses, is the observation that the anti-IgE monoclonal antibody omalizumab inhibits both responses (50).

1.3.7 Eosinophils

Eosinophils are terminally differentiated polymorphonuclear granulocytes whose physiological function is to protect the host against large parasitic infections. Maturation of granulocyte precursors in the bone marrow into eosinophils is brought about through the sequential action of IL-3 and GM-CSF, which commit the immature granulocyte to the eosinophil lineage, followed by maturation and recruitment to the asthmatic airway under the influence of IL-5 and eotaxin (51, 52). Airway eosinophilia is a consistent finding in patients with asthma (53), with the exception of a subgroup of patients with severe asthma who may demonstrate mixed eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation, or neutrophilic inflammation alone (54).

Eosinophil numbers correlate with disease severity (53), and the dramatic reduction in sputum and tissue eosinophils on treatment of asthma with inhaled or oral glucocorticoids, associated with clinical improvement, is the central facet of the idea that eosinophils are fundamental to airway dysfunction in Eosinophils contribute to airway inflammation and asthma (55, 56). remodelling through the release of several chemokines, cytokines and mediators. Release of chemokines such as regulated on activation, normal Tcell expressed and secreted (RANTES) and IL-8 promotes recruitment of more eosinophils and other inflammatory cells. A host of cytokines may be released by eosinophils (57), which not only have proinflammatory actions on other structural and inflammatory cells within the airway, but may also enhance eosinophil survival (58). Perhaps more important, though, are the multiple mediators released by eosinophils that can contribute to airway remodelling through their direct effects on airway tissues. Eosinophils synthesise a range of cytotoxic mediators, including major basic protein (MBP), eosinophil peroxidise (EPO), eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) and eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (EDN), that are stored in granules and released on activation. Eosinophils and their mediators have been shown to cause direct damage to the epithelial layer (59, 60), causing epithelial detachment and cell lysis and thereby contributing to airway remodelling (see section 1.4.1.1). Furthermore, MBP causes increased ASM hyperreactivity in vitro (61), and its levels in BALF correlate with AHR (62).

The central paradigm that eosinophils are the key cells mediating asthmatic airway inflammation and AHR has been challenged recently by the observation that administration of a monoclonal antibody against IL-5, which is essential to eosinophil maturation, had negligible effects on airflow and AHR despite a greater than 80% reduction in circulating and sputum eosinophils (63). However, despite the reduction in blood and sputum eosinophil count, lung parenchymal eosinophil levels were reduced to a much lesser degree, leading to the suggestion that the remaining eosinophils could account for the continuing symptoms (64). Furthermore, eosinophils entering the airway lumen lose their surface receptors for IL-5, but display enhanced levels of receptors for GM-CSF, another eosinophil activating cytokine, suggesting that eosinophil activation in the airways may be IL-5-independent (65). Interestingly, a recent study demonstrated a significant reduction in exacerbations following anti IL-5 therapy in a population of patients with refractory asthma and eosinophilic airway inflammation (66), whilst confirming earlier observations of a lack of effect on airflow, symptoms and AHR.

There is certainly evidence to support a role for eosinophils in airway remodelling, in that eosinophil depletion significantly reduced deposition of several matrix proteins in the subepithelial layer (67). Further support for a role of eosinophils in airway remodelling, but not AHR, comes from the observation that in eosinophilic bronchitis, a disease that shares many features with asthma but lacks AHR, subepithelial and intraepithelial eosinophil infiltration is observed, in association with subepithelial fibrosis (68). Undoubtedly eosinophils play an important role in the asthmatic airway, but the exact nature of their role remains unclear.

1.3.8 Neutrophils

A subgroup of patients with asthma demonstrate a marked airway neutrophilia and this appears to be associated with a more severe phenotype (54, 69). It has been argued that neutrophilic inflammation in severe asthmatics is a consequence of treatment, as the majority of these patients take long term oral glucocorticoids, which enhance neutrophil survival. A counterargument to this is that the relative steroid resistance of neutrophils may explain the poor response to corticosteroids seen in refractory disease. Interestingly, Ordoñez et al found significantly elevated levels of neutrophils, and the neutrophil chemokine IL-8, in the tracheal aspirate of patients intubated for acute severe asthma, compared to patients intubated electively for non-pulmonary surgery, yet, perhaps surprisingly, only five of the ten patients studied were taking inhaled corticosteroids or maintenance oral steroids (70), supporting the concept that neutrophilic inflammation is a primary feature of severe asthma rather than a consequence of therapy. Furthermore, neutrophil numbers in severe asthma correspond to indices of airway damage and reduced glucocorticoid responsiveness.(71, 72) It is thought that this neutrophilic phenotype is associated with more aggressive disease resulting in greater tissue destruction and airway remodelling. As described in section 1.4.1.2, mucus hypersecretion may contribute to airway narrowing and accelerated decline in FEV_1 in chronic asthma. Neutrophils may contribute to this through secretion of neutrophil elastase, a potent secretagogue for submucosal gland and goblet cells (73).

Evidence that neutrophils contribute to airway remodelling comes from a number of observations. Neutrophils from patients with asthma release higher levels of the profibrotic cytokine transforming growth factor β (TGF β) (74). In severe asthma, high levels of a neutrophil-specific form of MMP-9, HMW MMP-9, were elevated in BALF and correlated with neutrophil numbers. Glucocorticoids were significantly less effective in suppressing HMW MMP-9 mRNA and protein in severe asthmatics than in controls (75). Furthermore, the ratio of MMP-9 to its endogenous inhibitor, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1 (TIMP-1) was reduced in severe asthma, and correlated positively with FEV₁ (76). Thus it seems likely that these cells play a more prominent role in severe asthma associated with airway remodelling.

1.3.9 Monocyte macrophages

Macrophages are derived from circulating monocytes which migrate to the lungs in response to chemokines such as monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), and differentiate into macrophages under the influence of GM-CSF. Macrophage numbers are elevated within the airway mucosa of asthmatics (77), yet their role in asthma is unclear. Macrophages are APCs that, when activated, can release several mediators that induce bronchoconstriction, such as prostaglandins and leukotrienes (78). They are also a source of tissue damaging reactive oxygen species and lysosomal enzymes (5, 78). Interestingly, a recent study in a mouse model of asthma found that macrophages were the dominant source of the cytokine IL-17 (79). This cytokine is thought to be important in neutrophilic inflammation in asthma (discussed in section 1.3.3) and, by inference, this study supports an important

13

role for macrophages in this disease. In a recent study alveolar macrophages were found to be dysfunctional in children with steroid resistant asthma, suggesting these cells may be important in corticosteroid-resistant disease (80). Overall, however, little is known about the role of macrophages in asthma and more studies are required.

1.4 Structural changes in the asthmatic airway

Chronic inflammation in asthma leads to structural changes in the airways in asthma collectively termed airway remodelling. These changes include changes in the epithelium and subepithelial layers, the latter including matrix abnormalities and alterations of the airway smooth muscle layer.

1.4.1 Epithelial abnormalities

1.4.1.1 Epithelial desquamation

Epithelial denudation has been reported to be increased in biopsy specimens and post mortem specimens from patients with asthma compared to healthy controls, leading to the hypothesis that disruption of the protective epithelial layer results in alterations in host defences and responses to exogenous stimuli (81-84). Further, Chanez *et al* found that epithelial shedding occurred in untreated asthmatics but not in corticosteroid-dependent asthmatics treated with oral corticosteroids, or healthy controls (85). The observation that epithelial desquamation occurs in asthma is supported by observations of increased numbers of epithelial cells in BALF of patients with asthma (62). It has been proposed that an intrinsic weakness of the epithelial layer in patients with asthma contributes to epithelial desquamation. This hypothesis is supported by the observation that the columnar epithelium lining the bronchi of asthmatic patients has less contact area with the basal lamina than in healthy controls (86). Furthermore, electron microscopy studies have also shown a reduction in epithelial cell desomosome length in asthmatic patients compared with healthy controls (87).

It has been suggested that epithelial desquamation may be an artefact of tissue sampling, that is, the biopsy itself may cause damage to the epithelium. This is because some studies of the cellular composition of BALF and sputum have shown no difference between numbers of epithelial cells from asthmatic patients and healthy controls (88, 89). Furthermore, one study found both epithelium-denuded areas and intact epithelium in bronchial biopsies from healthy volunteers and asthmatic patients, with no differences observed between the two groups (90). However, two observations support the hypothesis that epithelial damage occurs in vivo. CD44 is an adhesion molecule which is found on basal epithelial cells remaining after damage. CD44 immunoreactivity is higher in areas of damaged epithelium. Lackie et al found that expression of CD44⁺ cells was increased in the epithelium of asthmatic patients compared with controls. Other studies have found elevated levels of staining for epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), known to be involved in epithelial repair processes, in the bronchial epithelium of asthmatic patients compared to healthy control subjects (91, 92). These observations support the concept of *in vivo* epithelial damage in asthma. Proposed mechanisms of bronchial epithelial shedding in asthma include direct toxicity

of eosinophil major basic protein to epithelial cells (93, 94) and intrinsic weakness of epithelial attachment as discussed above.

Although the widely accepted paradigm in asthma is that it is chronic inflammation that leads to airway remodelling, Federov *et al* have proposed that epithelial stress and injury may lead to collagen deposition and subepithelial fibrosis, based on their finding of increased EGFR staining in the bronchial epithelium of asthmatic children (a marker of epithelial activation/injury) associated with increased collagen deposition and thickness of the lamina reticularis. These changes were seen in the absence of any increase in eosinophil numbers (92). *In vitro* models of epithelial injury have been shown to cause increased fibroblast proliferation through release of growth factor (PDGF), ET-1 and TGF- β (95, 96). Thus the authors speculate that airway remodelling in asthma may occur as a result of epithelial stress, independently, to some degree, of inflammation, particularly as the structural changes were seen in children, including those with only moderately severe asthma.

1.4.1.2 Goblet Cell Hyperplasia

Asthma exacerbations are frequently characterised by sputum production and, furthermore, fatal asthma is commonly associated with mucus plugging of the airways (97). The mechanism of mucus hypersecretion is probably multifactorial, but one consistent finding is that of goblet cell hyperplasia in the airway epithelium of patients with asthma. Some studies have found goblet cell hyperplasia to be much more marked in patients who have died from acute severe asthma (98), but a more recent study found similar changes in the airway epithelium of patients with mild to moderate asthma (99). The same study found that the volume of stored mucin in goblet cells in the airway epithelium was higher in asthmatic patients overall than healthy controls, that stored mucin levels were (non-significantly) higher in mild than moderate asthmatics, and that secreted mucin was significantly higher in moderate than mild asthma (99). This may have important clinical implications, since mucus hypersecretion is associated with accelerated decline in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) in both non-smokers and smokers with asthma (100). As well as mucus plugging in acute severe asthma, mucus hypersecretion may contribute to airway narrowing, meaning that a more pronounced effect may be produced for a given degree of smooth muscle contraction (bronchoconstriction).

1.4.1.3 Subepithelial fibrosis

Subepithelial fibrosis refers to the thickening observed in asthmatic airways of the layer immediately below the basement membrane. Multiple studies have shown an increase in subepithelial fibrosis in asthma (101-103). The degree of subepithelial fibrosis correlates with the severity (104) but not the duration (105) of disease. Interestingly, although one study found that treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid (ICS) for four weeks had no effect on thickness of the subepithelial layer (101), another study in which treatment with ICS was continued for 12 months showed significant reductions in the thickness of the subepithelial layer (106), suggesting that subepithelial fibrosis is a consequence of airway inflammation.

1.4.2 Increased vascularity of the airways in asthma

Several studies have shown that there is an increase in bronchial wall vascularity in asthma. This has been observed at the macroscopic and microscopic level. Hashimoto *et al* studied the number of vessels and extent of vascularity of the small and medium airways of patients with asthma compared to healthy controls (107). They found that the number of vessels and vascularity of the airways was increased in asthmatics. This difference was most marked in the medium airways, where there was also a significantly greater degree of vascularity in moderate compared to mild asthmatics. Furthermore, vascularity of the medium (but not small) airways was inversely correlated with FEV_1 . Interestingly, treatment with ICS for one year had no effect on vascularity of the asthmatic airways. This contrasts with other studies that found a reduction in airway vascularity following treatment with ICS (108-110), although the same effect was not observed with a low dose of ICS (109). The differences may be due to differences in study populations or in the dose of ICS.

A number of candidate angiogenic factors are thought to promote the vascular changes seen in asthmatic airways, perhaps the most important of which are vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and the angiopoietins, Ang1 and Ang2. These are thought to play distinct but coordinated roles in the angiogenic process. In embryonic development, VEGF is involved in primitive

18

new vessel formation, whereas Ang1, acting at its receptor Tie2, is essential for vessel maturation (reviewed in (111)). Ang2 is in some contexts a natural antagonist of Ang1. Whereas Ang1 is widely expressed in normal tissues, Ang2 is expressed mainly at sites of vascular remodelling (112). Levels of VEGF and Ang1, but not the VEGF receptors, VEGFR1 and 2, were shown to be significantly higher in bronchial biopsies from patients with asthma compared to controls. VEGF levels were also elevated in the BALF of asthmatic subjects (113). Furthermore, ICS reduced VEGF but not Ang1 staining in the airways of asthmatics treated with ICS compared with placebo (110).

Increased airway vascularity may contribute to the asthma phenotype through several mechanisms. The microvascular bed is a substantial component of the airway wall, and even small alterations to the thickness of the inner airway wall can contribute to enhanced airway narrowing (114). Further, the increased vasculature may facilitate influx of inflammatory cells and exudation of inflammatory mediators, particularly if there is an associated increase in vascular permeability. Finally, the increase in vasculature may contribute to AHR by supporting the airway smooth muscle layer, which is thickened in asthmatic airways. An alternative hypothesis is that the increased vasculature may have a protective effect by increasing trafficking of inflammatory cells and mediators away from sites of inflammation. The former hypothesis is supported by studies in a mouse model of asthma. Levels of VEGF were elevated in the lungs of these mice, and VEGF receptor antagonists inhibited inflammatory cell influx and AHR in this model. Furthermore, some (108, 115), but not all (110, 116), studies of ICS and airway vascularity in humans have shown an inverse correlation between measures of lung function and airway vasculature.

1.4.3 Airway smooth muscle layer

It is generally accepted that there is an increase in ASM mass in the airways of patients with asthma compared to control subjects. The first study examining the amount of ASM in asthmatic airways dates back to 1922 (117). This study compared the airways of patients with fatal asthma to those of patients who had died suddenly of non-respiratory conditions. The authors found an increase in smooth muscle layer thickness in the asthmatic group. Subsequent studies have confirmed this finding in patients with fatal asthma (118, 119). However, in cases of non-fatal asthma, increased ASM thickness is a less consistent finding with some (118, 120, 121) but not all (119, 122) studies showing an increase. Although such studies are fraught with theoretical technical limitations (reviewed in (123)), it is likely that an increase in ASM thickness forms part of the remodelling process observed in asthmatic airways, at least in severe/fatal asthma.

Similarly, the literature is conflicting regarding whether the increased ASM observed in asthmatic airways is due to hypertrophy or hyperplasia of the ASM layer. Woodruff *et al* found an increase in cell number but not size in the airways of patients with mild to moderate asthma compared to normal controls (120). In contrast, another study found that ASM cells were increased in size across all asthma groups, that is, those with intermittent, persistent mild-to-

moderate and persistent severe asthma (121). A further study defined two subgroups of asthmatic patients, one in whom only hyperplasia of the larger bronchi was observed, with no evidence of cellular hypertrophy, and a second group in whom hypertrophy predominated and was seen at all levels of the bronchial tree, with only mild hyperplasia seen (124).

The amount of ASM in the airway is determined by the balance between cell proliferation and cell death. A number of growth factors have been shown to promote ASM proliferation *in vitro*, several of which are found in elevated amounts in the asthmatic airway (125). A less well studied area is ASM cell apoptosis. Freyer *et al* showed that various components of the extracellular matrix (ECM), which is known to be deposited in increased amounts in asthmatic airways (126), inhibit ASM cell apoptosis. The authors postulate that this may contribute to airway remodelling in asthma by promoting ASM survival and hence contributing to the increased amount of ASM found in the asthmatic airway (127).

One further mechanism which may contribute to ASM accumulation in the airway is cell migration. This function of ASM has only recently been identified. Migratory responses of ASM have been observed *in vitro* (128, 129) and, furthermore, ASM migration can be modulated by a variety of factors, including matrix components (130), growth factors (131), lipid mediators (132), glucocorticoids and β 2 adrenoceptor agonists (133). On this basis, two hypotheses have been proposed (125). The first is that ASM cells might migrate out of the muscle bundles towards the lumen, thus contributing

to the appearance of myofibroblasts in the submucosal space; the second that myofibroblasts outside the muscle bundles may migrate toward the bundles, precipitating a change of phenotype to that of mature smooth muscle, thus adding to its overall content. Studies of ASM migration are still in their infancy and it remains unclear what if any contribution migration makes to overall ASM accumulation in the asthmatic airway. However, if cell migration does indeed make a significant contribution to airway remodelling, this would provide an exciting new target for therapeutic intervention in asthma.

1.4.4 Functional significance of increased ASM in asthma

There are several potential functional consequences of an increase in ASM amount in asthmatic airways.

1.4.4.1 Reduction in airway calibre and increased force generation

Early studies concluded that the increase in smooth muscle mass in the airways of people with asthma could account for the increased resistance in response to bronchoconstrictor stimuli through two mechanisms. First, the ASM bulk in itself, as well as other components of airway remodelling including subepithelial fibrosis, would cause a reduction in airway calibre, thus a greater degree of airflow limitation would be produced for a given degree of smooth muscle contraction (114). Second, the greater amount of ASM would result in a greater degree of bronchoconstriction in response to stimulation (134, 135). However, most *in vitro* studies have not shown an increase in force production in response to various stimuli in bronchial preparations from asthmatic patients ((136) and references therein). It has been postulated that *in vitro* force

production may not reflect the ability of ASM to shorten, which is thought to cause airway narrowing *in vivo* (137). There is evidence from animal models to support this, in that force generation does not necessarily correlate with ability of ASM to shorten (138). Finally, it has been argued that increased shortening velocity, rather than force generation, may be the more important determinant of bronchoconstriction *in vivo* (139).

1.4.4.2 Altered contractility of ASM

Another possibility is that ASM in the remodelled airway has altered contractile properties. Two potential mechanisms may affect ASM contractility: (1) length adaptation, or (2) altered expression or phenotype of the smooth muscle contractile apparatus. The phenomenon of length adaptation refers to reduced stretch/length of the muscle, which may occur as a consequence of airway wall thickening. This would allow the muscle to chronically adapt to a shorter length, resulting in increased shortening and luminal closure upon exposure to bronchoconstrictor stimuli (140). Many investigators have explored the possibility of altered expression or function of the contractile apparatus in asthmatic ASM. Antonissen *et al* showed an increase in the amount and velocity of ASM shortening in a canine model of asthma, compared to unsensitised controls (141). In keeping with this observation, canine ASM of sensitised animals was found to have increased myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) content and actomyosin ATPase activity (142). More recently, it has been shown that human ASM from asthmatic patients expresses greater quantities of MLCK mRNA than controls, with an associated increase in shortening capacity and velocity (143). Similarly, in
another study, tissue from asthmatic patients expressed increased MLCK compared to controls and levels correlated with asthma severity (121). In contrast, a further study found no difference between asthmatics and controls in expression of genes related to a hypercontractile phenotype (120). However, there is in vitro evidence to suggest inflammatory stimuli may augment ASM contraction by affecting intracellular calcium signalling, or other mechanisms including increased RhoA/Rho kinase pathway activation, persistent $\beta 2$ adrenoceptor activation or increased phosphodiesterase 4 expression (reviewed It remains unclear whether asthmatic ASM has an intrinsic in (144)). difference in contractile properties, or whether it has normal contractility but shortens to a greater extent due to the increased levels of contractile agonists and inflammatory mediators liberated in the asthmatic airway. However, what has become clear is that, in addition to its contractile properties, ASM has important synthetic functions, which in themselves may contribute in an autocrine and paracrine manner to ASM contraction and bronchoconstriction, as well as contributing to airway inflammation and remodelling, discussed below.

1.4.5 Synthetic functions of ASM

Over the last decade or so, it has become clear that ASM cells are key contributors to the inflammatory and remodelling processes in the asthmatic airway (145-147). This group and others have shown that ASM has important synthetic functions and can contribute to chronic inflammation and remodelling in chronic asthma through production of mediators (148-151), chemokines (152-157), cytokines (158), growth factors (159), matrix

metalloproteinases (160, 161) and angiogenic factors (162). These factors have the capacity to contribute to inflammation and remodelling through a variety of mechanisms. The release of chemokines by ASM contributes to the recruitment of inflammatory cells including eosinophils, T-lymphocytes, neutrophils, and monocyte-macrophages. The production of cytokines (158) and pro-inflammatory mediators, such as PGE_2 (149), provides a mechanism by which ASM can act not just on other structural and inflammatory cells in the airway, but also in an autocrine manner to further increase release of biologically active molecules contributing to inflammation and remodelling (152). Growth factors released by ASM may contribute to remodelling by promoting proliferation of structural airway cells. MMPs selectively degrade ECM components; thus, as discussed in section 1.3.8, imbalances between MMPs and their inhibitors, TIMPs, may contribute to tissue damage and some of the remodelling features seen in asthma. For example, MMP-9 can degrade various components of the ECM thus disrupting the basement membrane and potentially increasing the migration of inflammatory cells (163). MMPs are also known to play a role in the trafficking of inflammatory and structural cells (164, 165). Finally, as discussed in section 1.4.2, there is an increase in bronchial wall vascularity in patients with asthma (115) suggesting that vascular dilatation and proliferation are important components of airway remodelling in chronic asthma. The release of angiogenic factors such as VEGF from ASM likely contributes to this process.

1.4.6 Differences in ASM between asthmatic and non-asthmatic patients

Recently, there has been increasing interest in whether there are intrinsic differences in ASM from asthmatic patients compared to those without asthma. Studies on asthmatic-derived human ASM cells (HASMC) *in vitro* have supported the notion that there are indeed intrinsic differences that persist when these cells are cultured *in vitro*, away from the altered environment within the asthmatic airway.

<u>1.4.6.1</u> Cytokine and mediator release

A number of studies have explored the release of various cytokines and mediators from asthmatic HASMC. Oliver *et al* found that rhinovirus-induced release of IL-6 and IL-8 was elevated in asthmatic HASMC compared to normal controls (166). This may explain, in part, why many asthma exacerbations are triggered by respiratory infections. Brightling et al found that the mast cell chemokine CXCL10 (IP-10) was more frequently expressed in the ASM layer of bronchial biopsies of patients with asthma compared to non-asthmatic patients. Furthermore, in ex-vivo cell culture, the asthmatic HASMC released significantly greater quantities of CXCL10 following stimulation with pro-inflammatory cytokines (44). This was associated with an elevated number of CXCR3 expressing mast cells within the ASM layer in bronchial biopsies of patients with asthma. Mast cells migrated towards CXCL10-releasing HASMC in chemotactic assays in vitro, suggesting a potentially important mechanism through which mast cell/HASM interactions occur in asthma. The authors suggest that this is of direct relevance to the asthma phenotype, since mast cell infiltration into the ASM layer is not

observed in eosinophilic bronchitis, a condition related to asthma that presents with a glucocorticoid responsive cough, but lacks the variable airflow obstruction observed in asthma. Since mast cells are a source of a number of factors that can induce ASM proliferation, hyperresponsiveness and contraction, the differential production of CXCL10 by asthmatic HASMC may be an important determinant of the asthma phenotype. Another study comparing HASMC from asthmatic individuals and normal controls found that trypsin and bradykinin-induced PGE₂ release was reduced in proliferating, but not quiescent, asthmatic ASM (167). The authors speculate that, since PGE₂ can inhibit HASM proliferation, this could partly explain increased ASM proliferation observed in asthmatic cells. Furthermore, PGE₂ has antiinflammatory properties, so defective release from proliferating asthmatic ASM could contribute to airway inflammation.

1.4.6.2 ASM proliferation

Ex-vivo, cultured HASMC from asthmatic patients have been shown to proliferate significantly more rapidly than those from normal controls (168), which may explain, in part, the increase in smooth muscle mass in the asthmatic airway. There is evidence that the mechanism of disordered proliferation is due to a deficiency of the transcription factor CCAAT/enhancer binding protein- α (C/EBP α) in these cells (169). In ASM from non-asthmatic subjects, C/EBP α mediates the antiproliferative effects of glucocorticoids. In HASMC from asthmatic patients, C/EBP α was not expressed, and glucocorticoids failed to inhibit cell proliferation. Transfection of asthmatic HASMC with a C/EBP α expression vector restored glucocorticoid

antiproliferative effects. There is some evidence to suggest that the cell signalling pathways responsible for ASM proliferation also differ between asthmatics and non-asthmatics. Burgess et al found that ASM cell proliferation was mediated by both extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) in asthmatic and non-asthmatic ASM. However, in the presence of a strong mitogenic stimulus, signalling in asthmatic ASM shifted towards a PI3K-mediated pathway, raising the possibility of specific targeting of this pathway in the prevention or treatment of airway remodelling (170). Interestingly, elevated levels of the nuclear hormone receptor peroxisome proliferator activated receptpor γ (PPAR γ) have been demonstrated in the bronchial submucosa, the airway epithelium, and ASM of steroid-untreated asthmatics, and this is associated with enhanced proliferation and apoptosis of airway epithelial and submucosal cells, but not ASM (171). The authors speculate that PPAR γ may have pro-inflammatory and fibrotic actions, in contrast to the prevalent view of PPARs as antiinflammatory.

1.4.6.3 ASM extracellular matrix interactions

The ASM is surrounded by the ECM, which consists of an array of structural matrix proteins, including collagens, laminins, elastin and chondroitin sulphate, matrix-degrading MMPs and TIMPs. The ECM is a dynamic structure, with a turnover rate of around 10 - 15% per day. Degradation of the ECM releases factors which can feed back on ASM. The complex interaction between ASM the ECM is exemplified by the observation that certain ECM components inhibit whereas others increase growth factor-stimulated ASM proliferation

((172) and references therein). As mentioned above, the ECM is deposited in increased amounts in the asthmatic airway. In keeping with this, asthmatic ASM cells *in vitro* produced altered amounts of ECM components compared to non-asthmatic cells, and this altered ECM enhanced proliferation of both asthmatic and non-asthmatic ASM (173). Furthermore, like ASM proliferation, PI3K was involved in TGF- β -stimulated fibronectin and collagen I production in asthmatic but not non-asthmatic ASM, again suggesting this pathway may be of therapeutic interest (174).

1.4.7 Airway smooth muscle/T-cell interactions

In section 1.3 we discussed the roles of T-cells in asthma. Interestingly, activated T-cells can bind to ASM cells *in vitro* via CD44 expressed on the ASM cell surface and may stimulate ASM proliferation (175). ASM also express other surface receptors with the potential to bind to T-cells (176, 177). These observations suggest that ASM-T-cell interactions may be important in asthmatic airway inflammation. However, *in vivo* evidence for such interactions is currently lacking.

1.5 Mediator component of asthma

As has been alluded to in our discussion of the roles of inflammatory and structural cells in asthma, a range of mediators are secreted by these cells including histamine, adenosine, 5-hydroxytriptamine, lipid mediators (prostaglandins, thromboxanes), leukotrienes, and peptide mediators such as endothelin-1 (ET-1) and bradykinin (BK). These mediators have multiple overlapping actions, including triggering bronchoconstriction, promitotic

effects on ASM and other airway structural cells, pro-inflammatory effects and effects on airway remodelling. It is beyond the scope of this introduction to review this vast area in detail; this has been done elsewhere (178). In this thesis, we have focused on the role of the peptide mediator ET-1.

1.5.1 Mediator signalling

Many of the important mediators in asthmatic airway inflammation signal through seven-transmembrane G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). On their cytoplasmic domain, GPCRs are associated with heterotrimeric G proteins composed of a G_{α} subunit and a $G_{\beta\gamma}$ subunit. Binding of an agonist to the GPCR results in a change in receptor conformation, triggering exchange of bound GDP on the G_{α} surface for GTP, and dissociation of $G_{\beta\gamma}$ from G_{α} . This promotes interaction of the G_{α} subunit with its specific effector, resulting in generation of second messengers and triggering an intracellular signalling cascade and cellular response.

 G_{α} proteins are classified depending on the second messenger system with which they interact. $G_{\alpha s}$ activates adenylyl cyclase (AC) resulting in generation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and protein kinase A (PKA) activation. $G_{\alpha i}$ inhibits AC, $G_{\alpha q}$ activates calcium and inositol phosphate dependent pathways via phospholipase C, and can also activate PI3K, and $G_{\alpha 12/13}$ couples to the Rho family of guanine nucleotide exchange factors. The classic example of a GPCR-mediated response is that of the β adrenergic receptor. Binding of a β -adrenergic agonist such as salbutamol results in activation of AC via $G_{\alpha s}$, generation of cAMP and, in the airway, relaxation of bronchial smooth muscle.

It is clear that many mediators important in asthma can upregulate the expression of inflammatory response genes. For example, the Knox group has shown that bradykinin induces cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2), VEGF and IL-8 expression in HASMC (152, 162, 179), others have shown that leukotrienes induce chemokine and cytokine expression in mononuclear cells (180, 181). However, the signalling pathways leading to inflammatory response gene expression in response to GPCR agonists have not been well characterised and, in particular, the nuclear signalling events are poorly understood.

Inflammatory gene expression is regulated at several levels. These include activation of transcription factors, such as nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B), via kinase cascades, binding of transcription factors to specific recognition elements in gene promoters, by chromatin remodelling, and through posttranscriptional modification. Transcriptional activation is particularly complex. DNA in its native state exists as chromatin and is wound around four core histones (H2A, H2B, H3, H4). These histones undergo a number of covalent modifications (acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation) which regulate chromatin unwinding thereby allowing access of transcription factors to their binding sites on DNA, recruitment of essential co-factors and activation of transcription. Histone acetylation is brought about by histone acetlyltransferases (HATs) such as cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) binding protein (CBP), p300 and p300/CBP associated factor (pCAF).

This process is reversed through the actions of a class of counterregulatory proteins, the histone deacetylases, or HDACs.

The Knox group has explored some of the signalling events involved in induction of IL-8 and COX-2 expression by BK. NF- κ B, activator protein-1 (AP-1) and NF-IL-6 are all involved in IL-8 induction by BK (182). In contrast BK induced COX-2 via the cAMP response element (CRE) with no involvement of NF- κ B or NF-IL-6 (183). In this latter study, BK-induced COX-2 transcription was found to involve acetylation of promoter-associated histones on lysine residues 5, 8 and 16 (183). Complex autocrine loops involving endogenous prostanoids seem to be responsible for some of these effects but not others (182, 183). The Knox group also showed that another important inflammatory mediator in asthma, PGE₂, transcriptionally upregulates VEGF production in HASMC through a cAMP dependent mechanism. This effect was mediated through binding of the transcription factor small protein 1 (Sp1) to the VEGF promoter, demonstrated by chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay (184).

A number of studies have shown that the pro-inflammatory transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1 may be activated by a variety of inflammatory mediators, including leukotrienes (181, 185), histamine (186) and prostaglandins (187). However, the majority of these studies used strategies such as transcription factor mRNA levels, reporter gene assays and electrophoretic mobility shift assays to infer involvement of these transcription factors. Very few studies have gone on to demonstrate *in vivo* binding of

transcription factors to the relevant gene promoters using, for example, ChIP assays. Furthermore, more complex transcriptional mechanisms involving recruitment of cofactors (such as p300) to gene promoters, and chromatin remodelling in the form of histone modifications, have not been explored, and the upstream signalling pathways are not well characterised. Aside from the studies of BK effects from this lab, an exception to this is in the field of endocrinology, where binding of histone-modifying proteins and alterations in histone acetylation status of relevant promoters have been demonstrated in prostaglandin-regulated ovarian luteolysis and oestrogen biosynthesis (188, 189).

It is well established that mediators acting at GPCRs can activate various intracellular signalling pathways downstream of second messenger systems. For example, in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells, PI3K and p38 MAPK regulate BK-stimulated PGE₂ release (190) and ET-1 can activate the MEK (MAPK/ERK kinase)/ERK, p38 MAPK and cJun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways in various systems (191, 192). Other intracellular targets include protein kinase C (PKC) and phospholipase A_2 (PLA₂) (193). Furthermore, $G_{\alpha s}$ -stimulated PKA activation may have inhibitory effects on MAPK dependent pathways via phosphorylation and inhibition of the upstream intermediate raf-1 (193). However, there have been few studies directly linking these signalling cascades with nuclear gene expression events.

1.5.2 Endothelin-1

ET-1 is a 21 amino acid vasoactive and pro-inflammatory peptide that acts at $G_{\alpha q}$ -coupled ET_A and ET_B receptors. ET-1 is implicated in asthma through several lines of evidence: 1) ET-1 levels are elevated in BALF, bronchial biopsies and peripheral blood of asthmatics (194); 2) inhaled ET-1 causes bronchoconstriction in asthmatic patients (195); 3) ET-1 is a potent contractile agonist of isolated human bronchus (196); 4) ET-1 potentiates mitogenic responses in cultured ASM cells (197); 5) ET-1 induces expression of matrix proteins by pulmonary fibroblasts (191), suggesting a role in airway remodelling; 6) in animal models, overexpression of ET-1 in the lungs of transgenic mice induces chronic pulmonary inflammation (198) and in a rat model, induction of pulmonary eosinophilic inflammation caused a significant increase in ET-1 mRNA and protein (199). Furthermore, the ET-1 receptor antagonist SB-217242 inhibits airway eosinophilia and hyperresponsiveness to methacholine in Der P1 sensitised mice (200). 7) ET-1 and ET_A receptor gene polymorphisms are linked with asthma and atopy respectively (201, 202). Despite the implication of ET-1 in airway inflammation through animal studies, there have been very few studies of ET-1's effects on release of inflammatory cytokines and mediators from ASM. Furthermore, there have been few studies of nuclear signalling by ET-1 and the transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of chemokine expression by ET-1 has not been studied. The current understanding of cell signalling and transcriptional regulation by ET-1 is described in more detail in chapter 4. In that chapter, we have explored the transcriptional regulation of inflammatory genes by ET-1 in more detail, focusing on the chemokine MCP-1.

1.6 Cytokines

The immune system is regulated by a bewildering array of cytokines. Cytokines are small proteins that act in an autocrine and paracrine manner to regulate local and systemic immune and inflammatory responses. They function in a complex network where production of one cytokine will influence the production of, or response to, several others, often in a stimulus and tissuespecific manner. Their many actions include effects on growth, mobility, differentiation or function of target cells (178). Cytokines act by binding to specific cell surface receptors. Receptor binding leads to activation of intracellular signalling pathways and downstream effects, such as induction of inflammatory response genes (148, 203). Levels of many cytokines thought to be important in asthma are elevated in the airways of asthmatic patients (9, 10, 14, 30) and, in earlier sections of this chapter, we have touched on the functions of some of these. We focus in this thesis on the role of TNF- α . A review of the functions of other individual cytokines in asthma has been performed by Barnes (178).

1.6.1 Tumour necrosis factor- α

TNF- α is a 17 kDa protein which acts via two receptors, TNFR1 or p55, and TNFR2 or p75. It is produced predominantly by macrophages, but also Tlymphocytes, dendritic cells, mast cells, neutrophils and eosinophils as well as structural cells including fibroblasts, epithelial cells and smooth muscle cells (178, 204). Release of TNF- α may be triggered by pathogens, physical or chemical stimuli, and a range of cytokines such as IL-1, GM-CSF and IFN- γ (178). The physiological role of TNF- α is to modulate the growth, differentiation and proliferation of a range of cell types as well as mediating apoptosis (205). It also triggers the release of various other members of the cytokine network such as IL-8 (154), RANTES (206) and eotaxin (203), thereby triggering a "second wave" of inflammatory responses.

TNF- α levels are elevated in the BALF and bronchial biopsies of asthmatic patients (207, 208). Furthermore, cells from BALF of asthmatic patients release significantly greater amounts of TNF- α (14). As mentioned above, once released in the airways, TNF- α can activate the release of multiple inflammatory mediators, chemokines and cytokines, thus promoting ongoing inflammation. There is also evidence for a direct role of TNF- α in airway remodelling in that it stimulates the release of MMP-9 and the matrix protein tenascin from bronchial fibroblasts (209). TNF- α promotes AHR; TNF- α increased maximal isotonic contraction to methacholine of guinea pig tracheal preparations in vitro (210). In animal studies, TNF- α has been shown to mediate LPS and allergen-induced inflammation and AHR (211, 212). Furthermore, TNF- α inhalation increases airway responsiveness and induces sputum neutrophilia in normal controls (213) and asthmatic patients (214), the latter group also showing an increase in sputum eosinophilia. Importantly, there is evidence of upregulation of the TNF- α pathway and increased mucosal TNF- α expression in severe/refractory asthma (215, 216) which has led to increasing interest in the use of anti-TNF- α treatments for patients with severe asthma whose disease cannot be controlled with conventional therapies (see section 1.9.2).

Most cytokine receptors are associated with molecules called Janus kinases (JAKs). Receptor binding causes tyrosine phosphorylation and subsequent activation of JAKs. JAKs may then activate various signalling proteins, including signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs), through tyrosine phosphorylation. STAT dimers then translocate to the nucleus where they bind to the promoters of and activate cytokine responsive genes. TNF- α does not signal through the JAK-STAT pathway. Binding of TNF- α to its receptor initiates one of many potential intracellular signalling cascades depending on the exact tissue and the expression pattern of associated signalling machinery (217). There are two main pathways of signal transduction between the TNFRs and subsequent intracellular events. TNFR1 contains a "death domain" (DD) which, under quiescent conditions, is bound to the silencer of death domain (SODD). On binding of TNF- α , SODD dissociates from the receptor, allowing other DD-interacting proteins to bind and trigger a cascade of reactions primarily involved in signalling cell death. However, it is the second pathway that is probably more relevant in the activation of inflammatory response genes. Both TNFR1 and TNFR2 contain sequences that bind TNF receptor-associating factors (TRAFs). Upon receptor occupation by TNF- α , TRAFs transduce this signal to activate a variety of intracellular signalling pathways, including activation of MAP kinase pathways (p38, MEK/ERK and JNK pathways), activation of phospholipase C (PLC) and thence PKC, and activation of the pro-inflammatory transcription factors NF-κB and AP-1 (217-219).

In contrast to GPCR-mediated inflammatory gene regulation, transcriptional regulation of inflammatory genes by cytokines such as TNF- α has been more extensively studied. There have been many studies of the roles of various transcription factors in inflammatory gene regulation by cytokines. More recently, a number of groups have begun to extend these studies to explore the role of histone modifications such as phosphorylation and acetylation and the roles of the transcriptional co-activators that bring these modifications about. For example, IL-1 β induced COX-2 transcription in HASMC through binding of p65, CREB and C/EBPB, and acetylation of lysine 8 associated with the COX-2 promoter (183). Similarly, IL-1 β caused histone acetylation at the GM-CSF promoter, accompanied by an increase in GM-CSF release from A549 cells (220). Several studies have investigated the transcriptional regulation of the chemokines MCP-1 and eotaxin in various systems. Transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 by the cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α has been shown to be NF-KB-dependent in several different tissues (221-223). Interestingly, in NIH 3T3 cells, TNF- α -stimulated MCP-1 transcription involves a cooperative interaction between NF- κ B and Sp1 that is dependent upon CBP and p300-mediated histone acetylation at the MCP-1 promoter (222, 223). The Knox group have shown that transcriptional regulation of eotaxin by TNF- α in HASMC is brought about through acetylation of histone H4 and binding of NF- κ B p65 to the eotaxin promoter (224).

Although inflammatory response gene regulation by cytokines is better characterised than that mediated by GPCRs, and although there is a wealth of studies on TNF- α -signalling (217), the exact kinase cascades mediating complex gene transcription events are less clear. There is evidence, in various different biological systems, for involvement of JNK, ERK and p38 MAP kinases in these pathways (225, 226), as well as for involvement of the PI3K/Akt pathway (227) and of PKC (228, 229). Indeed, the Knox group have shown that transcriptional regulation of eotaxin by TNF- α involves PKC β -mediated phosphorylation of pCAF, facilitating acetylation of histone H4 and thence p65 association with the eotaxin promoter (228). This is a novel action of PKC β that has not been previously observed in other systems. MAP kinase cascades can also lead to histone phosphorylation through the direct action of downstream kinases such as mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase (MSK).

1.7 Inflammatory gene regulation: cross talk between cytokine- and GPCR-mediated pathways

It is clear that transcriptional gene regulation by inflammatory mediators and cytokines is extremely complex. The involvement of common signalling moieties to both GPCR- and cytokine-mediated pathways implies that extensive cross talk may occur. Indeed there is evidence that this is the case. Histamine, which couples to AC and PI3K pathways through H2 and H1 receptors respectively, may regulate release of the cytokine IL-13 in T cells through cross-talk with the JAK-STAT pathway (230). As previously discussed, PGE₂, which acts via $G_{\alpha s}$ -coupled receptors, modulates cytokine-stimulated induction of VEGF and COX-2 (183, 231). Furthermore, mitogenic signals acting at receptor tyrosine kinases (epidermal growth factor) and GPCRs (thrombin, acting at the $G_{\alpha q}$ -coupled PAR) both signal through PI3K in

HASMC (232). Finally, BK-stimulated IL-6 release in HASMC is mediated by p38 MAPK and ERK, and is downregulated by the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, implying that MAP kinases may also mediate cross talk between GPCRand cytokine-stimulated responses (233).

In addition to the complex cross talk between different pro-inflammatory stimuli, evidence is accumulating that existing asthma therapies, including glucocorticoids (GC) and long acting β -adrenergic agonists (LABA) can modulate these inflammatory pathways. This is discussed in detail in section 1.9.1 and chapter 5. A simplified representation of GPCR- and cytokine-mediated inflammatory gene regulation, potential points of cross-talk, and of modulation by existing asthma therapies is shown in Figure 1.1. In chapter 5 we have further explored the mechanisms of TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin expression, and its modulation by glucocorticoids and long acting β -adrenergic agonists (LABA).

1.8 Chemokines

Chemokines are a subgroup of cytokines that attract inflammatory cells (**chemo**tactic cyto**kines**). Examples include MCP-1 (chemotactic for monocytes and T-lymphocytes), RANTES (T-cells, eosinophils and basophils), eotaxin (eosinophils) and IL-8 (neutrophils). Chemokines exert their biological actions by binding to specific receptors expressed on the surfaces of target cells. Cells that are attracted by chemokines follow a signal of increasing chemokine concentration towards the source of the chemokine through a complex process involving interaction of adhesion molecules expressed on the

surfaces of inflammatory and endothelial cells (234). Thus at sites of inflammation such as the asthmatic airway, release of chemokines from inflammatory and structural cells results in further influx of inflammatory cells and perpetuation of inflammation. Chemokines are classified on the basis of their structural characteristics, specifically the distance between the first two cysteine residues in their amino acid chain (235). Thus the two cysteine residues at the N-terminus of the CC chemokines are adjacent to one another, those of the CXC chemokines are separated by one amino acid, and those of the CX₃C group by three amino acids. A fourth group, with one cysteine residue at their N-terminus and one downstream are termed the C chemokines. This has led to a revised nomenclature based on these structural characteristics (235). Thus for the chemokines listed above, the alternate names would be CCL2 (MCP-1), CCL5 (RANTES), CCL11 (eotaxin) and CXCL8 (IL-8). For the purpose of readability, the classical names will be used in this thesis. The chemokine receptors are GPCRs divided into four families based on the class of chemokine they bind; CXCR that bind CXC chemokines, CCR that bind CC chemokines, XCR1 that binds the two C chemokines and CX3R1 that binds the sole CX₃C chemokine. An individual receptor may bind several different chemokines and vice versa. In this thesis we have explored the regulation of two key chemokines in the asthmatic airway, MCP-1 and eotaxin.

1.8.1 MCP-1 and asthma

MCP-1 is a chemokine of the CC subgroup which is chemotactic for monocytes (236, 237) and T-lymphocytes (238, 239). It is produced by a variety of cell types, including mononuclear phagocytes, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells (240-244). Levels of MCP-1 are elevated in the epithelium and subepithelial tissues of bronchial biopsies from asthmatic subjects, including the bronchial smooth muscle layer (245). Allergen challenge significantly increased MCP-1 levels in BALF of asthmatic patients (246). Furthermore, there is evidence from animal models that MCP-1 expression is increased in asthmatic airways and that the disease process is attenuated by MCP-1 immunoneutralisation (247). Interestingly, a polymorphism in the MCP-1 gene is associated with the presence of atopic asthma and its severity in children (248). These observations suggest that MCP-1 is an important chemokine contributing to airway inflammation in asthma. The Knox group and others have shown that HASMC express MCP-1 and that levels of expression are upregulated by cytokines (242, 249, 250). However, there have been few studies in ASM of the effects on MCP-1 expression by other types of asthma mediators. In chapter 4 we explore the mechanisms used by the pro-inflammatory mediator ET-1 to upregulate MCP-1 expression in HASMC.

1.8.2 Eotaxin and asthma

As described in section 1.3.7, eosinophils are important cells in asthmatic airway inflammation. Eotaxin is chemotactic for eosinophils *in vivo* and *in vitro* (251, 252). It also exerts chemotactic actions on basophils (253), Th2 lymphocytes (254) and mast cells (255), through its specific receptor CCR3. Sources of eotaxin include monocyte-macrophages, T-cells, eosinophils, airway epithelial cells and ASM cells (256-258). Several lines of evidence support a critical role for eotaxin in asthmatic airway inflammation. Levels of

eotaxin are elevated in the bronchial mucosa and BALF of asthmatic subjects compared with normal controls (256-258), eotaxin expression correlates with the number of airway eosinophils, markers of disease severity and AHR (257, 258), and the time course of eotaxin expression in the asthmatic airway following allergen challenge correlates with the early phase of eosinophil recruitment (259). Furthermore, eotaxin release from airway epithelial and smooth muscle cells is increased *in vitro* by the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and TNF-α, the levels of which are elevated in the asthmatic airway (207, 208). The Knox group and others have shown that eotaxin expression by HASMC is downregulated by existing asthma therapies, namely β2 adrenergic agonists and glucocorticoids (203, 260). We have begun to explore the mechanisms of TNF-α-stimulated eotaxin expression in HASMC and its modulation by glucocorticoids and LABA in more detail (224). In chapter 5 we have extended these studies to investigate these mechanisms further.

1.9 Current asthma treatments

Asthma treatments can be divided into those that primarily affect bronchoconstriction, used in the short term relief of symptoms and for managing severe bronchospasm in the acute setting, and those that are primarily aimed at controlling airway inflammation. Those in the first group include short-acting $\beta 2$ adrenergic agonists (SABA), such as salbutamol, formotorol and terbutaline, and anticholinergics such as ipratropium bromide. SABA promote smooth muscle relaxation through binding to the $\beta 2$ adrenergic GPCR, activation of AC and generation of intracellular cAMP. This acts via PKA to inhibit MLCK. Anticholinergics block muscarinic cholinergic receptors, thus reducing ASM tone by reducing parasympathetic stimulation.

Other classes of drugs used to treat asthma include LABA such as salmeterol and formotorol (which has both short and long acting properties), xanthines, namely theophylline, leukotriene antagonists, such as montelukast and zafirlukast and chromones including sodium chromoglicate and necrodomil. The LABA act like SABA to relax ASM but, as the name suggests, have a longer duration of action. However, they also likely have anti-inflammatory actions; the anti-inflammatory effects of LABA are discussed in more detail in chapter 5. The current British Thoracic Society guidelines on the management of asthma recommend that LABA are prescribed in addition to inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) (261). They should not be prescribed alone due to concerns over safety (262). Theophylline relaxes airway smooth muscle through elevation of intracellular cAMP and cyclic guanosine monophosphate via inhibition of phosphodiesterases (PDE) 3, 4 and 5 (263). Unfortunately it has limited efficacy and, due to its narrow therapeutic window, has an extensive side effect profile at doses that inhibit PDE, meaning its usefulness in the management of asthma has been limited. However, there is emerging interest in more recently recognised anti-inflammatory effects of low dose theophylline, and this drug may yet prove to have therapeutic utility in the management of asthma and COPD in certain circumstances (263-265). Leukotrienes are potent mediators of bronchoconstriction (266) as well as having multiple pro-inflammatory actions in vivo, including inflammatory cell recruitment and increases in vascular permeability and mucus secretion (267-

270). Leukotriene antagonists improve baseline lung function in asthmatic patients (178), but are probably most useful in the clinical setting as an add on therapy for patients with exercise induced asthma (178, 261), or those with disease with a prominent leukotriene-driven component, that is those with aspirin induced asthma or asthma associated with allergic rhinitis (271). Sodium chromoglicate and necrodomil are said to be "mast cell stabilisers", but their mechanism of action is not fully understood. Their role in adults is limited to the management of exercise induced asthma (261).

1.9.1 Glucocorticoids

Inhaled corticosteroids are the mainstay of asthma treatment. They are highly effective and are recommended for the management of any patient with asthma who has symptoms requiring more than just occasional use of a SABA (261). They have potent anti-inflammatory effects, thereby inhibiting ongoing inflammation in the asthmatic airway and the late allergic response. The mechanisms through which glucocorticoids (GC) achieve their effects are complex. They can both activate and inhibit transcription of GC-responsive genes (transactivation and transrepression, respectively).

As described in section 1.5.1, inflammatory gene regulation may involve activation of transcription factors, such as NF- κ B, via kinase cascades, binding of transcription factors to gene promoters, chromatin remodelling brought about through specific covalent modifications to histone proteins, and posttranscriptional modification. Transactivation by GC is brought about through binding of GC to a ubiquitously expressed glucocorticoid receptor (GR)

localized to the cytoplasm of target cells. Binding of GC to GR results in dissociation of the molecular chaperone protein hsp90 from GR, allowing nuclear translocation of the activated GC-GR complex and binding to specific sequences within DNA termed glucocorticoid response elements (GRE). Within the nucleus, the DNA binding domain of the GR directs dimerisation and activation of gene transcription. The expression of a number of anti-inflammatory genes such as annexin 1 and IL-10 has been shown to be increased by GC (272, 273). However, the majority of anti-inflammatory effects of GC are thought to be brought about through gene repression.

Switching off of gene transcription by GR can occur through binding of GR to negative GREs in the regulatory region of certain genes. This is thought to disrupt transcription as a result of the GRE being positioned across the transcriptional start site or the binding sites for other transcription factors (274). However, although a functional negative GRE has been identified in the IL-1 β promoter (275), the genes of most inflammatory mediators that are suppressed by GC in asthma do not have GREs in their promoters (276).

The inhibitory effect of GC in inflammation appears to be largely due to modulation of transcription of AP-1- and NF- κ B-responsive genes. These transcription factors mediate the expression of multiple inflammatory response genes (277, 278). Alterations in AP-1 and NF- κ B-dependent transcription can be brought about at several levels. GR can recruit nuclear corepressors, such as HDACs (220); it may alter RNA polymerase II phosphorylation (279); it may bind to transcriptional coactivators such as CBP thus competing with

transcription factor binding to these coactivators (280); or GR may inhibit the activity of HATs such as CBP (220). The effects of GC on HAT and HDAC activity and associated effects on chromatin structure and transcriptional activation are discussed further in chapter 5. Several other mechanisms of GR suppression of NF- κ B and AP-1 have been described. GR can induce expression of inhibitor of κ B α (I κ B α) in certain cell types (281, 282). AP-1-DNA binding can be prevented through induction of the glucocorticoid inducible gene GILZ (glucocorticoid inducible leucine zipper) (283). Finally, GC may inhibit activation of AP-1 and NF- κ B through inhibitory effects on mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) (276). Whilst most of the effects of GC are mediated by changes in gene transcription, they may also have post transcriptional, translational and non-genomic actions (274, 284).

1.9.2 Limitations of current asthma treatments

Whilst for the majority of patients with asthma, adequate control of disease can be achieved with the inhaled therapies described above, a minority of patients require long term oral corticosteroids to control their disease, or have corticosteroid resistant (CR) disease. These patients are at increased risk of death from asthma and from side effects of chronic systemic steroid therapy, and account for around 50% of the total health care costs of asthma (274). As well as their anti-inflammatory effects, steroids have a role in many metabolic processes. Thus long term steroid treatment in those with steroid dependent disease can cause serious systemic side effects including adrenal insufficiency due to suppression of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, osteoporosis, impaired glucose tolerance/diabetes mellitus, cataracts and, in children, growth retardation.

There is much research interest in mechanisms of steroid resistance in asthma. A number of different potential mechanisms have been described, that are likely to differ between patients. Certain cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-4 and IL-13, which show increased expression in the airways of patients with CR asthma (274), may induce reduced GR affinity in inflammatory cells, causing local resistance to the anti-inflammatory effects of GC (285, 286). This effect appears to be mediated by p38 MAPK, raising the possibility that p38 MAPK inhibitors may have a role in restoring steroid sensitivity in CR asthma (287). Furthermore, MAP kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1), which dephosphorylates and inactivates p38 MAPK, is rapidly induced by GC (288). Thus p38/MKP-1 homeostasis might be important in contributing to steroid insensitivity. Changes in GR nuclear translocation or its ability to interact with HATs may contribute to steroid resistance. In one subgroup of CR patients, nuclear translocation of GR was defective (289). In another group, GR was unable to promote acetylation of lysine 5 on histore H4, leading the authors to speculate that this defect reduces the ability of GR to activate certain anti-inflammatory Increased levels and/or activation of the proinflammatory genes (289). transcription factor AP-1 may contribute to steroid insensitivity in CR asthma. Expression of the AP-1 subunit cFos is enhanced in bronchial biopsies of CR asthmatics (290). In keeping with a role for AP-1 in CR asthma, AP-1 DNA binding and cFos expression were increased in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from CR patients, and cFos was shown to mediate reduced GR-

GRE binding in response to dexamethasone (291, 292). Further support for a role of AP-1 comes from the observation that using a tuberculin skin response model of mononuclear cell inflammation, there was significantly greater expression of cFos, phosphorylated cJun and phosphorylated JNK in CR asthmatics, and, whilst CS suppressed cJun and JNK phosphorylation in steroid sensitive asthmatics, they enhanced it in the CR group (293). As discussed in section 1.4.6.2, defective expression of the transcription factor C/EBP in asthma may prevent the antiproliferative effects of GC on ASM (169). Finally, cigarette smoking is known to abolish the therapeutic response to inhaled and oral corticosteroids, (294, 295). Cigarette smoke causes oxidative stress and, interestingly, markers of oxidative stress are also increased in severe CR asthma (296), suggesting that oxidative stress may contribute to steroid resistance. In support of this hypothesis, the level in exhaled breath condensate of one marker of oxidative stress, 8-isoprostane, was unaltered by treatment with ICS in children with asthma (297). Another possible mechanism of reduced steroid responsiveness in association with cigarette smoking is through alterations in the levels and activity of HDACs. In smokers with COPD, a disease characterised by little clinical response to GC, HDAC2 expression and activity is reduced (298) and restoration of HDAC2 expression by transfection into alveolar macrophages from BALF of COPD patients restored GC function (299).

New biological therapies, such as the anti-IgE antibody omalizumab, anti IL-5 therapy and anti-TNF α therapy may be of benefit for some patients with steroid dependent or CR asthma, however they have significant limitations.

Omalizumab is only of benefit for a very small subgroup of patients with a highly atopic phenotype (261); anti-IL-5 similarly has only shown benefit in particular subgroups and is currently only available within the context of clinical trials (66), whilst trials of anti-TNF α therapy have had variable results. Early trials with the synthetic soluble TNF- α receptor etanercept showed promising results, with significant improvements in lung function and symptom scores (215, 216). However, a more recent trial showed less dramatic results, with a small improvement in Asthma Control Questionnaire score but no significant difference between treatment and placebo groups in Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire Score or measures of lung function (300). Furthermore, there are significant concerns over the safety profile of anti-TNF α treatments (204). Thus, whilst the mechanisms of CR remain unclear, for the small proportion of asthmatic patients with steroid dependent or CR asthma, it is clear that new therapeutic options are urgently needed.



Figure 1.1 Cross talk between cytokine- and GPCR-mediated pathways. Positive regulatory pathways are indicated by arrows, stopped arrows represent inhibitory pathways. Points of interaction between steroids (GC) and β -agonists (β ag) are shown. Activating actions of these drugs are shown in green, inhibitory effects in red. Note that steroids have both positive and negative effects on gene transcription. They predominantly switch off transcription of inflammatory genes, but may also increase transcription of a number of anti-inflammatory genes. Kinases are shown in orange, non-kinase signalling proteins in green, transcription factors in blue and other transcriptional regulatory proteins in lilac.

CHAPTER 2: AIMS OF THIS THESIS

2.1 Aims of this thesis

In chapter 1 we have summarised current knowledge of the roles of various immune cells, structural cells, mediators and cytokines in airway inflammation and remodelling in asthma. We have discussed how, in addition to their critical role in bronchoconstriction of the asthmatic airway, airway smooth muscle cells play a key part in these inflammatory and remodelling responses. Further, that differences beginning to be identified between asthmatic and normal ASM are helping to shed light on the causes of airway dysfunction in asthma. We have also discussed current treatment modalities and where these fall short for the management of patients with more severe disease. The intense research interest in novel mechanisms of action of existing therapies, and how these actions differ between steroid responsive and CR asthmatics, is starting to highlight potential new targets for treatment for this subgroup of patients whose disease cannot be managed effectively with existing therapies. We hypothesised, therefore, that inflammatory mediators and cytokines important in driving asthmatic airway inflammation may signal through common downstream signalling moieties which may act as promising new targets for asthma therapy.

Using primary human airway smooth muscle cells as a model, we therefore set out

 To determine the signalling pathways used by inflammatory mediators in asthma, using the important pro-inflammatory mediator ET-1 as an example, to upregulate the expression of inflammatory response genes.

- To determine the mechanisms of action of cytokine-mediated inflammatory response gene signalling, focusing on mechanisms of TNF-α-stimulated eotaxin expression.
- To study the mechanisms by which existing asthma therapies, namely GC and LABA, affect inflammatory response gene expression.
- 4) Through (1), (2) and (3), to identify potential common downstream signalling moieties shared by inflammatory mediator-mediated and cytokine-mediated pathways that may have therapeutic potential as new drug targets for asthma.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

Human ET-1, DMEM, penicillin/streptomycin, L-Glutamine, amphotericin B, actinomycin D, LY294002, Wortmannin, Salmeterol, DMSO, 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (thiazolyl blue [MTT]), RedTaq DNA polymerase and NuCLEAR extraction kits were purchased from Sigma, Poole, Dorset, UK. Foetal calf serum was from Seralab, Loughborough, Leicestershire, UK. SB203580, PD98059, SP600125 and BQ788 were purchased from Tocris, Bristol, Avon, UK and BQ123 was purchased from Merck Biosciences, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire, UK. Bosentan was a gift from Dr. Marc Iglarz, Actelion Pharmaceuticals, Allschwil, Basel, Switzerland. Fluticasone was a gift from Dr. Malcolm 2-[(aminocarbonyl)amino]-5-[4-fluorophenyl]-3-Johnson and thiophenecarboxamide (TPCA-1) was a gift from Dr. Rick Williamson, both of GlaxoSmithKline, Uxbridge, Middlesex, UK. MCP-1 and eotaxin ELISA kits and recombinant human TNF- α were purchased from R&D Systems, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, UK. RNeasy mini kits were from Qiagen, Crawley, West Sussex, UK. All reagents for reverse transcription and the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System were purchased from Promega, Southampton, Hampshire, UK. GAPDH, ET_A receptor, ET_B receptor, MCP-1 and β 2 microblobulin primers were purchased from Sigma Genosys, Haverhill, Suffolk, UK. Primers for ChIP assay, spanning the MCP-1 and eotaxin promoters, were purchased from MWG, Ebersberg, Germany. Excite Real Time Mastermix with SYBR Green was from Biogene, Cambridge, Cambridgshire, UK. Nitrocellulose membrane for Western blotting and Bradford assay dye reagent were purchased from Bio-Rad, Hemel Hempstead,

Hertfordshire, UK. Anti-p38 MAP kinase and anti-p44/42 MAP kinase antibodies (total and phospho-) were from Cell Signaling/New England Biolabs, Hitchin, Hertfordshire, UK. Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies were from DakoCytomation, Ely, Cambridshire, UK. ECL Western blotting detection reagent, Hyperfilm-ECL and rainbow coloured molecular weight markers were from Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK. Fugene 6 transfection reagent was from Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Lewes, East Sussex, UK. ChIP-IT Express kit was from Active Motif, Rixensart, Belgium. NF- κ B p65 and cJun antibodies were from Santa Cruz/Insight, Wembley, Middlesex, UK. Total HDAC activity kit, acetyl histone H3, HDAC-1 and HDAC-2 antibodies were from Upstate/Millipore, Watford, Hertfordshire, UK. GAPDH and α -tubulin antibodies were from AbD Serotec, Kidlington, Oxford, UK.

3.2 Human airway smooth muscle cell culture

Human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMC) were prepared as described previously (148, 301). Human trachea was obtained from post mortem individuals within 12h of death. Clinical and demographic characteristics of the donors (where available) are shown in Table 3.1. Tissue was transported to the laboratory in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 4 mM L-glutamine, 2.5μ g/ml amphotericin B, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin and 10% heat inactivated foetal calf serum (FCS, CM⁺ media). The trachealis smooth muscle was dissected free of epithelium and connective tissue under sterile conditions. Small 2 x 2 mm explants of airway smooth muscle were then excised and several explants placed in small petri dishes. Explants were then bathed in media and incubated in CM^+ in humidified 5% CO_2 -95% air at 37°C. Medium was changed every three days, and when cells were approaching confluence, the explants were removed. Once confluent, cells were trypsinized with 0.25% trypsin and 0.02% EDTA in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), centrifuged, resuspended in CM^+ and plated out in 75 cm² flasks. Once cells had again reached confluence, the passaging procedure was repeated and cells resuspended in 90% FCS + 10% dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO), frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored until required. The cultured tissue was positively identified as HASMC through the combination of characteristic light microscopic appearances, positive staining for smooth muscle actin, desmin and myosin heavy chain, and negative staining for cytokeratin. Cells were cultured in CM⁺ in humidified 5% CO₂-95% air at 37°C. Cells at passage 6-7 were used for all experiments. The studies were approved by the Nottingham Local Research Ethics Committee.

Donor	Experimental chapter(s) in which donor's cells used	Age (years)	Sex	Notes
1	4	44	Male	No evidence of airway disease
2	4	52	Female	No evidence of airway disease
3	4 and 5	No demographic or clinical data available		
4	5	34	Female	No clinical data available
5	5	42	Male	No clinical data available

 Table 3.1: Demographic and, where available, clinical characteristics of airway smooth muscle cell donors. All donor tissue was tracheal in origin.

3.3 Time course, concentration response and inhibitor studies

Confluent HASMC in 24 well plates were growth arrested for 24 h in serum free medium and then stimulated at 37°C with ET-1 or TNF- α (0 – 10 ng/ml) for 24 h in concentration response experiments, or with ET-1 or TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated in kinetic experiments. After incubation for 24 h, cell culture supernatants were transferred to separate microfuge tubes and stored at -20°C until determination of MCP-1 or eotaxin content.

In inhibitor studies, cells were pre-incubated for 30 min with inhibitors or vehicle prior to treatment with ET-1 or TNF- α for the times indicated. The vehicle was dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) for all inhibitors except for Bosentan, which was dissolved in water. Vehicle was added to control wells at equivalent concentrations (maximum concentration DMSO 0.2%).

3.4 MCP-1 and eotaxin release

MCP-1 or eotaxin concentrations in cell culture supernatants were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA) using commercially available sandwich ELISA kits according to the manufacturers instructions as previously described (250). 96 well mirotitre plates were coated with human MCP-1 or eotaxin-specific capture antibody at 1 μ g/ml (MCP-1) or 2 μ g/ml (eotaxin) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and incubated overnight at room temperature. Plates were then washed in 0.05% Tween 20 in PBS and blocked for 1 h at room temperature with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA)/5 % sucrose in PBS, to prevent non-specific binding. An eight point standard curve was generated
by serial two-fold dilution of recombinant human MCP-1 or eotaxin (supplied) in 1% BSA in PBS, with a top standard of 1000 pg/ml. Standards or samples (100 μ l) were then added to wells in duplicate and incubated at room temperature for 2h. Plates were washed again, 100 μ l of detection antibody (100 ng/ml in 1% BSA) added to each well and samples incubated for 2 h at room temperature. After a further wash, samples were incubated for 20 min at room temperature with 100 μ l streptavadin-conjugated horseradish peroxidase (streptavidin-HRP, supplied), diluted 1:200 in 1% BSA in PBS. Plates were then washed again before addition of 100 μ l per well of substrate solution (a 1:1 mixture of hydrogen peroxide and tetramethylbenzidine) for 20 min at room temperature. The resulting colorimetric reaction was stopped by addition of 50 μ l per well of 1M sulphuric acid. The optical density of the wells was read at 450 nm with reference wavelength 570 nm. The concentration of MCP-1 or eotaxin in samples was determined with reference to the standard curve using a computer-generated 4-PL curve fit.

3.5 Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (**RT-PCR**)

3.5.1 RNA extraction

Confluent, growth arrested HASMC in 24 well plates were treated with serumfree medium (controls) or serum-free medium containing ET-1 or TNF- α for the times indicated. Three wells of a 24 well plate were used for each condition. Following aspiration of cell culture supernatants, cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). PBS was removed and discarded and RNA was extracted and purified using the RNEasy mini kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration of RNA in the purified samples was measured spectrophotometrically. The absorbance at 260 nm (RNA content) and 280 nm (protein content) of a 1:20 dilution of purified RNA was measured. RNA concentration in μ g/ml was calculated by multiplying A₂₆₀ by 20 (dilution factor) x 38 (extinction coefficient for RNA).

3.5.2 Reverse transcription

An equal quantity of RNA (typically $0.5 - 1 \ \mu g$) from each sample was used for the RT step. RNA was reverse transcribed in a total reaction volume of 25 μ l of 1x Moloney murine leukaemia virus (M-MLV) RT buffer, containing 130 units of M-MLV reverse transcriptase, 26 units of RNase inhibitor, 0.6 μ g oligo(dT)₁₅ primer and a 2 mM concentration of each dNTP. The reaction was incubated at 42°C for 90 min.

3.5.3 Polymerase chain reaction

Aliquots of RT products were subsequently used for polymerase chain reaction (PCR). RT products (2µl) were amplified in a total reaction volume of 50 µl 1x PCR buffer containing 1.5 mM magnesium chloride, 0.2 mM of each dNTP and 0.5 µM of both the sense and antisense primers. Reactions were "hot started" by addition of 2.5 units of RedTaq DNA polymerase during the initial denaturation step at 95°C. Amplification was carried out in a PTC 100 thermal cycler (MJ Research, Inc). Primer sequences and amplification time and temperature profiles are described under experimental protocols in chapter 4. The PCR products were visualized by eletrophoresis on 1% agarose gel in 0.5x TBE buffer (89 mM Tris borate, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.3) after staining with 0.5 µg/ml ethidium bromide. The ultraviolet (UV)-illuminated gels were

photographed, and the densitometry was analyzed using the GeneGenius gel documentation and analysis system (Syngene, Cambridge, UK).

3.6 Quantitative real time RT-PCR

MCP-1, HDAC-1 and HDAC-2 mRNA expression was determined by quantitative real time RT-PCR (qRT-PCR). β -2-microglobulin was used as the housekeeping gene (302). Reverse transcribed cDNA was subjected to real time PCR using Excite Real Time Mastermix with SYBR Green and the ABI Prism 7700 detection system (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, Cheshire, UK). Each reaction consisted of 1x Excite mastermix, SYBR Green (1:60,000 final concentration), 40nM of both sense and antisense primers, 1.6µl DNA (or dH₂O) and H₂O to a final volume of 20µl. Thermal cycler conditions included incubation at 95°C for 10 min followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec and 60°C for 1 minute. Integration of the fluorescent SYBR Green into the PCR product was monitored after each annealing step. Amplification of one specific product was confirmed by melt curve analysis where a single melting peak eliminated the possibility of primer-dimer association. For melting curve analysis to be performed the products were heated from 60°C to 95°C over 20 min after the 40 cycles.

To enable the levels of transcripts to be quantified standard curves were generated using serial dilutions of HASM cDNA. Negative controls consisting of no template were included and all reactions were set up in triplicate. MCP-1 or HDAC expression was normalised to the housekeeping gene by dividing the MCP-1 or HDAC triplicate value by the mean of the β -2-microglobulin

triplicate value. Primer sequences used for qRT-PCR are described under experimental protocols in chapters 4 and 5.

3.7 Western blot analysis

HASM cells were grown to confluence in 6 well plates and growth arrested for 24 h. Two wells were used for each condition. Immediately before each experiment, media was changed to fresh serum-free media and cells were treated with ET-1 (10 ng/ml) or TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated. In inhibitor studies, cells were pre-incubated with vehicle or inhibitor for 30 min prior to stimulation. The medium was removed, the cells were washed with PBS and lysed with 100µl lysis/protein extraction buffer consisting of 25 mM Tris·HCl, pH 6.8, 75 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 0.25% wt/vol sodium deoxycholate, 0.05% wt/vol sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) and 0.5% vol/vol Triton X-100 supplemented with PMSF (0.1 mg/ml), leupeptin (10 μ g/ml), and aprotinin (25 μ g/ml). The protein content of the extracts was determined by Bradford assay (303), and the samples were then diluted 1:4 in Laemmli buffer (0.125 M Tris·HCl, 20% vol/vol glycerol, 0.2% wt/vol SDS, 6% vol/vol βmercaptoethanol and 0.2% wt/vol bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 min. Denatured proteins (25 µg) were separated by SDS-PAGE using an 8 cm x 8 cm 7.5% SDS gel and electroblotted onto an Immuno-Blot PVDF membrane in Tris buffer (20 mM Tris base, pH 8.3, 192 mM glycine, 20% vol/vol methanol). The membrane was blocked overnight in Tris-buffered saline-Tween (TBS-T, 20 mM Tris-base, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% vol/vol Tween 20) containing 5% wt/vol non-fat dry milk (hereafter referred to as 5% milk). After washing in TBS-T, the membrane was then incubated with 1:1000

63

dilution of primary antibody overnight at 4°C in TBS-T containing 5% wt/vol BSA (for phosphokinase or total kinase antibodies) or 1 h at room temperature in 5% milk (for all other primary antibodies). Blots were washed with TBS-T and incubated with 1:3000 dilution of the appropriate horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody in 5% milk for 1 h at room temperature. The blot was washed in TBS-T and staining was achieved with enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) Western blotting detection reagent. The blot was incubated with ECL reagent for 45 sec and finally exposed to high performance chemiluminescence film. The position and molecular weight of the protein of interest was validated by reference to rainbow coloured molecular weight markers. Reprobing of the blot for the loading controls GAPDH or α -tubulin was carried out by blocking the membrane for 1 h at room temperature in 5% milk then following the above steps to detect GAPDH/ α -tubulin with anti-GAPDH antibody (1:20000 dilution) or anti- α -tubulin antibody (1:5000) in 5% milk.

3.8 Vectors and transient transfections

3.8.1 Vectors

MCP-1 promoter/enhancer vectors consisted of the pGL3-basic plasmid vector containing either the wild-type human MCP-1 enhancer region (-2802 to -2573 relative to the translation start codon) or the proximal section of the wild type human MCP-1 promoter region (-167 to -1, Figure 3.1) upstream of a luciferase reporter gene. These constructs have previously been described in detail (250).



Figure 3.1 The human MCP-1 gene is regulated by a distal enhancer region containing two nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) consensus sequences (not shown), and a more complex proximal promoter region. The MCP-1 promoter construct used in this study consisted of the 167 bp upstream of the translational start codon driving a luciferase reporter gene. Numbers refer to the 5' nucleotide relative to the translation start site. AP-1: activator protein-1; NF- κ B: nuclear factor- κ B; Sp1: small protein 1; NF-1: nuclear factor-1.

The MCP-1 promoter construct deletion series was a gift from Dr. Garzino Demo (University of Maryland, USA) (304) and consisted of the PGL2-basic plasmid vector containing the 486, 213 or 128 bp upstream of the translational start codon driving a luciferase reporter gene (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2 MCP-1 promoter deletion series. The MCP-1 promoter deletion series consisted of the 486, 213 or 128 bp upstream of the translational start codon driving a luciferase reporter gene. IRIS: interferon response inhibitory sequence; GAS: gamma activated site.

The NF- κ B reporter construct 6NF- κ Btkluc was a gift from Dr. Robert Newton (University of Calgary, Canada) and contains three tandem repeats of the sequence 5'-AGC TTA CAA <u>GGG ACT TTC C</u>GC TG<u>G GGA CTT TCC</u> AGG GA-3', which harbours two copies of the NF- κ B binding site (underlined) upstream of a minimal thymidine kinase promoter driving a luciferase reporter gene (305). The AP-1 reporter construct pRTU14 was a gift from Dr. Arnd Kieser (GSF National Research Centre, Munich, Germany) and consists of a luciferase gene under the control of a minimal promoter and four TREs (12-*O*-tetradecanoate-13-acetate responsive element, to which the AP-1 transcription factor binds) (306).

3.8.2 Transfection protocol

All transient transfections were conducted using FuGene 6 transfection reagent according to the manufacturer's recommended protocol. HASMC were seeded into 24-well plates at a concentration of 2.5 x 10^4 /ml. When cells reached 50 to 60% confluence they were growth arrested for 8 h in serum-free, antibiotic free DMEM containing 4 mM L-glutamine. After 8 h, media was changed for 400 µl of fresh, serum-free, antibiotic-free DMEM. DNA was complexed with FuGene 6 in serum-free, antibiotic free DMEM at a ratio of 1 µg DNA:3 µl FuGene 6. 100 µl of DNA:FuGene 6 complex was added to each well of the 24 well plate to give a final amount of 0.4 µg DNA:1.2 µl FuGene 6 per well. After 16 h of incubation, the media was changed and the transfected cells were treated with ET-1 (10 ng/ml) or TNF- α at the concentrations indicated, for the indicated times. The cells were then washed with PBS and lysed in 100 μ l of passive lysis buffer. Firefly luciferase activity was measured by using the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) with a MicroLumatPlus LB96V Automatic Microplate Luminometer (Berthold Technologies, Herts, United Kingdom).

3.9 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay

ChIP was performed using the ChIP-ITTM Express kit (Active Motif). HASMC in 75cm² dishes at 80-90% confluence were growth arrested for 24 h and incubated with ET-1 (10 ng/ml) or TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated. Cells were then fixed by incubation for 10 min at room temperature with 1% formaldehyde. The 1% formaldehyde media were removed and the cells washed in ice-cold PBS. The reaction was stopped with 0.1 M glycine (5 min

room temperature) and the cells washed again with PBS. The cells were then collected in 2 ml PBS supplemented with PMSF and pelleted for 10 min at 2500 rpm at 4°C. The cells were re-suspended in lysis buffer (supplied) containing PMSF and a protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC) and incubated on ice for 30 min. Cells were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and the pellet re-suspended in shearing buffer (supplied) supplemented with protease inhibitors. Samples were subsequently sonicated (5 x 10 sec pulses with incubation on ice between each cycle of sonication) into chromatin fragments of an average length of 500 - 800 bp. The sheared chromatin was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm at 4°C for 12 min and the supernatants, containing the sheared chromatin, retained. Ten µl of chromatin from each sample was transferred to a fresh microfuge tube and reserved as "input" DNA. The remaining chromatin was aliquoted and incubated with protein G magnetic beads and antibody (4 μ g) directed against the transcription factor or cofactor of interest overnight at 4°C with rotation. Immunoprecipitated material was washed 3 times with wash buffer (supplied), and eluted from the magnetic beads by incubation in elution buffer (supplied) for 15 min at room temperature with rotation. Cross-links were reversed by addition of reverse cross link buffer (supplied) followed by incubation at 65°C for 2.5 h. Input samples were subject to the same incubation to reverse cross links after dilution 1:10 into ChIP buffer 2 (supplied) and addition of NaCl to a final concentration of 0.1 M. Recovered material was treated with proteinase K and incubated at 37°C for 60 min to digest the proteins. Input samples were subject to an additional purification step prior to PCR analysis. Input samples were treated with RNAse A and incubated at 37°C for 30 min prior to phenol chloroform

extraction. The recovered DNA was quantified by PCR as described in section 3.5.3, using the specific primers spanning the regulatory region of the human MCP-1 or eotaxin promoters and the following time and temperature profiles: initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 20 sec, primer annealing at 59°C for 30 sec, primer extension at 72°C for 30 sec.

3.10 Cell viability (MTT) assay

The toxicity of inhibitors and the vehicle DMSO to HASMC was determined by 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (thiazolyl blue [MTT], Sigma). After incubation with the chemicals for the indicated times, the cell culture supernatants were aspirated and 250 μ l of 1 mg/ml MTT in serum-free medium was added to each well of a 24 well plate and incubated for 20 min at 37°C. The MTT medium was removed and 250 μ l of DMSO was added to solubilize the blue-coloured tetrazolium. Optical densities were read at 550 nm in a microplate reader. Viability was compared to that of control cells, with viability of controls defined as 100%. CHAPTER 4: REGULATION OF MONOCYTE CHEMOTACTIC PROTEIN-1 EXPRESSION BY ENDOTHELIN-1

4.1 Introduction

As described in chapter 1, asthma is an inflammatory disease of the airways. Resolution of inflammation normally results in restoration of normal tissue structure and function. In chronic asthma, these processes become disordered, leading to airway remodelling, manifest as an increase in ASM mass, mucous gland hyperplasia, an increase and alteration in extracellular matrix (ECM) and subepithelial fibrosis (126). The increased thickness of the ASM layer is a key feature of the remodelled asthmatic airway. This is highly significant, since in addition to their contractile properties, ASM cells are a rich source of cytokines, mediators, chemokines, growth factors and matrix modifying enzymes that contribute to airway inflammation and remodelling.

Inflammatory response genes can be switched on by Th-1 (307) or Th-2 (308) cytokines or inflammatory mediators acting at 7 transmembrane GPCRs (309). Activation of gene expression by GPCRs provides an important means of local production of cytokines and growth factors which contribute to inflammation and remodelling (309). As we discussed in chapter 1, in contrast to gene expression events mediated by cytokines, the nuclear signalling cascades used by GPCRs have not been well characterised. Human ASM cells (HASMC) are a useful model system to study GPCR signalling in primary cells as they express the GPCRs for many important inflammatory mediators (178, 310).

The Knox lab have previously shown that the inflammatory mediator BK can actively signal to the nucleus to mediate gene transcription events using complex prostanoid dependent signalling pathways involving AP-1, NF-κB

71

and C/EBP (311, 312). These signals are transduced by the $G_{\alpha q}$ -coupled B2 BK receptor. It is not clear whether these nuclear signalling pathways are unique to BK or shared by other $G_{\alpha q}$ -linked GPCRs. Endothelin-1 (ET-1) is a 21 amino acid vasoactive and pro-inflammatory peptide that acts at $G_{\alpha q}$ coupled ET_A and ET_B receptors. As described in chapter 1, there is extensive evidence implicating ET-1 in the pathogenesis of asthma. There has been a wealth of studies of the effects of ET-1 on ASM contraction but, despite animal studies implicating ET-1 in airway inflammation, there have been very few previous studies of ET-1's effects on release of inflammatory cytokines and mediators from ASM. ET-1 has been shown to increase the release of the chemokines IL-8 and MCP-1 from several other cell types *in vitro* (241, 313, 314) and has been implicated in induction of chemokine release *in vivo* (241, 315, 316).

The ET_A and ET_B receptors activate calcium and inositol phosphate second messenger pathways (317-319). ET-1 can also activate the MAPK family of signalling proteins. For example, ET-1 activates ERK-2 and JNK in rat tracheal smooth muscle cells (319, 320). Similarly, ET-1 induces the MEK/ERK pathway in human lung fibroblasts (191), and the ERK 1/2, p46 and p54 JNKs and p38 MAPKs in cardiac myocytes (192). However, there have been few studies of nuclear signalling by ET-1 and, furthermore, the transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of chemokine expression by ET-1 has not been studied. As described in chapter 1, MCP-1 is a chemokine of the CC subgroup which is chemotactic for monocytes (236, 237) and T-lymphocytes (238, 239) and is, like ET-1, implicated in the pathophysiology of asthma through multiple lines of evidence. The Knox group and others have shown that HASMC express MCP-1 and that levels of expression are upregulated by cytokines (242, 249, 250). However, there have been few studies in ASM of the effects on MCP-1 expression by asthma mediators acting at GPCRs, although it is known that bradykinin induces MCP-1 secretion from human lung fibroblasts (321). The aim of the experiments described in this chapter was to determine the mechanisms used by ET-1 to induce MCP-1 expression. We used a variety of molecular and pharmacological tools to characterise the signalling pathways involved. Specifically we tested the hypotheses that:

- 1. ET-1 stimulates MCP-1 release from HASMC.
- 2. This occurs through a transcriptional mechanism.
- 3. The downstream signalling pathways are MAP kinase dependent.

4.2 Experimental protocols

HASMC were grown in 6 well plates (Western blotting experiments), 75cm² flasks (ChIP assay) or 24 well plates (all other experiments) as described in chapter 3. Cells were growth arrested for 24 h prior to each experiment. The principle findings of this study were confirmed in tissue from three different donors. Subsequent mechanistic studies were performed on cells from one donor.

4.2.1 MCP-1 release from HASMC

Human MCP-1 release from HASMC was measured using a commercially available ELISA kit (R&D) as described in chapter 3.

4.2.2 Determination of ET receptor mRNA expression by polymerase chain reaction

RNA extraction, reverse transcription and PCR were carried out as described in chapter 3. The primer sequences used were as follows: GAPDH sense, 5'-CCA CCC ATG GCA AAT TCC ATG GCA-3'; GAPDH antisense, 5'-TCT AGA CGG CAG GTC AGG TCC ACC-3'; ET_A receptor sense, 5'-TGG CCT TTT GAT CAC AAT GAC TTT-3'; ET_A receptor antisense, 5'-TTT GAT GTG GCA TTG AGC ATA CAG GTT-3'; ET_B receptor sense, 5'-ACT GGC CAT TTG GAG CTG AGA TGT-3'; ET_B receptor antisense, 5'-CTG CAT GCC ACT TTT CTT TCT CAA-3' (182, 322). PCR was carried out using the following temperature and time profiles. GAPDH: initial denaturation at 95°C for 30 sec, primer

annealing at 60°C for 30 sec, primer extension at 72°C for 30 sec. A final chain extension was carried out at 72°C for 10 min. ET receptors: initial denaturation at 94°C for 1 min followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, primer annealing at 54°C for 1 min, primer extension at 72°C for 3 min. Final chain extension was carried out at 72°C for 10 min.

4.2.3 Determination of MCP-1 mRNA expression by real time polymerase chain reaction

Real time PCR was carried out as described in chapter 3. Primer sequences used were as follows: MCP-1 sense, 5- GAT CTC AGT GCA GAG GCT CG - 3'; MCP-1 antisense, 5'- TGC TTG TCC AGG TGG TCC AT -3' (250); β 2 microglubulin sense, 5'- GAG TAT GCC TGC CGT GTG-3'; β 2 microglobulin antisense, 5'- AAT CCA AAT GCG GCA TCT-3' (302);

4.2.4 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay

ChIP assay was performed as described in chapter 3. Primer sequences used to amplify the immunoprecipitated products by PCR were as follows: MCP-1 promoter sense: 5'-CCC ATT TGC TCA TTT GGT CTC AGC-3'; MCP-1 promoter antisense: 5'-GCT GCT GTC TCT GCC TCT TAT TGA-3' (243).

4.2.5 Data Analysis

MCP-1 protein or mRNA or luciferase levels were expressed as the means of the individual technical replicates for that experiment. The experiments were repeated at least twice, and the results shown represent group means +/- SE. Absolute MCP-1 levels are presented for the initial concentration response and time course experiments. In subsequent mechanistic studies, the data are expressed as fold increase or percentage of control. The number of independent experiments and technical replicates from which the data are derived is also indicated in the figure legends. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) of the raw data was used to determine statistically significant differences, using the statistical software package SPSS version 14.0. In time course experiments, the terms of the ANOVA included experiment, time and ET-1. Overall p-values for the effect of time and ET-1 are presented. Time dependence of the effect of ET-1 was determined by fitting an interaction between ET-1 and time. In concentration response experiments, the terms of the ANOVA included experiment and concentration. Overall p values for the effect of ET-1 or inhibitor are presented. Comparisons between individual concentrations of ET-1 and control, or inhibitor compared to ET-1-stimulated cells, were assessed using Dunnet's post-hoc correction for multiple comparisons. A p value of <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 ET-1 stimulates the release of MCP-1 from cultured HASMC

We first studied the effect of ET-1 on the release of MCP-1 from HASMC. Sub-confluent, growth arrested cultured HASMC were treated for 24 h with increasing concentrations of ET-1 up to 10 ng/ml. ET-1 stimulated MCP-1 release in a concentration dependent manner (Figure 4.1). In other experiments where higher concentrations of ET-1 were used, no further increase in effect was observed (data not shown). Ten ng/ml of ET-1 was therefore used in all subsequent experiments. HASMC were next treated with 10 ng/ml of ET-1 for 0, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16 and 24 h. ET-1 caused a time dependent increase in MCP-1 release (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.1 Concentration response of ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production by HASMC. Cells were treated for 24 h with ET-1 at the concentrations indicated. ET-1 significantly increased MCP-1 release (p<0.001). ***P<0.001 compared with unstimulated cells. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 13 replicates in 4 independent experiments (n=3 different primary donors).



Figure 4.2 Time course of ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production by HASMC. Cells were treated with ET-1 (10 ng/ml) for the indicated times. ET-1 significantly increased MCP-1 release from HASMC in a time-dependent manner (ET-1 vs control: p<0.001. Interaction between ET-1 and time: p<0.001). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 18 replicates in 7 independent experiments (n=3 different primary donors).

4.3.2 HASMC express endothelin A and endothelin B receptor mRNA

Two endothelin receptors have been cloned and sequenced, the ET_A and ET_B receptors. To determine whether HASMC expressed these receptors we used RT-PCR to look at their RNA. RT- PCR demonstrated the presence of mRNA for both receptors in HASMC (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 ET_A and ET_B receptor mRNA is expressed in HASMC. Representative gel from one of 3 independent experiments.

4.3.3 Effects of ET-1 on MCP-1 release are mediated by ET_A and ET_B receptors

We next performed pharmacological studies to explore the relative contributions of the two receptor subtypes to ET-1-mediated MCP-1 expression. The dual-selective ET receptor antagonist bosentan and the selective ET_A and ET_B receptor antagonists, BQ123 and BQ788 respectively, inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production in a concentration-dependent manner (Figures 4.4 to 4.6). Both antagonists inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production at concentrations equivalent to and ten-fold higher than their respective pA_2 values (6.9 - 7.4 and 6.9 for BQ123 and BQ788 respectively (323)). The antagonist concentrations were chosen to be selective for the relevant receptor, as both inhibitors are at least 3 orders of magnitude more selective for their respective receptors (324, 325). These data suggest that both ET_A and ET_B receptors are involved in this response. An additional effect was observed when BQ123 and BQ788 were used in combination at a submaximal concentration (Figure 4.7) but this was of borderline statistical significance (p=0.05).



Figure 4.4 The dual selective ET receptor antagonist bosentan concentration-dependently inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production (p<0.001). ***P<0.001 compared with ET-1-stimulated cells. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 11 replicates in 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.5 The selective ET_A receptor antagonist BQ123 concentrationdependently inhibited ET-1 stimulated MCP-1 production (p<0.001). ***P<0.001 compared with ET-1-stimulated cells.



Figure 4.6 The selective ET_B receptor antagonist BQ788 concentrationdependently inhibited ET-1 stimulated MCP-1 production (p<0.001). *P=0.03; ***p<0.001 compared with ET-1-stimulated cells.



Figure 4.7 BQ123, BQ788 and both inhibitors in combination (10^{-7} M) significantly inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production (p<0.001). P for interaction = 0.053.

Figures 4.5 – 4.7: each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 6 replicates in 2 independent experiments.

4.3.4 Effects of ET-1 on MCP-1 release are mediated by p44/p42 and p38 MAP kinases but not by JNK or PI3 kinase

MAP kinases are involved in multiple inflammatory pathways, including airway inflammation (326) and, furthermore, it is known that ET-1 can activate MAP kinases in ASM and other biological systems (191, 319, 320, 327). We therefore hypothesised that ET-1 may stimulate MCP-1 release through MAP kinase dependent pathways. PD98059 (20 μ M), a selective inhibitor of MEK, immediately upstream of p44/p42 MAPK, or ERK (328, 329), inhibited ET-1 stimulated MCP-1 production (Figure 4.8) suggesting a role for p44/p42 MAP kinase. Consistent with this, Western blotting demonstrated a time dependent increase in phosphorylation of p44/p42 MAP kinase following stimulation with ET-1 (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.8 Effect of PD98059 on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production. PD98059 (20 μ M) inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production. ***p<0.001 compared with cells treated with ET-1 alone. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 11 replicates in 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.9 Western blot showing time-dependent phosphorylation of p44/p42 MAPK by ET-1. An increase in phospho-p44/p42 MAPK is seen at 5 minutes and is sustained until 30 minutes. Representative blot from one of 4 independent experiments.

The p38 MAP kinase inhibitor SB203580 (20 μ M) also inhibited ET-1stimulated MCP-1 production (Figure 4.10) (330). Furthermore, ET-1 caused an increase in phosphorylation of p38 on Western blotting (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.10 Effect of SB203580 on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production. SB203580 (20 μ M) inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production. ***P<0.001 compared with cells treated with ET-1 alone. Each bar represents mean (SE) of 16 replicates in 2 independent experiments.



Figure 4.11 Western blot showing time-dependent phosphorylation of p38 MAPK by ET-1. An increase in phospho-p38 MAPK is seen at 5 minutes and is sustained until 30 minutes. Representative blot from one of 3 independent experiments.

In contrast to our observations with PD98059 and SB203580, the selective JNK inhibitor SP600125 (10 μ M) (331) and the PI3 kinase inhibitors Wortmannin (100 nM) and LY294002 (1 μ M) (332, 333) had no effect on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production (Figures 4.12 and 4.13).



Figure 4.12 The JNK inhibitor SP600125 (10μ M) had no effect on ET-1stimulated MCP-1 production. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 10 replicates in 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.13 Effect of the PI 3 kinase inhibitors wortmannin and LY294002 on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production. Wortmannin (10^{-7} M) and LY294002 (10^{-6} M) had no effect on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 8 replicates in 2 independent experiments.

4.3.5 ET-1 increases MCP-1 mRNA levels

We next tested the hypothesis that the regulation of MCP-1 expression by ET-1 occurs at a transcriptional level. We used qRT-PCR to determine the levels of MCP-1 mRNA following treatment of HASMC with ET-1 (10 ng/ml). MCP-1 mRNA levels were normalised to the house keeping gene β 2 microblogulin. ET-1 significantly increased MCP-1 mRNA levels relative to control (unstimulated) cells (Figure 4.14). The increase was detectable at 2 h, and was sustained throughout the 24 hour period studied.



Figure 4.14 ET-1 increased expression of MCP-1 mRNA measured by qRT-PCR (p<0.001 compared to control cells). The effect was time dependent (p for interaction between ET-1 and time = 0.003). MCP-1 mRNA was normalised to the housekeeping gene β 2 microglobulin. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 12 replicates in 4 independent experiments.

4.3.6 ET-1 does not affect MCP-1 mRNA stability

We performed mRNA stability studies with the transcription inhibitor actinomycin D (Act D) to determine whether ET-1's effects on MCP-1 mRNA levels were due to stabilisation of the MCP-1 mRNA. MCP-1 mRNA is constitutively expressed in HASMC. Cells were incubated for 0 to 24 h with 1 μ g/ml of Act D alone (which blocks the production of new transcripts), or Act D and ET-1 in combination. ET-1 had no effect on the rate of decay of MCP-1 transcripts, indicating that ET-1 was not acting to stabilise MCP-1 mRNA (Figure 4.15).



Figure 4.15 Effect of ET-1 on MCP-1 mRNA stability. ET-1 treatment had no effect on the rate of decay of MCP-1 transcripts. Each point represents group mean (SE) derived from 6 replicates in 3 independent experiments.

4.3.7 ET-1 increases MCP-1 promoter activity

Next, vectors encoding the wild type MCP-1 promoter or enhancer regions upstream of a luciferase reporter gene were transiently transfected into HASMC. Consistent with the qRT-PCR results, ET-1 caused a 2.2-fold increase in MCP-1 promoter-driven luciferase reporter gene expression at 6 h. This effect was still detectable at 16 h as a 1.7-fold increase (Figure 4.16). There was a trend towards a smaller and later stimulation of MCP-1 enhancerdriven reporter gene expression, with a 1.7-fold increase detected following 16 h incubation with ET-1 (Figure 4.17), although this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.1).



Figure 4.16 Effect of ET-1 on MCP-1 promoter activity. ET-1 stimulated MCP-1 promoter-driven luciferase activity (p=0.03 compared to controls). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 18 replicates in 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.17 Effect of ET-1 on MCP-1 enhancer activity. Although there was a trend towards an effect of ET-1 on MCP-1 enhancer-driven luciferase activity, this was not statistically significant (p=0.106 compared to controls). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 16-26 replicates in 3-6 independent experiments.

4.3.8 Effects of ET-1 on the MCP-1 promoter map to a region between 213 and 128 base pairs upstream of the translational start codon

In order to determine which region of the MCP-1 promoter was responsible for ET-1's effects, HASMC were transiently transfected with constructs expressing serial deletions of the human MCP-1 promoter, consisting of the 486, 213 or 128 bp upstream of the translational start codon. Cells were stimulated with ET-1 for 6 h, since maximal transactivation of the wild-type promoter was observed at this time. ET-1 significantly up-regulated activity of the 486 and 213 constructs but had no effect on activity of the 128 construct, suggesting that the region between 213 and 128 bp upstream of the translational start codon is required for the effects of ET-1 on MCP-1 transcriptional activation (Figure 4.18).



Figure 4.18 HASMC were transiently transfected with serially deleted MCP-1 promoter constructs consisting of the 486, 213 or 128 bp upstream of the translational start codon and stimulated with ET-1 for 6 h. ET-1 stimulated luciferase activity driven by the 486 and 213 constructs but had no effect on the 128 construct. **p=0.008; ***p<0.001. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 18 replicates in 3 independent experiments. IRIS = interferon regulated inhibitory sequence; GAS = gamma activated site; AP-1 = activator protein-1; NF- κ B = nuclear factor- κ B; Sp1 = small protein-1; NF-1 = nuclear factor 1.
4.3.9 ET-1 stimulates activity of an NF-κB and an AP-1 reporter construct

The region between 128 and 213 bp upstream of the MCP-1 translational start codon contains consensus sequences for the transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1. To confirm that ET-1 can activate these transcription factors in HASMC, we transiently transfected HASMC with NF- κ B and AP-1 reporter constructs and stimulated with ET-1 for 6h. ET-1 caused a 1.7-fold increase in luciferase activity of the NF- κ B construct (Figure 4.19) and a 1.6-fold increase in activity of the AP-1 construct (Figure 4.20).



Figure 4.19 Effect of ET-1 on NF- κ B reporter-driven luciferase activity following treatment with ET-1 for 6 h. *P=0.03 compared with control. Each bar represents group mean (SE) of 18 replicates in 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.20 Effect of ET-1 on AP-1 reporter-driven luciferase activity following treatment with ET-1 for 6 h. *P=0.03 compared with control. Each bar represents group mean (SE) of 12 replicates in 2 independent experiments.

4.3.10 JNK inhibition has no effect on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 promoter activity

Since ET-1 activated both the 128 MCP-1 promoter construct (containing two AP-1 consensus sequences) and the AP-1 reporter construct, we hypothesised that inhibition of JNK, an upstream activator of AP-1, would inhibit ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 promoter activity. Interestingly, however, the JNK inhibitor SP600125 (10µM) had no effect on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 promoter activity (Figure 4.21).



Figure 4.21 Effect of SP600125 on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 promoter activity. HASMC transiently transfected with the wild-type MCP-1 promoter construct were stimulated with ET-1 for 6 h in the absence or presence of the JNK inhibitor SP600125. SP600125 had no effect on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 promoter activity. **p=0.009 compared with controls. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 12 replicates in 2 independent experiments.

4.3.11 Inhibitor of κB kinase-2 (IKK-2) blockade inhibits ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 release

Our findings with the transiently transfected MCP-1 promoter and NF- κ B reporter constructs suggested that NF- κ B was involved in ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 release. We next studied the effect of the inhibitor TPCA-1 (which blocks IKK-2, thereby inhibiting the NF- κ B activation pathway) on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 release. TPCA-1 concentration-dependently inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production with a –log IC₅₀ of 6.2 +/- 0.1 (Figure 4.22), further supporting the hypothesis that NF- κ B is involved in ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production.



Figure 4.22 Cells were pre-incubated with the IKK-2 inhibitor TPCA-1 for 30 min prior to 24 h stimulation with ET-1. TPCA-1 concentrationdependently inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production (4 parameter logistic regression). Each point represents group mean (SE) derived from 12 replicates in 4 independent experiments.

4.3.12 ET-1 promotes in-vivo binding of NF-кВ p65 subunit and AP-1 cJun subunit to the MCP-1 promoter

To confirm whether NF- κ B, AP-1, or both were involved in ET-1's effects at the MCP-1 promoter, we studied the *in vivo* binding of these transcription factors to the MCP-1 promoter by ChIP assay. We found that ET-1 stimulated binding of both p65 and cJun to the MCP-1 promoter, suggesting that both transcription factors are involved (Figures 4.23 and 4.24). We observed a 1.5fold increase in p65 binding to the MCP-1 promoter at 1 h, with a return to basal levels by 1.5 h. A similar transient rise in cJun binding to the MCP-1 promoter was observed, with a 2.2-fold increase in cJun binding seen at 1 h that returned to basal levels by 2.5 h.



Figure 4.23 ChIP assay, with accompanying densitometry, showing effect of ET-1 on *in vivo* binding of NF- κ B p65 subunit to the MCP-1 promoter. ET-1 promoted *in vivo* binding of p65 to the MCP-1 promoter. The density of the immunoprecipitated band (IP) was normalised to that of the input control at the same time point, and expressed as fold increase over time zero. Representative gel from one of two independent experiments. NAC = no antibody control.



Figure 4.24 ChIP assay, with accompanying densitometry, showing effect of ET-1 on *in vivo* binding of AP-1 cJun subunit to the MCP-1 promoter. ET-1 promoted *in vivo* binding of cJun to the MCP-1 promoter. The density of the immunoprecipitated band (IP) was normalised to that of the input control at the same time point, and expressed as fold increase over time zero. Representative gel from one of two independent experiments. NAC = no antibody control.

4.3.13 PD98059 and SB203580 inhibit ET-1-stimulated binding of p65 and cJun to the MCP-1 promoter

We next performed ChIP assay to study the effects of the MEK inhibitor PD98059 (20 μ M) and the p38 MAPK inhibitor SB203580 (20 μ M) on ET-1-stimulated binding of p65 and cJun to the MCP-1 promoter. PD98059 and SB203580 inhibited p65 and cJun binding to the MCP-1 promoter (Figure 4.25).



Figure 4.25 ET-1-stimulated binding of p65 and cJun to the MCP-1 promoter at 1h was inhibited by PD98059 (PD, 20 μ M) and SB203580 (SB, 20 μ M). The density of the immunoprecipitated band (IP) was normalised to that of the input control of the same condition, and expressed as fold increase over unstimulated cells. Representative gels, with accompanying densitometry, from one of two independent experiments. NAC = no antibody control.

4.3.14 Cell viability

Cell viability with all chemicals/inhibitors used in this study was greater than 90 % of that of control cells as determined by MTT assay (see Appendix).

4.4 Discussion

The major finding of this study is that ET-1 induces MCP-1 expression in HASMC and that this occurs through a transcriptional mechanism involving activation of the MCP-1 promoter region. Furthermore, the regulation of MCP-1 by ET-1 involves ET_A and ET_B receptors and both p44/p42 MAPK and p38 MAPK dependent pathways, but not JNK or PI3 kinase dependent pathways.

We found that ET-1 increased MCP-1 production in a concentration and time dependent manner (Figures 4.1 and 4.2). MCP-1 is released from HASMC constitutively, thus even under unstimulated conditions (control cells), MCP-1 accumulates in the culture medium over time. However, there is a clear increase in MCP-1 release from the ET-1 stimulated cells. Of note, a previous study in HASMC did not show induction of MCP-1 in response to ET-1 (242). However, the concentration of ET-1 used in that study was 1 μ M, or 2492 ng/ml, some 250-fold higher than the concentration used in our study. It may be that ET-1's effects are biphasic, with a loss of effect at this higher concentration. There are isolated reports of ET-1 increasing MCP-1 production in endothelial and mesangial cells (241, 334), but none from HASMC. Furthermore, the mechanisms used by ET-1 to up-regulate MCP-1 expression have not been studied in any biological system.

We next determined the endothelin receptor(s) responsible for its effects. Two endothelin receptors have been identified and cloned, ET_A and ET_B receptors,

both of which are expressed by HASMC (335, 336). We confirmed the presence of mRNA for both receptors in HASMC by RT-PCR (Figure 4.3). Our studies with antagonists of differing ET-receptor specificity indicated that both receptor subtypes are involved in ET-1 stimulated MCP-1 release (Figures 4.4 to 4.6 respectively). Both antagonists inhibited ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production at concentrations equivalent to and ten-fold higher than their respective pA₂ values (6.9 - 7.4 and 6.9 for BQ123 and BQ788 respectively (323)). The antagonist concentrations were chosen to be selective for the relevant receptor, as both inhibitors are at least 3 orders of magnitude more selective for their respective receptors (324, 325). Our observations using the ET_A and ET_B receptor antagonists are interesting as they contrast with ET-1potentiated HASMC proliferation, which appears to be mediated solely by ET_A receptors (197) and ET-1-mediated HASM contraction, which is predominantly ET_B mediated (335, 337) (although one study suggested that both receptors contribute (336)).

Inhibition of the effects of ET-1 by each of the selective ET receptor antagonists strongly implies the presence of both receptor subtypes at the protein level. However, our findings would be strengthened by confirming receptor expression at the protein level. Potential techniques that could be used to demonstrate the presence of ET_A and ET_B receptors include flow cytometry, immunofluorescent labelling coupled with confocal microscopy, or Western blotting. Although, as discussed above, the ET receptor antagonists BQ123 and BQ788 should be selective for their respective targets at the concentrations used in this study, it is possible that the observed effects could be brought

105

about through non-selective effects on the opposite receptor. Demonstrating the presence of both receptors at the protein level would support the inference that both receptor subtypes are involved in ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 expression.

To further probe the signalling pathways involved we turned our attention to kinase cascades. Studies using kinase inhibitors suggested that ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production by HASMC involved p44/42 and p38 MAP kinases, but not JNK (Figures 4.8, 4.10 and 4.12 respectively) (328-331). Consistent with the inhibitor studies, ET-1 was shown to activate p44/p42 and p38 MAP kinases by Western blotting (Figures 4.9 and 4.11 respectively).

ET-1 activates MAP kinases in a number of systems (319, 320, 327, 338). P44/p42 MAP kinase is known to be activated by ET-1 in ASM from other species and has been implicated in ET-1-mediated proliferative responses (319, 320, 339, 340). Furthermore, p44/p42 MAPK and p38 MAPK are involved in IL-1 β -stimulated MCP-1 production in HASMC (341). This is interesting as it suggests that cross talk could occur between cytokine- and GPCR-mediated pathways of chemokine expression. MAP kinases are involved in multiple inflammatory pathways (342) and it has been shown that MAPK inhibitors can attenuate the inflammatory disease process in animal models of rheumatoid arthritis (343, 344). Interestingly, ET-1 induces expression by human lung fibroblasts of connective tissue growth factor, an important profibrotic protein that induces collagen synthesis, via a p44/p42 MAPK dependent pathway, suggesting that ET-1 may be involved in both the inflammatory and remodelling components of asthmatic disease and that both components involve p44/p42 MAPK.

The ET-1 receptors, ET_A and ET_B , are seven transmembrane GPCRs which couple to $G_{\alpha q}$ and activate calcium and inositol phosphate second messenger pathways (317-319). There is also some experimental evidence that $G_{\alpha q}$ can activate PI3 kinase (192, 345), although this pathway is not well characterised. Pharmacological studies using wortmannin and LY294002 implicated PI3 kinase in the development of an enhanced contractile phenotype of pulmonary fibroblasts by ET-1(338). In contrast, mitogenic signalling in response to ET-1 in bovine ASM appeared to be independent of PI3 kinase (346). We found that the PI3 kinase inhibitors wortmannin and LY294002 had no effect on ET-1stimulated MCP-1 production, suggesting that ET-1's effects are not mediated by PI3 kinase (Figure 4.13). The concentrations of these inhibitors were selected to be equal to or higher than their published IC₅₀ values (332, 333).

We found that MCP-1 mRNA is expressed by HASMC under resting conditions, and that ET-1 increased MCP-1 mRNA (Figure 4.14). Studies of MCP-1 mRNA stability confirmed that this was not an effect on stabilisation of the MCP-1 message (Figure 4.15).

To confirm that ET-1 was acting transcriptionally, we transiently transfected cells with wild-type MCP-1 promoter and enhancer luciferase reporter constructs. ET-1 significantly increased MCP-1 promoter-luciferase reporter activity and there was a trend towards activation of the MCP-1 enhancer

construct (Figures 4.16 and 4.17 respectively), supporting the hypothesis that ET-1 regulates MCP-1 expression by HASMC transcriptionally. There is one previous report of ET-1 increasing MCP-1 mRNA (in human brain-derived endothelial cells (241)) but, to our knowledge, this is the first study to show such an effect in HASMC and the first to demonstrate direct activation by ET-1 of the MCP-1 promoter/enhancer in any biological system. The magnitude of ET-1's effects on the MCP-1 promoter and enhancer constructs suggested that the promoter was more important in the transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 by ET-1. We therefore focused our subsequent experiments on determining which transcription factors were most important in activation of the MCP-1 promoter by ET-1.

There is little information on the transcription factors activated by ET-1. In glioma cells, AP-1 is involved in ET-1-stimulated proenkephalin expression (347) and, in rat cardiac myocytes, ET-1-stimulated brain natriuretic peptide transcription involves NF- κ B (348) and a ternary complex of GATA proteins and serum response factor-activated atrial natriuretic factor (349). ET-1 has also been shown to increase Sp1 expression in rat cardiac myofibroblasts (350). However, there are no published studies on the transcription factors activated by ET-1 in HASMC. The wild type MCP-1 enhancer region contains two NF- κ B binding sites; the MCP-1 promoter construct used in these studies includes two binding sites for AP-1, single Sp1, NF- κ B and NF-1 binding sites and a CCAAT box (Figure 3.1). Given that previous studies have implicated AP-1, NF- κ B and Sp1 in ET-1-stimulated responses in other systems, any or all of these transcription factors could potentially be important in ET-1-induced

MCP-1 expression. Using serially deleted MCP-1 promoter constructs, we found that a region between 213 and 128 base pairs upstream of the translational start site was both necessary and sufficient for maximal activation of the MCP-1 promoter by ET-1 (Figure 4.18). This region harbours consensus sequences for the NF- κ B and AP-1 transcription factors. Truncation of the promoter to -213 bp disrupts the GAS found at -214 to -204 bp, therefore it is unlikely that the GAS is involved in ET-1's effects, although it is possible that this region retains some functionality. Site directed mutagenesis or additional deletion analysis of the GAS would be required to clarify this further.

The magnitude of the effect of ET-1 on the MCP-1 promoter deletion constructs was modest, and smaller that that on the MCP-1 promoter construct (Figures 4.16 and 4.18 respectively). The deletion series was a gift from another laboratory; the serially deleted promoters were cloned into the commercially supplied PGL2 basic plasmid (Promega). In contrast, the wildtype MCP-1 promoter used in this study was cloned into the newer PGL3 basic plasmid vector (Promega). These plasmids have been sequentially optimised by the supplying company to improve, amongst other characteristics, reporter gene expression in response to stimulation of cloned regulatory elements. This may in part explain the smaller effects of ET-1 seen with the deletion Although a formal quantification of the efficiency of our constructs. transfection system (Fugene 6, Roche Molecular Biochemicals) was not specifically performed for this study, other researchers in the Knox lab have demonstrated an overall efficiency of transfection in HASMC of 10 - 15% when transfecting a green fluorescent protein-expressing plasmid using the

109

Fugene 6 system (K. Deacon, personal communication). The relative advantages and disadvantages of this system are discussed in more detail in Chapter 6 (Methodological Considerations)

Our studies with the NF-kB and AP-1 luciferase reporter constructs showed that ET-1 activated both of these transcription factors in HASM (Figures 4.19 and 4.20 respectively). This is consistent with a role for these transcription factors in transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 by ET-1. Furthermore the results of ChIP assays (Figures 4.23 and 4.24) and of NF-KB pathway inhibition by TPCA-1 (Figure 4.22) (351) support a role for NF- κ B and AP-1 in ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 expression. The MEK inhibitor PD98059 and the p38 MAPK inhibitor SB203580 inhibited binding of p65 and cJun to the MCP-1 promoter, suggesting that these kinases mediate ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 production transcriptionally, via NF- κ B and AP-1 (Figure 4.25). It was beyond the scope of this study to determine the precise mechanisms by which p38 and p44/42 MAPK alter p65 and cJun binding to the MCP-1 promoter. However this could be brought about through phosphorylation of components of the NFκB and cJun activating pathways, or by affecting chromatin accessibility. To our knowledge, this is the first study to delineate the kinase cascades used by ET-1 to activate specific transcription factors.

The effect of ET-1 on NF- κ B reporter luciferase activity was relatively small (1.7-fold increase). Although the ChIP studies and the effect of NF- κ B pathway inhibition on ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 expression provide additional evidence of a role for NF- κ B, additional techniques could have been employed

to strengthen these findings. These include studies of NF- κ B nuclear translocation, through immunofluorescence studies or Western blotting of nuclear and cytosolic fractions before and after stimulation with ET-1, or studies of NF- κ B phosphorylation or I κ B degradation by Western blotting.

We were surprised that the JNK inhibitor SP600125 had no effect on either MCP-1 protein release or promoter activation (Figures 4.12 and 4.21 respectively), as JNK is an upstream activator of cJun and, taken together, our transfection and ChIP studies strongly suggest that cJun mediates transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 by ET-1. However, there are reports of JNK-independent activation of cJun (352), including by p44/42 MAPK (353). Thus ET-1-mediated activation of cJun in HASMC may be occurring by a JNK-independent pathway.

In the ChIP assays, binding of p65 and of cJun to the MCP-1 promoter was transient and relatively short lived, maximal at 1 hour in both cases, and returning to baseline by 1.5 hours in the case of p65, and by 2.5 hours for cJun. In contrast, an increase in MCP-1 mRNA was first seen at 2 hours, peaking later, at 8 hours. A similar phenomenon was seen in the transcriptional regulation of eotaxin release by TNF- α , where p65 binding and histone acetylation at the eotaxin promoter was maximal at 30 - 60 min, waning by 2.5 hrs, whereas eotaxin mRNA peaked later, at 4 hours, suggesting that the two processes are not temporally contiguous (224). Similar responses have been observed in the Knox lab in the regulation). A possible explanation for this

observation is that, once transcriptional activation has taken place through transcription factor binding and chromatin remodelling at promoter regions, the transcriptional apparatus is free to continue transcribing the coding region of the gene, even after transcription factor dissociation from the promoter.

The magnitude of ET-1's effects on p65 and cJun binding to the MCP-1 promoter, as measured by semi-quantitative PCR and densitometry, is modest. For the ChIP studies, we would ideally have liked to quantify the immunoprecipitated material by qPCR. However, we encountered a number of technical difficulties in optimising the qPRC assay for the region of interest of the MCP-1 promoter. This is discussed in more detail in chapter 6.

Our transcriptional studies of ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 release (mRNA studies, reporter gene assays and ChIP assays) all showed relatively modest effects of ET-1 relative to the more pronounced effect on MCP-1 protein release. This may be for a number of reasons. First, as described above, transcriptional activation *in vivo* is in part regulated through chromatin remodelling and the epigenetic code. In the reporter gene assays, the MCP-1 promoter and enhancer plasmid vectors lack the native chromatin environment of the chromosomal MCP-1 gene. Thus transcriptional activation of the reporter gene vectors is likely to be less efficient in the absence of the normal chromatin structure. Secondly, ET-1's effects may be amplified between the mRNA level and the level of protein expression through signalling cascades. Thirdly, other than mRNA stability studies, we did not explore any post-transcriptional mechanisms. It may be that ET-1 exerts its effects on MCP-1 expression, in

112

part, through post-transcriptional mechanisms. However, a detailed exploration of post-transcriptional mechanisms was beyond the scope of this study.

There have been a number of studies of MCP-1 transcriptional regulation in the context of inflammation. These have demonstrated involvement of various transcription factors in MCP-1 regulation in an apparently stimulus- and tissuespecific manner. For example, STAT-1 and Sp1 were found to interact with the MCP-1 promoter in response to interferon gamma (IFN- γ) in macrophages (354). In contrast, in rat aorta cells hyperinsulinaemia induced C/EBP binding to the MCP-1 promoter (355). Intriguingly, Teferedegne et al defined an ordered sequence of events in the TNF- α -regulated activation of the MCP-1 promoter in a human fibroblast cell line (223). TNF-α induced binding of NFκB to the MCP-1 enhancer, triggering recruitment of the transcriptional coactivators and histone acetyltransferase enzymes CBP and p300. This facilitated interaction of the distal MCP-1 enhancer with the proximal promoter region, enabling Sp1 binding to the promoter region and subsequent activation Whilst a number of studies have indirectly implied of transcription. involvement of AP-1 in MCP-1 transcriptional regulation, for example through correlation of levels of MCP-1 expression with transcription factor expression or activation (356, 357), or through electrophoretic mobility shift assay studies (358, 359), to our knowledge this is the first study to directly demonstrate in vivo binding of AP-1 to the MCP-1 promoter by ChIP assay. This is one of very few reports of MCP-1 regulation by mediators acting at GPCRs (360) and, to our knowledge is the first to demonstrate *in vivo* binding of NF-κB and cJun to the MCP-1 promoter in response to ET-1 in any biological system.

Inhibition of the NF- κ B pathway has been shown to inhibit the release of other inflammatory cytokines and chemokines from HASMC and to inhibit cytokine expression and inflammatory cell accumulation in the lungs of a rodent model of asthma following ovalbumin challenge (361). NF- κ B pathway blockade also inhibited the late asthmatic response in the ovalbumin-challenged animals (361). Our results with ET-1 add to the body of evidence suggesting that targeting common downstream signalling moieties, such as NF- κ B, may have therapeutic potential by simultaneously inhibiting multiple inflammatory pathways.

In conclusion, this study is the first to delineate the signalling pathways used by ET-1 to increase production of MCP-1, an important chemokine strongly implicated in asthmatic airway inflammation. We have shown that ET-1 regulates MCP-1 by transcriptional mechanisms involving NF-KB and AP-1, and that the upstream signalling pathways involve both ET_A and ET_B receptors and p38 and p44/p42 MAP kinases. Our propsed mechanism of MCP-1 regulation by ET-1 is summarised in Figure 4.26. This study adds to the growing body of evidence implicating a number of common downstream targets, including MAP kinases and the pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF- κ B, onto which multiple inflammatory signalling pathways converge. Such targets are likely to be relevant in the development of new therapeutic modalities for the of asthma. treatment



Figure 4.26 Proposed sequence of events in the transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 by ET-1. ET-1, acting at ET_A and ET_B receptors, activates p38 and p44/42 MAP kinases. Activation of these kinases leads on to activation of cJun and p65, the latter through activation of IKK-2, leading to phosphorylation and dissociation of I- κ B, allowing translocation of p65 from the cytosol to the nucleus. Upon activation, cJun and p65 bind to the MCP-1 promoter, allowing RNA polymerase II to bind at the transcriptional start site and synthesise MCP-1 mRNA. Multiple arrows indicate probable multiple steps in the signalling pathways that were not fully characterised in this study. It is not clear whether the two ET receptors activate distinct kinase cascades, or whether both receptors can activate p38 and p44/42.

Chapter 5: Regulation of eotaxin expression by TNF- α and its modulation by glucocorticoids and long acting beta agonists: role of NF- κ B, histone H3 acetylation and histone deacetylases

5.1 Introduction

Allergic airway inflammation in asthma is characterised by accumulation of eosinophils within local tissues. Eotaxin is an important CC chemokine that is a potent chemoattractant for eosinophils and plays an important role in eosinophilic inflammation (362). As described in Chapter 1, airway smooth muscle cells are critically involved in inflammation and remodelling in the asthmatic airway, and studies from this lab and others have previously shown that eotaxin is released from these cells in response to proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α (203, 363).

The main two classes of drugs used in the treatment of asthma in the clinical setting are ICS and β 2-adrenoceptor agonists (β 2-agonists). Clinical studies have shown that treatment of patients with moderate to severe asthma with a combination of ICS and LABA provides superior benefit compared to treatment with either class of drug alone (364, 365). It is currently unclear whether the superiority of the LABA/ICS combination is due to their complementary mechanisms of action or due to additive or synergistic effects on airway inflammation. The mechanisms of the anti-inflammatory effects of GC have been discussed in detail in chapter 1. By contrast, the potential anti-inflammatory effects of LABA are less well understood, but may involve effects on mast cell stabilisation, plasma exudation or inflammatory cell trafficking, independent of the actions of GC (366). However, there is increasing interest in the interactions between LABA and GC, and a number of observations support the possibility of additive or synergistic effects of these agents on inflammatory gene expression. For example, β 2 agonists caused

117

nuclear translocation and DNA binding of the GR in a fibroblast cell line (367). Furthermore, salmeterol enhanced the ability of dexamethasone to suppress proliferation and cytokine release from allergen-stimulated human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (368). Similar additive effects of LABA and GC on cytokine release were observed in cultured human airway epithelial cells (369) and, in fibroblasts, salmeterol also enhanced the suppressive effect of fluticasone on the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (370).

In keeping with these clinical and laboratory observations, this group has shown previously that GC and β 2-agonists both inhibit TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin and IL-8 release from HASMC and that, when used in combination, the two classes of drug have additive or synergistic effects (154, 203, 224). This is interesting, as it may explain, in part, the clinical observations when these drugs are administered in combination. We have begun to explore the mechanisms involved.

Inflammatory gene expression is regulated at several levels. These include activation of transcription factors (such as NF- κ B) via kinase cascades, binding of transcription factors to specific recognition elements in gene promoters, by chromatin remodelling, and through post-transcriptional modification. As described in chapter 1, transcriptional regulation of genes in their native chromatin environment is highly complex, involving covalent modifications to histone proteins, resulting in a more open chromatin structure, and facilitating binding of transcription factors and their co-factors and activation of transcription. Acetylation of histone proteins is brought about by HATs, and

118

deacetylation by HDACs. Our previous studies showed that TNF- α increased eotaxin release through a transcriptional mechanism. The effects of TNF- α at the eotaxin promoter were largely mediated by the transcription factor NF- κ B, and the mechanism involved acetylation of histone H4 associated with the eotaxin promoter (224). This same study went on to show that the GC, fluticasone propionate (FP) and the LABA salmeterol (salme) inhibited TNF- α -induced p65 binding and histone H4 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter (224). Again, the two drugs in combination had additive effects. However, the mechanisms by which FP and salme repressed histone H4 acetylation, and thereby NF- κ B recruitment to the eotaxin promoter remain unclear. Furthermore, it is not known whether TNF- α alters acetylation status of other histones at the eotaxin promoter, and whether, therefore, part of the effects of FP and salme may be mediated through effects on acetylation status of other histone proteins.

Recently, there has been interest in the roles of HDACs in inflammatory airways diseases including asthma and COPD. In studies of bronchial biopsies of patients with asthma, levels of HDACs 1 and 2 were reduced compared to control subjects, whereas HDAC 2 levels in asthmatic patients treated with ICS were the same as control subjects. Furthermore, total HDAC activity in bronchial biopsies of patients with asthma was also reduced compared to control subjects, and was significantly higher (although still reduced compared to controls) in patients treated with ICS (371). Similar observations were noted in alveolar macrophages isolated from asthmatic patients and normal controls (372). Similarly, HDAC 2 expression and total HDAC activity was reduced in

peripheral lung tissue and alveolar macrophages of patients with COPD compared to normal controls (298). The possibility that targeting HDACs may be of therapeutic potential has been raised by the observation that the existing PDE4 inhibitor, theophylline, used to treat COPD and asthma, increased HDAC activity in bronchial biopsies of patients with asthma, and that the increase in HDAC activity showed a positive correlation with PC_{20} for methacholine and correlated inversely with sputum eosinophilia (373). There is also evidence that, in response to glucocorticoid stimulation, the GR can interact with HDACs to inhibit histone acetylation induced by inflammatory cytokines (220). However, the mechanism through which TNF- α induced histone H4 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter is not fully understood, furthermore, the mechanisms used by FP and salme to reduce histone H4 acetylation and p65 recruitment to the eotaxin promoter are not known. In the experiments described in this chapter we sought to explore these mechanisms in more detail. Using a variety of cellular and molecular assays, we tested the hypotheses that:

- 1. TNF- α causes other histone acetylation events (namely H3 acetylation) at the eotaxin promoter.
- 2. FP and salme modulate TNF- α -stimulated NF- κ B activation.
- 3. TNF- α , FP and salme alter the expression of the key anti-inflammatory HDACs 1 and 2 in HASMC.
- 4. TNF- α , FP and salme alter total HDAC activity in HASMC.

5.2 Experimental protocols

HASMC were grown in 6 well plates (Western blotting experiments, HDAC activity assay), 75cm² flasks (ChIP assay) or 24 well plates (all other experiments) as described in chapter 3. Cells were growth arrested for 24 h prior to each experiment. The principle findings of these studies were confirmed in tissue from three different donors. Subsequent mechanistic studies were performed on cells from one to three donors.

5.2.1 Eotaxin release from HASMC

Human eotaxin release from HASMC was measured using a commercially available ELISA kit (R&D) as described in chapter 3.

5.2.2 Determination of HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA expression by real time polymerase chain reaction.

Real time PCR was carried out as described in chapter 3. Primer sequences used were: HDAC-1 sense, 5'- ACC GGG CAA CGT TAC GAA T-3'; HDAC-1 antisense, 5'- CTA TCA AAG GAC ACG CCA AGT G -3'; HDAC-2 sense, 5'- TCA TTG GAA AAT TGA CAG CAT AGT -3'; HDAC-2 antisense, 5'- CAT GGT GAT GGT GTT GAA GAA G -3'; β 2 microglubulin sense, 5'- GAG TAT GCC TGC CGT GTG-3'; β 2 microglobulin antisense, 5'- AAT CCA AAT GCG GCA TCT-3' (302).

5.2.3 Nuclear extractions for total HDAC activity assay

Nuclear extractions were performed using the NuCLEAR[™] (Sigma) extraction kit according to the manufacturers protocol with some modifications. HASMC

were grown to confluence in 90 mm Petri dishes. One dish was used per condition. Cells were washed twice in ice-cold PBS prior to transfer to microcentrifuge tubes and centrifugation at 450g for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatants were discarded and the cells resuspended in hypotonic lysis buffer (supplied) supplemented with PIC and 1 μ M dithiothreitol (DTT) at a ratio of 5 μ l lysis buffer : 1 μ l packed cell volume. Samples were incubated on ice for 15 min prior to addition of 10% Igepal (6 μ l Igepal to 100 μ l lysate). The lysates were centrifuged at 10,000g for 30 sec at 4°C. The supernatants containing the cytoplasmic fraction were removed and the pellet containing the nuclear fraction supplemented with PIC and 1 μ M DTT (0.66 μ l extraction buffer to 1 μ l packed cell volume) and vortexed for 15 min. The samples were then centrifuged at 20,000g for 5 min at 4°C and the supernatants containing the nuclear fractions snap frozen in liquid nitrogen prior to storage at -70°C until use.

5.2.4 *Histone deacetylase assay*

HDAC assay was performed using a colorimetric assay kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Upstate). HASMC were treated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated. In inhibitor studies, cells were pre-incubated with inhibitors or vehicle for 30 min prior to treatment with TNF- α (10 ng/ml). Following stimulation, nuclear extracts were prepared as described in section 5.2.3. Thirty µg of nuclear extract in a volume of 20 µl was added to 10µl of 2 x HDAC assay buffer (supplied) in duplicate into wells of the supplied 96 well plate and allowed to equilibrate to 37°C. Ten µl of 4 mM HDAC assay

substrate (supplied) was added to each well, the plate mixed and incubated at 37°C for 60 min to allow deacetylation of the colorimetric substrate by HDAC enzymes contained in the test samples. To release the colorimetric molecule from the deacetylated substrate, 20 μ l of activator solution containing 4 μ M trichostatin A (TSA) was added to each well. The plate was mixed and incubated at room temperature for 20 min prior to reading absorbance at 405 nm in a microplate reader (Tecan GENios). A standard curve was generated by serial two-fold dilution of the provided 1 mM HDAC assay standard. The standards were incubated with the test samples and treated identically from addition of activator solution. Twenty μ l of HeLa nuclear extract (supplied), or 20 μ l of HeLa nuclear extract plus TSA were assayed alongside the test samples as positive and negative controls respectively. Results were expressed as absorbance at 450 nm A₄₅₀ (arbitrary units). Effects of drugs (FP, salme) were expressed as percentages of control values.

5.2.5 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay

ChIP assay was performed as described in chapter 3. Primer sequences used to amplify the immunoprecipitated products by PCR were as follows: eotaxin promoter sense: 5'-CTT CAT GTT GGA GGC TGA AG-3'; eotaxin promoter antisense: 5'-GGA TCT GGA ATC TGG TCA GC-3'.

5.2.6 Data analysis

Results were expressed as the means of the individual technical replicates for that experiment. The experiments were repeated at least twice, and the results shown represent group means +/- SE. Absolute eotaxin levels are presented for

the initial concentration response and inhibitor experiments. In subsequent mechanistic studies, the data are expressed as fold increase or percentage of control. The number of independent experiments from which the data are derived is also indicated in the figure legends. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) of the raw data was used to determine statistically significant differences. A p value of <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 TNF- α stimulates the release of eotaxin from cultured HASMC

We first studied the effect of TNF- α on eotaxin release from HASMC. HASMC were stimulated for 24 h with 0 – 100 ng/ml TNF- α . TNF- α concentration-dependently stimulated eotaxin release from HASMC (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1. Effect of TNF- α on eotaxin release from HASMC. HASMC were incubated for 24 h with TNF- α at the concentrations indicated. TNF- α caused a concentration-dependent increase in eotaxin release from HASMC (p<0.001). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 8 replicates in 3 independent experiments performed on cells from 3 different primary donors.

5.3.2 Fluticasone and salmeterol inhibit TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin release

We next studied the effect of the glucocorticoid fluticasone propionate (FP) and the long-acting beta agonist salmeterol (salme) on TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin release. Both FP (10⁻⁷ and 10⁻⁶ M) and salme (10⁻⁷ and 10⁻⁶ M) inhibited TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin release (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2. Fluticasone (FP, 10^{-7} and 10^{-6} M) and salmeterol (Salme, 10^{-7} and 10^{-6} M) significantly inhibited eotaxin release from cells stimulated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml). ## p < 0.01 compared with unstimulated (control) cells. * p< 0.05, ** p < 0.01 compared with TNF- α -stimulated cells. Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 9 replicates in 3 independent experiments.

5.3.3 TNF- α does not cause acetylation of histone H3 associated with the eotaxin promoter

Previous work the Knox group has shown that TNF- α increases histone H4 acetylation and thence p65 recruitment to the eotaxin promoter and that FP and salme downregulate H4 acetylation and p65 binding. The mechanisms by which FP and salme reduce p65 binding are not clear. We initially sought to determine, by ChIP, whether other histones, namely histone H3 associated with the eotaxin promoter were acetylated in response to TNF- α . However, we found that TNF- α had no effect on H3 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter (Figure 5.3). Since the lack of upregulation of histone H3 acetylation makes it unlikely that FP and salme were exerting their effects on p65 binding through effects on H3 acetylation, we did not explore this further.



Figure 5.3. ChIP assay, with accompanying densitometry, showing effect of TNF- α on histone H3 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter. HASMC were treated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated. The density of the immunoprecipitated band (IP) was normalised to that of the input control at the same time point, and expressed as fold increase over time zero. Representative gel from one of two independent experiments.

5.3.4 TNF- α stimulates NF- κ B reporter activity in HASMC: fluticasone and salmeterol do not alter this response

Since our previous studies showed that FP and salme down-regulated TNF- α induced NF- κ B p65 binding to the eotaxin promoter, we went on to study the effect of TNF- α , FP and salme on a transiently transfected NF- κ B reporter construct. TNF- α (10 ng/ml, 6 h) concentration-dependently stimulated NF- κ B reporter activity in HASMC (Figure 5.4). However, FP and salme had no effect on TNF- α -stimulated NF- κ B reporter activity (Figures 5.5 and 5.6), suggesting that the effect of these drugs on p65 binding to the eotaxin promoter is not through altering NF- κ B activation.



Figure 5.4. Concentration response of TNF- α -stimulated NF- κ B reporter activity. HASMC were transiently transfected with an NF- κ B reporter construct and stimulated with TNF- α for 6 h at the concentrations indicated. TNF- α concentration-dependently stimulated NF- κ B reporter activity (p<0.001). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 12 determinates in 3 independent experiments.



Figure 5.5. Fluticasone had no effect on TNF- α -stimulated NF- κ B reporter activity when cells were stimulated with a sub-maximal concentration of TNF- α (1 ng/ml). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 20 determinates in 5 independent experiments. *** p < 0.001 compared to unstimulated (control) cells. Overall p for effect of fluticasone = 0.425.



Figure 5.6. Salmeterol had no effect on TNF- α -stimulated NF- κ B reporter activity when cells were stimulated with a sub-maximal concentration of TNF- α (1 ng/ml). Each bar represents group mean (SE) derived from 12 determinates in 3 independent experiments. *** p < 0.001 compared to unstimulated (control) cells. Overall p for effect of salmeterol = 0.269.

5.3.5 TNF- α does not affect HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels

Alterations in histone acetylation and transcription factor recruitment may be brought about by altered global HDAC or HAT activity, altered HDAC or HAT expression, or altered recruitment of specific HATs or HDACs to the gene promoter. We therefore went on to study the effect of TNF- α (10 ng/ml) on total HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels. We quantified HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels by qRT-PCR. HDAC mRNA levels were normalised to the housekeeping gene β 2-microglobulin (β 2M). We found that there was a decay of HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels over the 24 h studied, but there was no significant difference between control (unstimulated) and TNF- α -stimulated cells (Figures 5.7 and 5.8 respectively).



Figure 5.7. Effect of TNF- α (10 ng/ml) on HDAC 1 mRNA levels. There was a time-dependent decay in HDAC 1 mRNA levels but no differences were observed between control and TNF- α -stimulated cells (p=0.15). Each bar represents mean (SE) derived from 4 independent experiments.



Figure 5.8. Effect of TNF- α (10 ng/ml) on HDAC 2 mRNA levels. There was a time-dependent decay in HDAC 2 mRNA levels but no differences were observed between control and TNF- α -stimulated cells (p=0.76). Each bar represents mean (SE) derived from 4 independent experiments.
5.3.6 TNF- α does not affect HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels

As there were no differences in HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels between control and TNF- α -stimulated cells, we speculated that TNF- α may alter levels of HDAC expression at the protein level. HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels were therefore studied by Western blot of whole cell lysates (Figures 5.9 and 5.10 respectively). There was no change in HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels in response to TNF- α stimulation over the time course studied.



Figure 5.9. TNF- α (10 ng/ml) had no effect on total HDAC 1 protein levels by Western blotting. Representative blots from one of two independent experiments.



Figure 5.10. TNF- α (10 ng/ml) had no effect on total HDAC 2 protein levels by Western blotting. Representative blots from one of two independent experiments.

5.3.7 Fluticasone and salmeterol do not affect HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels

Since our group's previous studies have shown that FP and salme downregulate TNF- α -stimulated H4 acetylation and p65 recruitment to the eotaxin promoter (224), but our NF- κ B reporter gene assays suggested that this was not due to an effect on TNF- α stimulated NF- κ B activation (Figures 5.5 and 5.6), we hypothesised that FP and salme's effects may be mediated through altered levels of HDAC expression. We were most interested in their effects under TNF- α -stimulated conditions, since the aim of these experiments was to determine the mechanism by which these drugs altered TNF- α -stimulated H4 acetylation and p65 recruitment to the exotaxin promoter. However, since TNF- α itself did not affect levels of HDAC 1 and 2 expression, we also tested the effects of FP and salme on unstimulated cells. We found that FP and salme at 1 μ M had no effect on HDAC 1 and 2 levels in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated cells (Figures 5.11 to 5.14).



Figure 5.11. Fluticasone $(1 \ \mu M)$ had no effect on total HDAC 1 protein levels in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated cells. Representative blots from one of two independent experiments.



Figure 5.12. Fluticasone $(1 \ \mu M)$ had no effect on total HDAC 2 protein levels in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated cells. Representative blots from one of two independent experiments.



Figure 5.13. Salmeterol $(1 \ \mu M)$ had no effect on total HDAC 1 protein levels in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated cells. Representative blots from one of two independent experiments.



Figure 5.14. Salmeterol $(1 \ \mu M)$ had no effect on total HDAC 2 protein levels in either unstimulated or TNF- α stimulated cells. Representative blots from one of two independent experiments.

5.3.8 TNF- α does not alter total HDAC activity

Since TNF- α had no effect on levels of HDAC 1 and 2 at either the mRNA or protein level, we hypothesised that TNF- α might increase HDAC activity without modifying mRNA/protein levels. To test this hypothesis we measured HDAC activity using a commercially available assay. HASMC were incubated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated. TNF- α had no effect on total HDAC activity over the time course studied (Figure 5.15).



Figure 5.15 Effect of TNF- α on global HDAC activity in HASMC. HASMC were stimulated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml) for the times indicated. Nuclear extracts were assayed for total HDAC activity, measured by colorimetric assay as absorbance at 450 nm (A₄₅₀). TNF- α had no effect on total HDAC activity in HASMC. Each bar represents mean (SE) derived from 4 independent experiments.

5.3.9 Fluticasone and salmeterol do not affect total HDAC activity

Similarly, since FP and salme had no effect on levels of HDAC protein expression, we speculated that these drugs may alter total HDAC activity. However, FP and salme had no effect on total HDAC activity in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated conditions at 4 and 24 h (Figures 5.16 and 5.17).



Figure 5.16 Effect of salmeterol $(1 \ \mu M)$ and fluticasone $(1 \ \mu M)$ on total HDAC activity in unstimulated HASMC. Cells were incubated for 4 or 24 h in the presence of salmeterol or fluticasone. Salmeterol and fluticasone had no effect on total HDAC activity. Each bar represents mean (SE) derived from 2 independent experiments.



Figure 5.17 Effect of salmeterol $(1 \ \mu M)$ and fluticasone $(1 \mu M)$ on total HDAC activity in TNF- α stimulated HASMC. Cells were pre-incubated for 30 min with vehicle, salmeterol or fluticasone then stimulated for 4 or 24 h with TNF- α (10 ng/ml). Salmeterol and fluticasone had no effect on total HDAC activity. Each bar represents mean (SE) derived from 2 independent experiments.

5.4 Discussion

The human eotaxin promoter has been cloned and a number of putative regulatory elements identified, including binding sites for C/EBP, AP-1, NFκB and STAT-6 (374-376). Eotaxin gene regulation is predominantly mediated by NF-kB and STAT-6, in a tissue- and stimulus-specific manner. In human airway epithelial cells, NF- κ B mediates TNF- α -induced transcription, whereas IL-4-stimulated transcription is mediated by STAT-6. Neither stimulus promoted binding of C/EBP or AP-1 to eotaxin promoter elements (376). In contrast, in fibroblasts, TNF- α -induced eotaxin transcription is mediated by both NF-kB and STAT-6 (377). In previous studies from this group, the mechanism of TNF- α -induced eotaxin expression was explored in more detail in HASMC. We found that TNF- α regulated eotaxin expression transcriptionally and, furthermore, TNF- α 's effects were predominantly mediated by NF- κ B. TNF- α promoted binding of NF- κ B p65 to the eotaxin promoter and acetylation of histone H4 associated with the eotaxin promoter (224).

We have previously shown that TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin release from HASMC is modulated by FP and salme (203). Subsequent studies showed that TNF- α regulates eotaxin transcriptionally and that FP and salme inhibit TNF- α -induced eotaxin transactivation. Furthermore, *in vivo* ChIP studies showed that FP and salme repressed TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin transcription through inhibition of histone H4 acetylation and p65 binding at the eotaxin promoter (224). In this study we set out to determine the mechanisms by which FP and

139

salme might modulate histone acetylation events and NF- κ B-dependent activation of the eotaxin promoter.

We first confirmed the original observations by our group that TNF- α concentration-dependently stimulated eotaxin release from HASMC (Figure 5.1) and that FP and salme significantly inhibited TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin release (Figure 5.2). The results of these experiments were broadly in agreement with the previous reports from our group (203, 224).

We initially turned our attention to histone acetylation events, exploring whether TNF- α affected acetylation of other histone proteins, specifically histone H3, at the eotaxin promoter, by ChIP assay. Although the role of histone H4 acetylation has been studied quite extensively in inflammatory gene regulation (183, 220, 224, 250, 378), histone H3 modifications in association with inflammatory gene promoters are less well studied, although have been described (379-381). We found that TNF- α (10 ng/ml) had no effect on histone H3 acetylation (Figure 5.3). This makes it unlikely that histone H3 acetylation events contribute to FP and salme effects on TNF- α -stimulated p65 recruitment to the eotaxin promoter. We therefore did not pursue this line of enquiry further.

The previous study by Nie *et al* showed that FP and salme inhibited *in vivo* NF- κ B p65 binding to the eotaxin promoter. We therefore went on to determine if the effects of salme and FP were through NF- κ B activation. To do this we transiently transfected HASMC with an NF- κ B luciferase reporter

The advantage of this approach is that it is a relatively construct. straightforward assay system which can give useful information on transcription factors or genes activated or downregulated in response to a particular stimulus. A potential disadvantage is that the transfected vectors lack the chromatin environment of native DNA, so results need to be interpreted with caution, since the lack of a chromatin environment may alter some responses. We found that TNF- α concentration-dependently stimulated the activity of a transiently transfected NF- κ B reporter construct (Figure 5.4). Interestingly, however, FP and salme had no effect on TNF-α-stimulated NFκB reporter activity (Figures 5.5 and 5.6 respectively). As described in chapter 1, the binding of transcription factors and their co-factors to gene promoters, and activation of transcription, involves covalent modifications to histone proteins, promoting a more open chromatin structure. We know from previous studies in our laboratory that FP and salme inhibition of binding of NF-KB to the eotaxin promoter was dependent on the chromatin environment and associated with acetylation of histone H4. It was not seen when EMSA assays were used which lack this chromatin environment (224). The results with the NF-kB reporter assay are probably compatible with this lack of effect of FP and salme, reflecting the lack of a chromatin environment when reporter assays are used. The observation that neither FP nor salme had any effect on TNF- α stimulated NF-kB reporter activity suggests that their effects are not mediated through direct inhibition of NF- κ B or its upstream activating pathway, but that some other, perhaps chromatin-dependent mechanism is involved.

We speculated that the effects of TNF- α on NF- κ B binding and histone H4 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter may be mediated through an effect on histone deacetylase (HDAC) levels. Since HDACs act to remove acetyl groups from acetylated histone proteins, a down-regulation of HDACs might be expected to increase total acetylation at the eotaxin promoter. Further, since transcription factor binding is facilitated by histone acetylation. downregulation of HDACs could also explain the increase in NF-KB binding to the eotaxin promoter in response to TNF- α . The aforementioned studies on bronchial biopsies of patients with asthma (371, 372), would support the hypothesis that alterations in the amounts of HDACs 1 and 2 may be important in promoting inflammatory gene expression in asthma. We therefore studied the effect of TNF- α (10 ng/ml) on total HDAC mRNA and protein levels, focusing our studies on HDAC 1 and 2. We found that there was a decay of HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA levels over the 24 h studied, but there was no difference between control (unstimulated) and TNF- α -stimulated cells (Figures 5.7 and 5.8). HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels were studied by Western blotting (Figures 5.9 and 5.10 respectively). HDACs 1 and 2 belong to the class I HDACs, which are exclusively localised to the nucleus and do not shuttle between nucleus and cytoplasm (382). For this reason we studied their levels in whole cell lysates rather than nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions. There was no change in HDAC 1 and 2 protein levels in response to TNF- α stimulation over the time course studied, suggesting that alterations in levels of HDAC expression are not responsible for the effects of TNF- α on NF- κ B binding and histone acetylation at the eotaxin promoter.

Although TNF- α had no effect on HDAC 1 and 2 levels, we hypothesised that FP and/or salme may upregulate total HDAC 1 and 2 levels, which may explain the effects of these drugs on H4 acetylation and NF- κ B binding at the eotaxin promoter. As our experiments with TNF- α alone had shown no effect on HDAC 1 and 2 levels, but any effect of FP or salme would be most relevant in TNF- α stimulated cells (since we were interested in effects on the eotaxin promoter under stimulated conditions), we performed the experiments in both unstimulated and TNF- α -stimulated cells. We found that FP and salme at 1 μ M, concentrations that this group has previously shown reduce acetylation of H4 and NF- κ B binding at the eotaxin promoter (224), had no effect on HDAC 1 and 2 levels in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated cells (Figures 5.11 to 5.14).

In some of the Western blots depicting HDAC1 levels under various conditions and at various time points, a second, slightly lower molecular weight band was observed. This band was also noted in the other experiments of which the data presented are representative. This second band did not have a consistent relationship to time, presence or absence of TNF- α or presence or absence of fluticasone. It most likely represents a non-specific band with a similar molecular weight to HDAC-1. To our knowledge, HDAC1 is not expressed as splice variants. An alternative explanation may be post-transcriptional modification of HDAC-1, which is subject to various of these, including phosphorylation, acetylation, sumoylation and ubiquitylation (383). SUMO (small ubiquitin-like modifier) proteins consist of around 100 amino acids, with a molecular weight of approximately 12kDa. Ubiquitin consists of around 76 amino acids, with a molecular weight of around 8.5 kDa. Such modifications would therefore alter the molecular weight of HDAC1 by an amount consistent with the additional band observed in some, but not all of the HDAC1 Western blots. However, these post translational modifications are tightly regulated, having important effects on cellular functions. Thus it is difficult to reconcile this possibility with the inconsistent relationship of the additional band with the various conditions and time points studied, and nonspecific binding remains a more likely explanation.

Despite the lack of effect of TNF- α , FP and salme on HDAC 1 and 2 mRNA or protein levels, it is possible that their effects on histone H4 acetylation and NF- κ B binding to the eotaxin promoter may be mediated through alterations of HDAC activity, particularly as the previously described studies in bronchial biopsies and alveolar macrophages from asthmatic patients showed reduced HDAC activity in these patients compared to normal controls (371, 372). We therefore studied the effects of TNF- α , FP and salme on total HDAC activity in HASMC. TNF- α had no effect on HDAC activity in HASMC (Figure 5.15). This contrasts with the findings of Keslacy *et al*, who found an increase in total HDAC activity in HASMC stimulated with TNF- α (384). We are unsure why this should be the case, since the conditions for preparation, culture and treatment of HASMC used in our laboratory were very similar to those described by Keslacy *et al*. Similarly, FP and salme had no effect on HDAC activity in either unstimulated or TNF- α -stimulated conditions (Figures 5.16 and 5.17). In summary, taken together, these data suggest that the mechanisms by which TNF- α , FP and salme bring about their effects on histone H4 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter is not through alterations in HDAC levels or activity. Furthermore, since TNF- α had no effect on histone H3 acetlylation at the eotaxin promoter, it is unlikely that alterations in histone H3 acetylation contribute to FP and salme's effects on p65 recruitment to the eotaxin promoter. This begs the question, what other mechanisms may be responsible for the effects of FP and salme?

We focused our studies on HDACs 1 and 2 as these have been shown to have altered levels in inflammatory lung diseases (298, 371). However, it is possible that alterations in levels of other HDACs may have been responsible. An alternative explanation is that FP and salme either inhibit recruitment of essential HATs to the eotaxin promoter, or promote recruitment of counterregulatory HDACs. A recently published study by this group demonstrated that TNF- α increased p300 and pCAF recruitment to the eotaxin promoter (228). It would be interesting to extend these studies to determine whether FP or salme modulate TNF- α -stimulated p300 or PCAF recruitment. Similarly, ChIP assays could be employed to study the association of HDACs with the eotaxin promoter, and whether their association is up- or downregulated by TNF- α /FP/salme. There is certainly evidence from coimmunoprecipitation studies in A549 transformed alveolar epithelial cells that another GC, dexamethasone, in association with the GR, can recruit HDAC 2 to the activated p65/CBP complex. This observation was associated with an inhibition of IL-1 β -induced histone acetylation at the granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor promoter (220).

Salme is a LABA that acts at β -adrenergic receptors at the cell surface to increase intracellular levels of cAMP. Cyclic AMP activates cAMP-responsive genes through binding of cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) to the cAMP response element (CRE). It is possible that the effects of salme are mediated indirectly through induction of cAMP-responsive genes. It is tempting here to draw parallels with the effects of theophylline on HDAC activity since theophylline inhibits PDE4, thus resulting in elevated intracellular cAMP levels. However, the study by Ito *et al* found the effects of theophylline to be independent of PDE4 inhibition (373).

In addition to acetylation of histones, it is now known that other cellular proteins may be targets for both HATs and HDACs. These include transcription factors such as NF- κ B (385), the GR (299) and molecular chaperone proteins critical to normal GR function (386). It would be interesting to determine whether FP or salme alter acetylation status of these other regulatory elements in HASMC, and whether this has any bearing on regulation of inflammatory response genes such as eotaxin.

In conclusion, we have shown that FP and salme do not inhibit TNF- α induced histone H4 acetylation or p65 binding at the eotaxin promoter through alterations in H3 acetylation status, alterations in levels of HDAC 1 and 2 expression, or changes in total HDAC activity. Other possible mechanisms

146

include effects on HAT or HDAC binding to the eotaxin promoter, changes in expression of HDACs other than 1 or 2, or perhaps alterations in acetylation status of other important nuclear regulators. **CHAPTER 6: METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS**

6.1 Introduction

Several methodological considerations relating to the studies presented in this thesis are worthy of mention. These are discussed below.

6.2 Transcriptional regulation

In these studies, we explored transcriptional regulation using real time PCR, assays of transiently transfected reporter genes, and ChIP assays.

6.2.1 Polymerase chain reaction

In chapter 4, in our studies of endothelin receptor expression, we were interested solely in whether HASMC expressed the mRNA for the endothelin receptors, ET_A and ET_B . We therefore used semi-quantitative RT-PCR to demonstrate the presence of ET_AR and ET_BR mRNA. In contrast, in our studies of MCP-1 mRNA expression, we wanted to quantify MCP-1 mRNA levels to determine any changes in expression in response to ET-1. We therefore used quantitative real time reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR) to measure MCP-1 mRNA. With this technique, amplified DNA is quantified as it accumulates in the reaction in real time after each amplification cycle, either through quantification of fluorescent dyes, such as SYBR Green, that intercalate with double-stranded DNA (as used in this study), or fluorescent probes that hybridise to a specific DNA target sequence. This allows for more accurate quantification of transcripts than the semi-quantitative RT-PCR. Potential pitfalls of dye-based qRT-PCR include non-specific amplification and primer dimer formation, particularly at very low target concentrations. In these

studies, dissociation curve analysis was undertaken and no secondary peaks suggestive of primer dimer formation or non-specific products were observed.

6.2.2 Transient transfections

We used FuGene 6 transfection reagent for all transfections. FuGene 6 is a proprietary blend of lipids and other components supplied in 80% ethanol that is said to transfect eukaryotic cells with high efficiency and minimal cytotoxicity (387). We found that this method produced acceptable levels of transfection of plasmid DNA into HASMC, as reflected in detectable levels of luciferase activity, consistently above background levels. A formal quantification of transfection efficiency was not performed. Other methods of transfection include the use of liposomal transfection reagents, such as Lipofectamine (Invitrogen), or the use of nucleofection systems such as that produced by Amaxa. Liposomal reagents probably have similar efficacy to Fugene 6. Indeed, in published studies from this lab we have found similar levels of efficacy using Lipofectamine to transfect HASMC (184). We have some experience in our laboratory of using the Amaxa nucleofection system. This method combines electroporation with a cell-type specific Nucleofector solution, and is useful for those applications that require very high transfection efficiencies, for example gene knock-down protocols utilising small interfering RNA. However, we observed higher levels of cytotoxicity using this method than with standard transfection reagents (LM Corbett, unpublished observations). Furthermore, the Amaxa system is prohibitively expensive for applications such as reporter gene assays, where such high transfection efficiencies are not essential.

150

Reporter gene assays such as those used in this study place a gene with a readily measurable product (in this case, firefly luciferase) under the control of the promoter (or other regulatory sequence) of the target gene of interest. Following transfection of the cells with the reporter plasmid, cells are treated with stimuli and/or drugs/inhibitors of interest. The level of luciferase expression provides a measure of the effect of the treatment on activity of the gene promoter and, by extrapolation, expression of the target gene. Reporter gene assays are a relatively simple, convenient means of studying gene regulation. However, this technique assumes that the process of transfection does not alter the response of the cells to the treatment under study. Furthermore, eukaryotic DNA in its native form exists as chromatin, a complex structure consisting of DNA wound around 4 core histones (H2A, H2B, H3, H4). These histones undergo a number of covalent modifications (acetylation/phosphorylation/methylation) which regulate chromatin unwinding thereby allowing access of transcription factors to their binding sites on DNA, recruitment of essential co-factors and activation of transcription. Since eukaryotic genes are normally regulated, in part, through this "epigenetic" code, and since reporter plasmids lack this chromatin structure, reporter gene assays can only give a partial insight into gene regulation events in vivo.

6.2.3 Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay

In contrast to reporter gene assays, ChIP assays study gene regulation events *"in vivo"* (in this context, *in vivo* refers to DNA in its native environment in the form of chromatin). Following treatment with the stimulus under study, DNA is covalently cross linked to bound proteins (transcription factors, histones, essential cofactors) through a fixing procedure. After shearing the DNA into approximately 500bp fragments, DNA bound to the transcription factor (or other protein) of interest is immunoprecipitated with an antibody directed against the relevant protein. After reversal of the cross links, the target region of interest is amplified by PCR using specific primers spanning the regulatory region of the gene under study. Thus if a stimulus triggers binding of a particular transcription factor to the gene promoter, then the amount of PCR product will be increased. ChIP assays are therefore more physiological than some other techniques used to study gene regulation, such as reporter gene assays and electrophoretic mobility shift assays.

We used ChIP assays in the studies presented in chapters 4 and 5, to study transcription factor binding to the MCP-1 promoter, and to study histone H3 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter in response to TNF- α . Disadvantages of ChIP include the need for large amounts of starting material (two 75cm² flasks of cells per condition in this study) and the number of steps involved in the procedure, which may potentially lead to some loss of sample and therefore some inter-sample variability.

In chapter 4, the magnitude of ET-1's effects on p65 and cJun binding to the MCP-1 promoter, as measured by semi-quantitative PCR and densitometry, is modest. For the ChIP studies, we would ideally have liked to quantify the immunoprecipitated material by qPCR. However, we encountered a number of technical difficulties in optimising the qPRC assay for the region of interest of

the MCP-1 promoter. In ChIP, the quantity of DNA immunoprecipitated is small, thus the amount of starting material for the PCR assay is lower than in some other PCR applications. Although it is important that the reaction efficiency should be as high as practicably possible for all qPCR applications, a high reaction efficiency and specificity is even more critical where the quantity of starting material is very small. This requires the design of effective primers, however, ChIP and qPCR both place certain constraints on primer design. First, for qPCR applications it is best to aim for as short an amplicon as possible (max 200 bp) to ensure efficient denaturation during thermal cycling. Second, in studies of transcription factor binding by ChIP, the region of interest is in the gene promoter, and must span the binding sites for the transcription factors under study. Together, these two constraints limit the region of DNA to which one can design primers to hybridize. Ideally the resulting amplicon should have a GC content of less than 60%, again to ensure efficient denaturation during thermal cycling, yet promoter regions are often GC rich. Within these constraints, using freely available on-line primer design tools (CyberGene), we found that most possible primer pairs that could potentially amplify the region of interest of the MCP-1 promoter had potential for secondary structure (hairpin loop) formation. Despite this, we tested a number of primer pairs, against a standard curve generated through serial dilutions of human genomic DNA (hgDNA) but the resulting qPCR reaction was not sufficiently efficient for accurate quantification of immunoprecipitated products.

We therefore used semi-quantitative PCR to analyse our ChIP data. For each sample, an aliquot of DNA was removed as an input control, prior to addition of antibody (immunoprecipitation step), thus acting as a control for any variability in the total DNA recovered from each sample. Results were then quantified by densitometry of the immunoprecipitated bands, normalised to the corresponding input and compared with time zero (time course experiments) or untreated samples. To confirm that the PCR product generated in the ChIP studies was indeed from the MCP-1 promoter, the band was excised and sequenced. The sequence products aligned with the MCP-1 promoter, with no other hits by NCBI BLAST for the whole human genome, confirming that the PCR product was from the MCP-1 promoter.

Another technique that could have been employed to support the ChIP data is EMSA (electrophoretic mobility shift assay), however this technique suffers from the limitation that transcription factors are binding to synthetic oligonucleotides, not to native DNA in the form of chromatin. Thus EMSA is a less physiological assay than ChIP, meaning that results must be interpreted with caution.

6.3 Receptor studies

In our studies of ET-1-stimulated MCP-1 release in chapter 4, the combination of the presence of mRNA for both ET receptors, and inhibition of ET-1 mediated responses by both ET_A and ET_B receptor antagonists, provides strong evidence of the presence and involvement of both receptor subtypes. To provide further evidence of the presence of both receptors at the protein level,

antibody detection strategies, such as flow cytometry or immunofluoresecence studies could be employed. Although the ET_A and ET_B receptor antagonists were used at concentrations that should be selective for their respective targets (324, 325), to rule out non-selective effects and provide further evidence of the involvement of both receptors, molecular approaches such as knock down of receptor expression with siRNA could have been employed.

6.4 Kinase studies

There are conflicting reports in the literature regarding the selectivity of the kinase inhibitors SB203580, PD98059 and SP600125 for their targets. Whilst the concentrations of inhibitors used have previously been reported to be selective for these pathways (328-331), subsequent studies have suggested that these inhibitors may have non-selective effects in some systems (388). However, we have previously found, in TNF- α -stimulated HASMC, that SB203580 (30 μ M) does not inhibit phosphorylation of p44/p42 MAPK and, similarly, PD98059 (30 μ M) does not inhibit phosphorylation of p38 MAPK, suggesting that these inhibitors are selective for their respective targets in these cells (Clarke DL and Knox AJ, unpublished observations).

Other methods that could have been used to confirm the involvement of these kinases in this pathway include knock-down of kinase effects using, for example, siRNA, or dominant negative studies in which cells are transfected with a vector encoding a non-functional variant of the relevant kinase thereby knocking out the kinase function (389).

No experimental system is 100% physiological, and all have their shortcomings. The studies presented in this thesis were performed with the methodological considerations discussed above in mind. For this reason, we have used a range of techniques in our mechanistic studies (eg transient transfections as well as ChIP assays for studies of transcriptional regulation). Consequently, the conclusions drawn from those studies and presented here are, we feel, valid and strongly supported by the data presented. **CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES**

7.1 Conclusions

The purpose of these studies was to explore the mechanisms of inflammatory response gene regulation in HASMC by mediators and cytokines important in asthmatic airway inflammation. Specifically, we aimed to identify common pathways onto which multiple inflammatory pathways converge, that may be targets for future drug development for asthma. We studied ET-1 and TNF- α as examples of an important inflammatory mediator and cytokine respectively, and focused on regulation of chemokine expression, using the two important chemokines MCP-1 and eotaxin as examples.

We chose primary HASMC for our studies. These cells secrete a variety of biologically active substances important in asthmatic airway inflammation and remodelling. They express receptors for cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , as well as G-protein coupled receptors for many inflammatory mediators (178). They are thus a useful model system to study regulation of these pathways and, as primary cells, are more physiologically representative than transformed cell lines.

The main findings of these studies were that ET-1 regulates MCP-1 release from HASMC transcriptionally, by activating the MCP-1 promoter through binding of the pro-inflammatory transcription factors NF- κ B and AP-1. ET-1's effects were mediated via ET_A and ET_B receptors, and the downstream signalling pathway involved p38 and p44/p42 MAP kinases. Similarly, the effects of TNF- α on eotaxin expression were also NF- κ B-dependent. NF- κ Bdependent eotaxin expression in response to TNF- α has been previously shown to involve histone H4 acetylation at the eotaxin promoter (224). In these studies, we found that TNF- α -mediated eotaxin release did not involve acetylation of histone H3 at the eotaxin promoter, and that alterations in the levels of HDACs 1 and 2, or of total HDAC activity, did not account for TNF- α effects on H4 acetylation. Further, that although FP and salme downregulate H4 acetylation and NF- κ B p65 binding, this also was not mediated by changes in HDAC levels or activity.

These findings are novel, in that although there are isolated reports of ET-1 increasing MCP-1 production in endothelial and mesangial cells (241, 334), the mechanisms used by ET-1 to up-regulate MCP-1 expression have not been studied in any biological system. This is also one of very few studies that have demonstrated *in vivo* binding of transcription factors to inflammatory gene promoters in response to GPCR-activating mediators. Similarly, the mechanisms regulating modulation of NF- κ B binding and histone acetylation in response to TNF- α at the eotaxin promoter have not been previously investigated.

The findings of these studies have implications for understanding the pathophysiology of asthma. There is an emerging body of evidence that the myriad of intracellular signalling events triggered by inflammatory mediators and cytokines may converge on a small number of downstream pathways that are key to the inflammatory response. These potential "key players" include the MAP kinase pathways (390) and the NF- κ B-activating pathway (277). ET-1 is found in elevated levels in the asthmatic airway and, as discussed in

chapter 1, plays a significant role in airway inflammation and bronchoconstriction in asthma. However, it is generally accepted that the vast numbers of cytokines and mediators at play in the asthmatic airway leads to a complex network of overlapping inflammatory responses; this explains why single mediator approaches to treating asthma (using drugs targeting, for example, histamine or leukotriene-mediated pathways) have limited efficacy. This has stimulated the research effort aimed at identifying the "key players" referred to above. We showed that ET-1 stimulates MCP-1 release via p38 and p44/p42 MAPK, enzymes known to also mediate a number of cytokine-driven responses (217). Such findings suggest that targeting MAP kinases may be of benefit in the management of inflammatory diseases such as asthma. There is evidence from animal models that such a strategy may be beneficial (391).

Like TNF- α -mediated eotaxin release, we found that NF- κ B was involved in the transcriptional regulation of MCP-1 by ET-1. AP-1 was also involved in this response. This is interesting, as it adds to the body of evidence showing that these two particular transcription factors are key regulators of multiple inflammatory responses (277, 278). The NF- κ B pathway in particular has been the subject of intense study, and inhibition of this pathway has been shown to reduce inflammation and the late asthmatic response in animal models (361).

Although we did not explore potential synergistic effects in these studies, the fact that TNF- α and ET-1 can both activate common pathways such as the MAP kinases and NF- κ B suggests that they may be able to synergise to further increase inflammatory responses, when present together in the complex

inflammatory milieu of the asthmatic airway. This further supports the concept that targeting these common pathways may be beneficial in treating human disease.

Recently, there has been increasing interest in the role in inflammatory gene regulation of chromatin remodelling and the regulatory proteins that bring this about. Histone acetylation has received the most attention in this context. Cytokines are known to promote histone acetylation at the promoters of a number of inflammatory response genes, including acetylation of histone H4 at the eotaxin promoter by TNF- α (183, 220, 224). In these studies, we have explored this mechanism in more detail, finding that levels of HDAC1 and 2 expression and global HDAC activity were not the responsible mechanisms. Furthermore, alterations in HDAC expression/activity were not responsible for the effects of FP and salme on TNF- α -stimulated eotaxin expression. These studies suggest that targeting HDACs therapeutically may not be the most effective anti-inflammatory strategy, although it would be important to explore whether HDACs are key to regulating other inflammatory response genes before discounting them as potential therapeutic targets.

In conclusion, we have delineated the signalling pathway used by ET-1 to increase MCP-1 expression in HASMC. We have found that this pathway shares some common features with cytokine-mediated signalling, in particular that of TNF- α . We have extended earlier studies to characterise the mechanisms by which TNF- α , GC and LABA modulate transcriptional regulation at the eotaxin promoter, and shown that HDACs do not mediate

161

these events. These studies are likely to be of relevance to the understanding and treatment of asthmatic airway inflammation.

7.2 Suggestions for future studies

As discussed in chapter 1, nuclear signalling by mediators acting at GPCRs is less well characterised than cytokine-mediated signalling. Our studies with ET-1 therefore focused on intracellular signalling cascades, promoter activation and binding of transcription factors to the MCP-1 promoter. It would be interesting to extend these studies in the future to determine whether activation of transcription at the MCP-1 promoter by ET-1 involves HATmediated chromatin remodelling events similar to those seen with TNF- α (222-224). HATs and HDACs have been proposed as exciting new targets for future asthma treatments (382), and further characterising their roles in inflammatory gene regulation will be important in clarifying which of these are the key regulatory proteins in asthmatic airway inflammation.

In contrast to GPCR-mediated signalling, studies of nuclear signalling by cytokines are at a more advanced stage. Our studies with TNF- α therefore focused more on chromatin remodelling events. Although we showed that global HDAC activity and total HDAC1 and 2 levels were not responsible for the effects of TNF- α , FP and salme at the eotaxin promoter, it is possible that alterations in HDAC recruitment to the eotaxin promoter and thence changes in promoter acetylation status may be responsible. ChIP assays could be used to explore this possibility.

In our studies of MCP-1 regulation by ET-1, we used inhibitor studies to show that MAP kinases were involved in the signalling pathway. Although we have data from our lab to show that these inhibitors are selective, at the concentrations used, for their respective targets in HASMC (Clarke DL and Knox AJ, unpublished observations), it would strengthen our observations to confirm these findings using molecular strategies such as siRNA or dominant negative kinases. It would also be of interest to delineate the signalling cascades in more detail. Our studies suggested that ET-1 activates AP-1 by a JNK-independent mechanism in these cells. This is a recognised (352, 353), but not commonly reported phenomenon, and it would be interesting to know exactly which upstream kinases were responsible. It would also be appealing to determine whether, like TNF- α -mediated events, steroids and LABA can alter the expression of MCP-1 in response to ET-1, and to explore the mechanisms involved.

Finally, our studies were performed in HASMC derived from non-asthmatic donors. As discussed in section 1.4.6, a number of functional differences have been identified between cells derived from normal and asthmatic donors. The phenomena described in this thesis are worthy of study in asthmatic cells. It is possible that there are significant differences that may be of pathophysiological relevance. Comparative studies in asthmatic cells would give the most accurate assessment of the relevance of the effects we describe here.

APPENDIX: CELL VIABILITY STUDIES

The effect on cell viability of the stimulants and inhibitors used in these studies was assessed by MTT assay. In all of the following figures, MTT assay was performed after 24 h treatment with stimulants/inhibitors. Optical densities were read at 550 nm in a microplate reader. Viability was compared to that of control cells, with viability of controls defined as 100%. Cell viability with all chemicals/inhibitors used in this study was greater than 90% of that of control cells as shown in the following figures.



Figure A.1 Effect of Bosentan on HASMC viability



Figure A.2 Effect of BQ123 and BQ788 on HASMC viability



Figure A.3 Effect of SB203580, PD98059 and Wortmannin on HASMC viability



Figure A.4 Effect of SP600125 on HASMC viability



Figure A.5 Effect of LY294002 on HASMC viability


Figure A.6 Effect of ET-1 (10 ng/ml), Act D (5µg/ml) and ET-1 and Act D in combination on HASMC viability



Figure A.7 Effect of TPCA-1 on HASMC viability

REFERENCES

- 1. Asthma UK. 2005. Where Do We Stand? <u>http://www.asthma.org.uk/search_clicks.rm?id=92&destinationtype=2</u> <u>&instanceid=56327</u>.
- 2. Larche, M., S. J. Till, B. M. Haselden, J. North, J. Barkans, C. J. Corrigan, A. B. Kay, and D. S. Robinson. 1998. Costimulation through CD86 is involved in airway antigen-presenting cell and T cell responses to allergen in atopic asthmatics. *J Immunol* 161:6375-6382.
- 3. van Rijt, L. S., N. Vos, M. Willart, A. Kleinjan, A. J. Coyle, H. C. Hoogsteden, and B. N. Lambrecht. 2004. Essential role of dendritic cell CD80/CD86 costimulation in the induction, but not reactivation, of TH2 effector responses in a mouse model of asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 114:166-173.
- 4. Borish, L. C., and J. W. Steinke. 2003. 2. Cytokines and chemokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 111:S460-475.
- 5. Holgate, S. T. 2008. Pathogenesis of asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 38:872-897.
- Kuipers, H., C. Heirman, D. Hijdra, F. Muskens, M. Willart, S. van Meirvenne, K. Thielemans, H. C. Hoogsteden, and B. N. Lambrecht. 2004. Dendritic cells retrovirally overexpressing IL-12 induce strong Th1 responses to inhaled antigen in the lung but fail to revert established Th2 sensitization. *J Leukoc Biol* 76:1028-1038.
- 7. Robinson, D. S., Q. Hamid, S. Ying, A. Tsicopoulos, J. Barkans, A. M. Bentley, C. Corrigan, S. R. Durham, and A. B. Kay. 1992. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. *N Engl J Med* 326:298-304.
- 8. Afshar, R., B. D. Medoff, and A. D. Luster. 2008. Allergic asthma: a tale of many T cells. *Clin Exp Allergy* 38:1847-1857.
- Berry, M. A., D. Parker, N. Neale, L. Woodman, A. Morgan, P. Monk, P. Bradding, A. J. Wardlaw, I. D. Pavord, and C. E. Brightling. 2004. Sputum and bronchial submucosal IL-13 expression in asthma and eosinophilic bronchitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 114:1106-1109.
- Humbert, M., S. R. Durham, P. Kimmitt, N. Powell, B. Assoufi, R. Pfister, G. Menz, A. B. Kay, and C. J. Corrigan. 1997. Elevated expression of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding IL-13 in the bronchial mucosa of atopic and nonatopic subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 99:657-665.
- Saha, S. K., M. A. Berry, D. Parker, S. Siddiqui, A. Morgan, R. May, P. Monk, P. Bradding, A. J. Wardlaw, I. D. Pavord, and C. E. Brightling. 2008. Increased sputum and bronchial biopsy IL-13 expression in severe asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 121:685-691.

- 12. Wills-Karp, M., J. Luyimbazi, X. Xu, B. Schofield, T. Y. Neben, C. L. Karp, and D. D. Donaldson. 1998. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. *Science* 282:2258-2261.
- 13. Gavett, S. H., X. Chen, F. Finkelman, and M. Wills-Karp. 1994. Depletion of murine CD4+ T lymphocytes prevents antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity and pulmonary eosinophilia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 10:587-593.
- 14. Cembrzynska-Nowak, M., E. Szklarz, A. D. Inglot, and J. A. Teodorczyk-Injeyan. 1993. Elevated release of tumor necrosis factoralpha and interferon-gamma by bronchoalveolar leukocytes from patients with bronchial asthma. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 147:291-295.
- 15. Truyen, E., L. Coteur, E. Dilissen, L. Overbergh, L. J. Dupont, J. L. Ceuppens, and D. M. Bullens. 2006. Evaluation of airway inflammation by quantitative Th1/Th2 cytokine mRNA measurement in sputum of asthma patients. *Thorax* 61:202-208.
- Huang, T. J., P. A. MacAry, P. Eynott, A. Moussavi, K. C. Daniel, P. W. Askenase, D. M. Kemeny, and K. F. Chung. 2001. Allergen-specific Th1 cells counteract efferent Th2 cell-dependent bronchial hyperresponsiveness and eosinophilic inflammation partly via IFN-gamma. *J Immunol* 166:207-217.
- 17. Cohn, L., R. J. Homer, N. Niu, and K. Bottomly. 1999. T helper 1 cells and interferon gamma regulate allergic airway inflammation and mucus production. *J Exp Med* 190:1309-1318.
- De Bie, J. J., E. H. Jonker, P. A. Henricks, J. Hoevenaars, F. F. Little, W. W. Cruikshank, F. P. Nijkamp, and A. J. Van Oosterhout. 2002. Exogenous interleukin-16 inhibits antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity, eosinophilia and Th2-type cytokine production in mice. *Clin Exp Allergy* 32:1651-1658.
- Krug, N., V. J. Erpenbeck, K. Balke, J. Petschallies, T. Tschernig, J. M. Hohlfeld, and H. Fabel. 2001. Cytokine profile of bronchoalveolar lavage-derived CD4(+), CD8(+), and gammadelta T cells in people with asthma after segmental allergen challenge. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 25:125-131.
- Boguniewicz, M., R. J. Martin, D. Martin, U. Gibson, A. Celniker, M. Williams, and D. Y. Leung. 1995. The effects of nebulized recombinant interferon-gamma in asthmatic airways. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 95:133-135.
- Hartl, D., B. Koller, A. T. Mehlhorn, D. Reinhardt, T. Nicolai, D. J. Schendel, M. Griese, and S. Krauss-Etschmann. 2007. Quantitative and functional impairment of pulmonary CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in pediatric asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 119:1258-1266.

- 22. Akdis, M., J. Verhagen, A. Taylor, F. Karamloo, C. Karagiannidis, R. Crameri, S. Thunberg, G. Deniz, R. Valenta, H. Fiebig, C. Kegel, R. Disch, C. B. Schmidt-Weber, K. Blaser, and C. A. Akdis. 2004. Immune responses in healthy and allergic individuals are characterized by a fine balance between allergen-specific T regulatory 1 and T helper 2 cells. *J Exp Med* 199:1567-1575.
- Ling, E. M., T. Smith, X. D. Nguyen, C. Pridgeon, M. Dallman, J. Arbery, V. A. Carr, and D. S. Robinson. 2004. Relation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell suppression of allergen-driven T-cell activation to atopic status and expression of allergic disease. *Lancet* 363:608-615.
- 24. Lee, J. H., H. H. Yu, L. C. Wang, Y. H. Yang, Y. T. Lin, and B. L. Chiang. 2007. The levels of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in paediatric patients with allergic rhinitis and bronchial asthma. *Clin Exp Immunol* 148:53-63.
- 25. Strickland, D. H., P. A. Stumbles, G. R. Zosky, L. S. Subrata, J. A. Thomas, D. J. Turner, P. D. Sly, and P. G. Holt. 2006. Reversal of airway hyperresponsiveness by induction of airway mucosal CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 203:2649-2660.
- 26. Kearley, J., J. E. Barker, D. S. Robinson, and C. M. Lloyd. 2005. Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent. *J Exp Med* 202:1539-1547.
- 27. Stockinger, B., and M. Veldhoen. 2007. Differentiation and function of Th17 T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 19:281-286.
- 28. He, R., M. K. Oyoshi, H. Jin, and R. S. Geha. 2007. Epicutaneous antigen exposure induces a Th17 response that drives airway inflammation after inhalation challenge. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:15817-15822.
- 29. Laan, M., J. Lotvall, K. F. Chung, and A. Linden. 2001. IL-17-induced cytokine release in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: role of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases. *Br J Pharmacol* 133:200-206.
- 30. Bullens, D. M., E. Truyen, L. Coteur, E. Dilissen, P. W. Hellings, L. J. Dupont, and J. L. Ceuppens. 2006. IL-17 mRNA in sputum of asthmatic patients: linking T cell driven inflammation and granulocytic influx? *Respir Res* 7:135.
- Nurieva, R., X. O. Yang, G. Martinez, Y. Zhang, A. D. Panopoulos, L. Ma, K. Schluns, Q. Tian, S. S. Watowich, A. M. Jetten, and C. Dong. 2007. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. *Nature* 448:480-483.

- 32. Wolk, K., and R. Sabat. 2006. Interleukin-22: a novel T- and NK-cell derived cytokine that regulates the biology of tissue cells. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 17:367-380.
- Akbari, O., J. L. Faul, E. G. Hoyte, G. J. Berry, J. Wahlstrom, M. Kronenberg, R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu. 2006. CD4+ invariant T-cell-receptor+ natural killer T cells in bronchial asthma. N Engl J Med 354:1117-1129.
- 34. Akbari, O., P. Stock, E. Meyer, M. Kronenberg, S. Sidobre, T. Nakayama, M. Taniguchi, M. J. Grusby, R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu. 2003. Essential role of NKT cells producing IL-4 and IL-13 in the development of allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity. *Nat Med* 9:582-588.
- 35. Lisbonne, M., S. Diem, A. de Castro Keller, J. Lefort, L. M. Araujo, P. Hachem, J. M. Fourneau, S. Sidobre, M. Kronenberg, M. Taniguchi, P. Van Endert, M. Dy, P. Askenase, M. Russo, B. B. Vargaftig, A. Herbelin, and M. C. Leite-de-Moraes. 2003. Cutting edge: invariant V alpha 14 NKT cells are required for allergen-induced airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in an experimental asthma model. J Immunol 171:1637-1641.
- Vijayanand, P., G. Seumois, C. Pickard, R. M. Powell, G. Angco, D. Sammut, S. D. Gadola, P. S. Friedmann, and R. Djukanovic. 2007. Invariant natural killer T cells in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med* 356:1410-1422.
- 37. Thomas, S. Y., C. M. Lilly, and A. D. Luster. 2006. Invariant natural killer T cells in bronchial asthma. *N Engl J Med* 354:2613-2616; author reply 2613-2616.
- Das, J., P. Eynott, R. Jupp, A. Bothwell, L. Van Kaer, Y. Shi, and G. Das. 2006. Natural killer T cells and CD8+ T cells are dispensable for T cell-dependent allergic airway inflammation. *Nat Med* 12:1345-1346; author reply 1347.
- 39. Cho, S. H., L. A. Stanciu, S. T. Holgate, and S. L. Johnston. 2005. Increased interleukin-4, interleukin-5, and interferon-gamma in airway CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in atopic asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 171:224-230.
- 40. Miyahara, N., K. Takeda, T. Kodama, A. Joetham, C. Taube, J. W. Park, S. Miyahara, A. Balhorn, A. Dakhama, and E. W. Gelfand. 2004. Contribution of antigen-primed CD8+ T cells to the development of airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation is associated with IL-13. *J Immunol* 172:2549-2558.
- 41. Hamzaoui, A., N. Chaouch, H. Grairi, J. Ammar, and K. Hamzaoui. 2005. Inflammatory process of CD8+ CD28- T cells in induced sputum from asthmatic patients. *Mediators Inflamm* 2005:160-166.

- 42. van Rensen, E. L., J. K. Sont, C. E. Evertse, L. N. Willems, T. Mauad,
 P. S. Hiemstra, and P. J. Sterk. 2005. Bronchial CD8 cell infiltrate and lung function decline in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 172:837-841.
- 43. O'Sullivan, S. M. 2005. Asthma death, CD8+ T cells, and viruses. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 2:162-165.
- Brightling, C. E., A. J. Ammit, D. Kaur, J. L. Black, A. J. Wardlaw, J. M. Hughes, and P. Bradding. 2005. The CXCL10/CXCR3 axis mediates human lung mast cell migration to asthmatic airway smooth muscle. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 171:1103-1108.
- 45. Plante, S., A. Semlali, P. Joubert, E. Bissonnette, M. Laviolette, Q. Hamid, and J. Chakir. 2006. Mast cells regulate procollagen I (alpha 1) production by bronchial fibroblasts derived from subjects with asthma through IL-4/IL-4 delta 2 ratio. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 117:1321-1327.
- 46. Berger, P., D. W. Perng, H. Thabrew, S. J. Compton, J. A. Cairns, A. R. McEuen, R. Marthan, J. M. Tunon De Lara, and A. F. Walls. 2001. Tryptase and agonists of PAR-2 induce the proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells. *J Appl Physiol* 91:1372-1379.
- 47. Wilson, S. J., J. K. Shute, S. T. Holgate, P. H. Howarth, and P. Bradding. 2000. Localization of interleukin (IL) -4 but not IL-5 to human mast cell secretory granules by immunoelectron microscopy. *Clin Exp Allergy* 30:493-500.
- 48. Bradding, P., Y. Okayama, P. H. Howarth, M. K. Church, and S. T. Holgate. 1995. Heterogeneity of human mast cells based on cytokine content. *J Immunol* 155:297-307.
- Okayama, Y., C. Petit-Frere, O. Kassel, A. Semper, D. Quint, M. J. Tunon-de-Lara, P. Bradding, S. T. Holgate, and M. K. Church. 1995. IgE-dependent expression of mRNA for IL-4 and IL-5 in human lung mast cells. *J Immunol* 155:1796-1808.
- Fahy, J. V., H. E. Fleming, H. H. Wong, J. T. Liu, J. Q. Su, J. Reimann, R. B. Fick, Jr., and H. A. Boushey. 1997. The effect of an anti-IgE monoclonal antibody on the early- and late-phase responses to allergen inhalation in asthmatic subjects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 155:1828-1834.
- 51. Clutterbuck, E. J., and C. J. Sanderson. 1990. Regulation of human eosinophil precursor production by cytokines: a comparison of recombinant human interleukin-1 (rhIL-1), rhIL-3, rhIL-5, rhIL-6, and rh granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Blood* 75:1774-1779.
- 52. Sehmi, R., S. Dorman, A. Baatjes, R. Watson, R. Foley, S. Ying, D. S. Robinson, A. B. Kay, P. M. O'Byrne, and J. A. Denburg. 2003. Allergen-induced fluctuation in CC chemokine receptor 3 expression on

bone marrow CD34+ cells from asthmatic subjects: significance for mobilization of haemopoietic progenitor cells in allergic inflammation. *Immunology* 109:536-546.

- 53. Bousquet, J., P. Chanez, J. Y. Lacoste, G. Barneon, N. Ghavanian, I. Enander, P. Venge, S. Ahlstedt, J. Simony-Lafontaine, P. Godard, and et al. 1990. Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. *N Engl J Med* 323:1033-1039.
- 54. Wenzel, S. E., L. B. Schwartz, E. L. Langmack, J. L. Halliday, J. B. Trudeau, R. L. Gibbs, and H. W. Chu. 1999. Evidence that severe asthma can be divided pathologically into two inflammatory subtypes with distinct physiologic and clinical characteristics. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 160:1001-1008.
- 55. Djukanovic, R., J. W. Wilson, K. M. Britten, S. J. Wilson, A. F. Walls, W. R. Roche, P. H. Howarth, and S. T. Holgate. 1992. Effect of an inhaled corticosteroid on airway inflammation and symptoms in asthma. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 145:669-674.
- 56. Djukanovic, R., S. Homeyard, C. Gratziou, J. Madden, A. Walls, S. Montefort, D. Peroni, R. Polosa, S. Holgate, and P. Howarth. 1997. The effect of treatment with oral corticosteroids on asthma symptoms and airway inflammation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 155:826-832.
- 57. Giembycz, M. A., and M. A. Lindsay. 1999. Pharmacology of the eosinophil. *Pharmacol Rev* 51:213-340.
- 58. Broide, D. H., M. M. Paine, and G. S. Firestein. 1992. Eosinophils express interleukin 5 and granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor mRNA at sites of allergic inflammation in asthmatics. *J Clin Invest* 90:1414-1424.
- 59. Hisamatsu, K., T. Ganbo, T. Nakazawa, Y. Murakami, G. J. Gleich, K. Makiyama, and H. Koyama. 1990. Cytotoxicity of human eosinophil granule major basic protein to human nasal sinus mucosa in vitro. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 86:52-63.
- 60. Ayars, G. H., L. C. Altman, G. J. Gleich, D. A. Loegering, and C. B. Baker. 1985. Eosinophil- and eosinophil granule-mediated pneumocyte injury. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 76:595-604.
- 61. Flavahan, N. A., N. R. Slifman, G. J. Gleich, and P. M. Vanhoutte. 1988. Human eosinophil major basic protein causes hyperreactivity of respiratory smooth muscle. Role of the epithelium. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 138:685-688.
- 62. Wardlaw, A. J., S. Dunnette, G. J. Gleich, J. V. Collins, and A. B. Kay. 1988. Eosinophils and mast cells in bronchoalveolar lavage in subjects with mild asthma. Relationship to bronchial hyperreactivity. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 137:62-69.

- Leckie, M. J., A. ten Brinke, J. Khan, Z. Diamant, B. J. O'Connor, C. M. Walls, A. K. Mathur, H. C. Cowley, K. F. Chung, R. Djukanovic, T. T. Hansel, S. T. Holgate, P. J. Sterk, and P. J. Barnes. 2000. Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. *Lancet* 356:2144-2148.
- 64. Flood-Page, P. T., A. N. Menzies-Gow, A. B. Kay, and D. S. Robinson. 2003. Eosinophil's role remains uncertain as anti-interleukin-5 only partially depletes numbers in asthmatic airway. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 167:199-204.
- 65. Liu, L. Y., J. B. Sedgwick, M. E. Bates, R. F. Vrtis, J. E. Gern, H. Kita, N. N. Jarjour, W. W. Busse, and E. A. Kelly. 2002. Decreased expression of membrane IL-5 receptor alpha on human eosinophils: I. Loss of membrane IL-5 receptor alpha on airway eosinophils and increased soluble IL-5 receptor alpha in the airway after allergen challenge. *J Immunol* 169:6452-6458.
- 66. Haldar, P., C. E. Brightling, B. Hargadon, S. Gupta, W. Monteiro, A. Sousa, R. P. Marshall, P. Bradding, R. H. Green, A. J. Wardlaw, and I. D. Pavord. 2009. Mepolizumab and exacerbations of refractory eosinophilic asthma. *N Engl J Med* 360:973-984.
- Flood-Page, P., A. Menzies-Gow, S. Phipps, S. Ying, A. Wangoo, M. S. Ludwig, N. Barnes, D. Robinson, and A. B. Kay. 2003. Anti-IL-5 treatment reduces deposition of ECM proteins in the bronchial subepithelial basement membrane of mild atopic asthmatics. *J Clin Invest* 112:1029-1036.
- 68. Brightling, C. E., F. A. Symon, S. S. Birring, P. Bradding, A. J. Wardlaw, and I. D. Pavord. 2003. Comparison of airway immunopathology of eosinophilic bronchitis and asthma. *Thorax* 58:528-532.
- 69. Wenzel, S. E., S. J. Szefler, D. Y. Leung, S. I. Sloan, M. D. Rex, and R. J. Martin. 1997. Bronchoscopic evaluation of severe asthma. Persistent inflammation associated with high dose glucocorticoids. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 156:737-743.
- Ordonez, C. L., T. E. Shaughnessy, M. A. Matthay, and J. V. Fahy.
 2000. Increased neutrophil numbers and IL-8 levels in airway secretions in acute severe asthma: Clinical and biologic significance. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 161:1185-1190.
- 71. Hamilton, L. M., C. Torres-Lozano, S. M. Puddicombe, A. Richter, I. Kimber, R. J. Dearman, B. Vrugt, R. Aalbers, S. T. Holgate, R. Djukanovic, S. J. Wilson, and D. E. Davies. 2003. The role of the epidermal growth factor receptor in sustaining neutrophil inflammation in severe asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 33:233-240.

- 72. Green, R. H., C. E. Brightling, G. Woltmann, D. Parker, A. J. Wardlaw, and I. D. Pavord. 2002. Analysis of induced sputum in adults with asthma: identification of subgroup with isolated sputum neutrophilia and poor response to inhaled corticosteroids. *Thorax* 57:875-879.
- 73. Foley, S. C., and Q. Hamid. 2007. Images in allergy and immunology: neutrophils in asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 119:1282-1286.
- 74. Chu, H. W., J. B. Trudeau, S. Balzar, and S. E. Wenzel. 2000. Peripheral blood and airway tissue expression of transforming growth factor beta by neutrophils in asthmatic subjects and normal control subjects. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 106:1115-1123.
- 75. Cundall, M., Y. Sun, C. Miranda, J. B. Trudeau, S. Barnes, and S. E. Wenzel. 2003. Neutrophil-derived matrix metalloproteinase-9 is increased in severe asthma and poorly inhibited by glucocorticoids. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 112:1064-1071.
- 76. Vignola, A. M., L. Riccobono, A. Mirabella, M. Profita, P. Chanez, V. Bellia, G. Mautino, P. D'Accardi, J. Bousquet, and G. Bonsignore. 1998. Sputum metalloproteinase-9/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 ratio correlates with airflow obstruction in asthma and chronic bronchitis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 158:1945-1950.
- 77. Poston, R. N., P. Chanez, J. Y. Lacoste, T. Litchfield, T. H. Lee, and J. Bousquet. 1992. Immunohistochemical characterization of the cellular infiltration in asthmatic bronchi. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 145:918-921.
- 78. Nathan, C. F. 1987. Secretory products of macrophages. *J Clin Invest* 79:319-326.
- 79. Song, C., L. Luo, Z. Lei, B. Li, Z. Liang, G. Liu, D. Li, G. Zhang, B. Huang, and Z. H. Feng. 2008. IL-17-producing alveolar macrophages mediate allergic lung inflammation related to asthma. *J Immunol* 181:6117-6124.
- 80. Fitzpatrick, A. M., F. Holguin, W. G. Teague, and L. A. Brown. 2008. Alveolar macrophage phagocytosis is impaired in children with poorly controlled asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 121:1372-1378, 1378 e1371-1373.
- 81. Laitinen, L. A., M. Heino, A. Laitinen, T. Kava, and T. Haahtela. 1985. Damage of the airway epithelium and bronchial reactivity in patients with asthma. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 131:599-606.
- 82. Jeffery, P. K., A. J. Wardlaw, F. C. Nelson, J. V. Collins, and A. B. Kay. 1989. Bronchial biopsies in asthma. An ultrastructural, quantitative study and correlation with hyperreactivity. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 140:1745-1753.

- 83. Houston, J. C., S. De Navasquez, and J. R. Trounce. 1953. A clinical and pathological study of fatal cases of status asthmaticus. *Thorax* 8:207-213.
- 84. Dunnill, M. S. 1960. The pathology of asthma, with special reference to changes in the bronchial mucosa. *J Clin Pathol* 13:27-33.
- 85. Chanez, P., A. M. Vignola, P. Vic, F. Guddo, G. Bonsignore, P. Godard, and J. Bousquet. 1999. Comparison between nasal and bronchial inflammation in asthmatic and control subjects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 159:588-595.
- 86. Shebani, E., S. Shahana, C. Janson, and G. M. Roomans. 2005. Attachment of columnar airway epithelial cells in asthma. *Tissue Cell* 37:145-152.
- Shahana, S., E. Bjornsson, D. Ludviksdottir, C. Janson, O. Nettelbladt, P. Venge, and G. M. Roomans. 2005. Ultrastructure of bronchial biopsies from patients with allergic and non-allergic asthma. *Respir Med* 99:429-443.
- 88. Woltmann, G., R. J. Ward, F. A. Symon, D. A. Rew, I. D. Pavord, and A. J. Wardlaw. 1999. Objective quantitative analysis of eosinophils and bronchial epithelial cells in induced sputum by laser scanning cytometry. *Thorax* 54:124-130.
- Redington, A. E., D. R. Springall, M. A. Ghatei, L. C. Lau, S. R. Bloom, S. T. Holgate, J. M. Polak, and P. H. Howarth. 1995. Endothelin in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and its relation to airflow obstruction in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 151:1034-1039.
- 90. Ordonez, C., R. Ferrando, D. M. Hyde, H. H. Wong, and J. V. Fahy. 2000. Epithelial desquamation in asthma: artifact or pathology? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 162:2324-2329.
- 91. Puddicombe, S. M., R. Polosa, A. Richter, M. T. Krishna, P. H. Howarth, S. T. Holgate, and D. E. Davies. 2000. Involvement of the epidermal growth factor receptor in epithelial repair in asthma. *Faseb J* 14:1362-1374.
- 92. Fedorov, I. A., S. J. Wilson, D. E. Davies, and S. T. Holgate. 2005. Epithelial stress and structural remodelling in childhood asthma. *Thorax* 60:389-394.
- 93. Frigas, E., D. A. Loegering, and G. J. Gleich. 1980. Cytotoxic effects of the guinea pig eosinophil major basic protein on tracheal epithelium. *Lab Invest* 42:35-43.
- 94. Hastie, A. T., D. A. Loegering, G. J. Gleich, and F. Kueppers. 1987. The effect of purified human eosinophil major basic protein on mammalian ciliary activity. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 135:848-853.

- 95. Zhang, S., H. Smartt, S. T. Holgate, and W. R. Roche. 1999. Growth factors secreted by bronchial epithelial cells control myofibroblast proliferation: an in vitro co-culture model of airway remodeling in asthma. *Lab Invest* 79:395-405.
- 96. Tschumperlin, D. J., J. D. Shively, T. Kikuchi, and J. M. Drazen. 2003. Mechanical stress triggers selective release of fibrotic mediators from bronchial epithelium. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 28:142-149.
- 97. Kuyper, L. M., P. D. Pare, J. C. Hogg, R. K. Lambert, D. Ionescu, R. Woods, and T. R. Bai. 2003. Characterization of airway plugging in fatal asthma. *Am J Med* 115:6-11.
- 98. Aikawa, T., S. Shimura, H. Sasaki, M. Ebina, and T. Takishima. 1992. Marked goblet cell hyperplasia with mucus accumulation in the airways of patients who died of severe acute asthma attack. *Chest* 101:916-921.
- 99. Ordonez, C. L., R. Khashayar, H. H. Wong, R. Ferrando, R. Wu, D. M. Hyde, J. A. Hotchkiss, Y. Zhang, A. Novikov, G. Dolganov, and J. V. Fahy. 2001. Mild and moderate asthma is associated with airway goblet cell hyperplasia and abnormalities in mucin gene expression. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 163:517-523.
- 100. Lange, P., J. Parner, J. Vestbo, P. Schnohr, and G. Jensen. 1998. A 15year follow-up study of ventilatory function in adults with asthma. *N Engl J Med* 339:1194-1200.
- 101. Jeffery, P. K., R. W. Godfrey, E. Adelroth, F. Nelson, A. Rogers, and S. A. Johansson. 1992. Effects of treatment on airway inflammation and thickening of basement membrane reticular collagen in asthma. A quantitative light and electron microscopic study. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 145:890-899.
- 102. Ward, C., D. W. Reid, B. E. Orsida, B. Feltis, V. A. Ryan, D. P. Johns, and E. H. Walters. 2005. Inter-relationships between airway inflammation, reticular basement membrane thickening and bronchial hyper-reactivity to methacholine in asthma; a systematic bronchoalveolar lavage and airway biopsy analysis. *Clin Exp Allergy* 35:1565-1571.
- 103. Payne, D. N., A. V. Rogers, E. Adelroth, V. Bandi, K. K. Guntupalli, A. Bush, and P. K. Jeffery. 2003. Early thickening of the reticular basement membrane in children with difficult asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 167:78-82.
- 104. Chetta, A., A. Foresi, M. Del Donno, G. Bertorelli, A. Pesci, and D. Olivieri. 1997. Airways remodeling is a distinctive feature of asthma and is related to severity of disease. *Chest* 111:852-857.
- 105. Bai, T. R., J. Cooper, T. Koelmeyer, P. D. Pare, and T. D. Weir. 2000. The effect of age and duration of disease on airway structure in fatal asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 162:663-669.

- 106. Ward, C., M. Pais, R. Bish, D. Reid, B. Feltis, D. Johns, and E. H. Walters. 2002. Airway inflammation, basement membrane thickening and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in asthma. *Thorax* 57:309-316.
- 107. Hashimoto, M., H. Tanaka, and S. Abe. 2005. Quantitative analysis of bronchial wall vascularity in the medium and small airways of patients with asthma and COPD. *Chest* 127:965-972.
- Hoshino, M., M. Takahashi, Y. Takai, J. Sim, and N. Aoike. 2001. Inhaled corticosteroids decrease vascularity of the bronchial mucosa in patients with asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 31:722-730.
- 109. Chetta, A., A. Zanini, A. Foresi, M. Del Donno, A. Castagnaro, R. D'Ippolito, S. Baraldo, R. Testi, M. Saetta, and D. Olivieri. 2003. Vascular component of airway remodeling in asthma is reduced by high dose of fluticasone. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 167:751-757.
- Feltis, B. N., D. Wignarajah, D. W. Reid, C. Ward, R. Harding, and E. H. Walters. 2007. Effects of inhaled fluticasone on angiogenesis and vascular endothelial growth factor in asthma. *Thorax* 62:314-319.
- 111. McDonald, D. M. 2001. Angiogenesis and remodeling of airway vasculature in chronic inflammation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:S39-45.
- 112. Maisonpierre, P. C., C. Suri, P. F. Jones, S. Bartunkova, S. J. Wiegand, C. Radziejewski, D. Compton, J. McClain, T. H. Aldrich, N. Papadopoulos, T. J. Daly, S. Davis, T. N. Sato, and G. D. Yancopoulos. 1997. Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. *Science* 277:55-60.
- 113. Feltis, B. N., D. Wignarajah, L. Zheng, C. Ward, D. Reid, R. Harding, and E. H. Walters. 2006. Increased vascular endothelial growth factor and receptors: relationship to angiogenesis in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 173:1201-1207.
- 114. Moreno, R. H., J. C. Hogg, and P. D. Pare. 1986. Mechanics of airway narrowing. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 133:1171-1180.
- 115. Orsida, B. E., X. Li, B. Hickey, F. Thien, J. W. Wilson, and E. H. Walters. 1999. Vascularity in asthmatic airways: relation to inhaled steroid dose. *Thorax* 54:289-295.
- 116. Orsida, B. E., C. Ward, X. Li, R. Bish, J. W. Wilson, F. Thien, and E. H. Walters. 2001. Effect of a long-acting beta2-agonist over three months on airway wall vascular remodeling in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:117-121.
- 117. Huber, H. L., and K. K. Koessler. 1922. The pathology of bronchial asthma. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 30:689-760.

- Kuwano, K., C. H. Bosken, P. D. Pare, T. R. Bai, B. R. Wiggs, and J. C. Hogg. 1993. Small airways dimensions in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 148:1220-1225.
- 119. Carroll, N., J. Elliot, A. Morton, and A. James. 1993. The structure of large and small airways in nonfatal and fatal asthma. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 147:405-410.
- 120. Woodruff, P. G., G. M. Dolganov, R. E. Ferrando, S. Donnelly, S. R. Hays, O. D. Solberg, R. Carter, H. H. Wong, P. S. Cadbury, and J. V. Fahy. 2004. Hyperplasia of smooth muscle in mild to moderate asthma without changes in cell size or gene expression. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 169:1001-1006.
- 121. Benayoun, L., A. Druilhe, M. C. Dombret, M. Aubier, and M. Pretolani. 2003. Airway structural alterations selectively associated with severe asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 167:1360-1368.
- 122. Thomson, R. J., A. M. Bramley, and R. R. Schellenberg. 1996. Airway muscle stereology: implications for increased shortening in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 154:749-757.
- 123. Seow, C. Y., R. R. Schellenberg, and P. D. Pare. 1998. Structural and functional changes in the airway smooth muscle of asthmatic subjects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 158:S179-186.
- 124. Ebina, M., T. Takahashi, T. Chiba, and M. Motomiya. 1993. Cellular hypertrophy and hyperplasia of airway smooth muscles underlying bronchial asthma. A 3-D morphometric study. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 148:720-726.
- 125. Hirst, S. J., J. G. Martin, J. V. Bonacci, V. Chan, E. D. Fixman, Q. A. Hamid, B. Herszberg, J. P. Lavoie, C. G. McVicker, L. M. Moir, T. T. Nguyen, Q. Peng, D. Ramos-Barbon, and A. G. Stewart. 2004. Proliferative aspects of airway smooth muscle. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 114:S2-17.
- 126. Vignola, A. M., J. Kips, and J. Bousquet. 2000. Tissue remodeling as a feature of persistent asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 105:1041-1053.
- 127. Freyer, A. M., S. R. Johnson, and I. P. Hall. 2001. Effects of growth factors and extracellular matrix on survival of human airway smooth muscle cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 25:569-576.
- Hedges, J. C., M. A. Dechert, I. A. Yamboliev, J. L. Martin, E. Hickey, L. A. Weber, and W. T. Gerthoffer. 1999. A role for p38(MAPK)/HSP27 pathway in smooth muscle cell migration. *J Biol Chem* 274:24211-24219.
- 129. Mukhina, S., V. Stepanova, D. Traktouev, A. Poliakov, R. Beabealashvilly, Y. Gursky, M. Minashkin, A. Shevelev, and V. Tkachuk. 2000. The chemotactic action of urokinase on smooth muscle

cells is dependent on its kringle domain. Characterization of interactions and contribution to chemotaxis. *J Biol Chem* 275:16450-16458.

- 130. Parameswaran, K., K. Radford, J. Zuo, L. J. Janssen, P. M. O'Byrne, and P. G. Cox. 2004. Extracellular matrix regulates human airway smooth muscle cell migration. *Eur Respir J* 24:545-551.
- 131. Carlin, S. M., M. Roth, and J. L. Black. 2003. Urokinase potentiates PDGF-induced chemotaxis of human airway smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 284:L1020-1026.
- Parameswaran, K., G. Cox, K. Radford, L. J. Janssen, R. Sehmi, and P. M. O'Byrne. 2002. Cysteinyl leukotrienes promote human airway smooth muscle migration. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 166:738-742.
- 133. Goncharova, E. A., C. K. Billington, C. Irani, A. V. Vorotnikov, V. A. Tkachuk, R. B. Penn, V. P. Krymskaya, and R. A. Panettieri, Jr. 2003. Cyclic AMP-mobilizing agents and glucocorticoids modulate human smooth muscle cell migration. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 29:19-27.
- 134. Lambert, R. K., B. R. Wiggs, K. Kuwano, J. C. Hogg, and P. D. Pare. 1993. Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD. *J Appl Physiol* 74:2771-2781.
- 135. Bai, T. R. 1990. Abnormalities in airway smooth muscle in fatal asthma. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 141:552-557.
- 136. McParland, B. E., P. T. Macklem, and P. D. Pare. 2003. Airway wall remodeling: friend or foe? *J Appl Physiol* 95:426-434.
- 137. Macklem, P. T. 1996. A theoretical analysis of the effect of airway smooth muscle load on airway narrowing. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 153:83-89.
- 138. Jiang, H., K. Rao, A. J. Halayko, W. Kepron, and N. L. Stephens. 1992. Bronchial smooth muscle mechanics of a canine model of allergic airway hyperresponsiveness. *J Appl Physiol* 72:39-45.
- 139. Solway, J., and J. J. Fredberg. 1997. Perhaps airway smooth muscle dysfunction contributes to asthmatic bronchial hyperresponsiveness after all. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 17:144-146.
- 140. Bai, T. R., and D. A. Knight. 2005. Structural changes in the airways in asthma: observations and consequences. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 108:463-477.
- 141. Antonissen, L. A., R. W. Mitchell, E. A. Kroeger, W. Kepron, K. S. Tse, and N. L. Stephens. 1979. Mechanical alterations of airway smooth muscle in a canine asthmatic model. *J Appl Physiol* 46:681-687.
- 142. Jiang, H., K. Rao, A. J. Halayko, X. Liu, and N. L. Stephens. 1992. Ragweed sensitization-induced increase of myosin light chain kinase

content in canine airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 7:567-573.

- 143. Ma, X., Z. Cheng, H. Kong, Y. Wang, H. Unruh, N. L. Stephens, and M. Laviolette. 2002. Changes in biophysical and biochemical properties of single bronchial smooth muscle cells from asthmatic subjects. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283:L1181-1189.
- 144. Amrani, Y., O. Tliba, D. A. Deshpande, T. F. Walseth, M. S. Kannan, and R. A. Panettieri, Jr. 2004. Bronchial hyperresponsiveness: insights into new signaling molecules. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 4:230-234.
- 145. Johnson, S. R., and A. J. Knox. 1997. Synthetic functions of airway smooth muscle in asthma. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 18:288-292.
- 146. Elias, J. A., Z. Zhu, G. Chupp, and R. J. Homer. 1999. Airway Remodeling in Asthma. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 104:1001-1006.
- 147. Knox, A. J., L. H. Pang, S. R. Johnson, and A. M. Hamad. 2000. Airway smooth muscle function in asthma. *Clinical and experimental allergy* 30:606-614.
- 148. Pang, L. H., and A. J. Knox. 1997. Effect of interleukin-1beta, tumour necrosis factor alpha and interferon gamma on the induction of cyclooxygenase 2 in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 121:579-587.
- 149. Pang, L. H., and A. J. Knox. 1997. PGE₂ release by bradykinin in human airway smooth muscle cells: involvement of cyclooxygenase-2 induction. *American Journal of Physiology* 273:L1132-L1140.
- Pang, L. H., M. Nie, L. Corbett, R. Donnelly, S. Gray, and A. J. Knox.
 2002. Protein kinase C & mediates bradykinin induced cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human airways smooth muscle cells. *FASEB Journal* 16:1435-1437.
- 151. Belvisi, M. G., M. A. Saunders, e.-B. Haddad, S. J. Hirst, M. H. Yacoub, P. J. Barnes, and J. A. Mitchell. 1997. Induction of cyclooxygenase-2 by cytokines in human cultured airway smooth muscle cells: novel inflammatory role of this cell type. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 120:910-916.
- 152. Pang, L. H., and A. J. Knox. 1998. Bradykinin stimulates interleukin 8 production in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells: role of cyclooxygenase products. *Journal of Immunology* 161:2509-2515.
- 153. Fong, C. Y., L. H. Pang, and A. J. Knox. 2000. TGFβ stimulates IL-8 release, COX-2 expression and PGE₂ production in HASM cells. *American Journal of Physiology* 279:L201-L207.

- 154. Pang, L. H., and A. J. Knox. 2000. Synergistic inhibition by β₂-agonists and corticosteroids of TNFα induced IL-8 release from cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 23:79-85.
- 155. Pang, L. H., and A. J. Knox. 2001. Regulation of TNFα induced eotaxin release from cultured human airway smooth muscle cells by beta-2 agonists and corticosteroids. *FASEB Journal* 15:261-269.
- 156. Pype, J. L., L. J. Dupont, P. Menten, E. Van Coillie, G. Opdenakker, J. Van Damme, K. F. Chung, M. G. Demedts, and G. M. Verleden. 1999. Expression of monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1, MCP-2 and MCP-3 by human airway smooth muscle cells. Modulation by corticosteroids and T-helper 2 cytokines. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 21:528-536.
- 157. John, M., S. J. Hirst, P. J. Jose, A. Robichaud, N. Berkman, C. Witt, P. J. Twort Barnes, and K. F. Chung. 1997. Human airway smooth muscle cells express and release RANTES in response to T helper 1 cytokines: regulation by T helper 2 cytokines and corticosteroids. *Journal of Immunology* 158:1841-1847.
- 158. Elias, J. A., Y. Wu, T. Zheng, and R. A. Panettieri. 1997. Cytokine- and virus-stimulated airway smooth muscle cells produce IL-11 and other IL-6 type cytokines. *American Journal of Physiology* 273:L648-655.
- 159. Cohen, P., R. Rajah, J. Rosenbloom, and D. J. Herrick. 2000. IGFBP-3 mediates TGF-beta1-induced cell growth in human airway smooth muscle cells. *American Journal of Physiology: Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 278:L545-551.
- 160. Foda, H. D., S. George, E. Rollo, M. Drews, C. Conner, J. Cao, R. A. Panettieri, Jr., and S. Zucker. 1999. Regulation of gelatinases in human airway smooth muscle cells: mechanism of progelatinase A activation. *Am J Physiol* 277:L174-182.
- 161. Johnson, S. R., and A. J. Knox. 1999. Autocrine production of matrix metalloproteinase-2 is required for human airway smooth muscle proliferation. *American Journal of Physiology* 277:L1109-1117.
- 162. Knox, A. J., L. Corbett, J. Stocks, E. Holland, Y. M. Zhu, and L. H. Pang. 2001. Human airway smooth muscle cells secrete vascular endothelial growth factor: regulation by bradykinin via protein kinase C and prostanoid-dependent mechanism. *FASEB Journal* 15:2480-2488.
- 163. Shapiro, S. D., and R. M. Senior. 1999. Matrix metalloproteinases. Matrix degradation and more. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20:1100-1102.
- Shipley, J. M., R. L. Wesselschmidt, D. K. Kobayashi, T. J. Ley, and S. D. Shapiro. 1996. Metalloelastase is required for macrophage-mediated

proteolysis and matrix invasion in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:3942-3946.

- 165. Legrand, C., C. Gilles, J. M. Zahm, M. Polette, A. C. Buisson, H. Kaplan, P. Birembaut, and J. M. Tournier. 1999. Airway epithelial cell migration dynamics. MMP-9 role in cell-extracellular matrix remodeling. *J Cell Biol* 146:517-529.
- 166. Oliver, B. G., S. L. Johnston, M. Baraket, J. K. Burgess, N. J. King, M. Roth, S. Lim, and J. L. Black. 2006. Increased proinflammatory responses from asthmatic human airway smooth muscle cells in response to rhinovirus infection. *Respir Res* 7:71.
- 167. Chambers, L. S., J. L. Black, Q. Ge, S. M. Carlin, W. W. Au, M. Poniris, J. Thompson, P. R. Johnson, and J. K. Burgess. 2003. PAR-2 activation, PGE2, and COX-2 in human asthmatic and nonasthmatic airway smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 285:L619-627.
- 168. Johnson, P. R., M. Roth, M. Tamm, M. Hughes, Q. Ge, G. King, J. K. Burgess, and J. L. Black. 2001. Airway smooth muscle cell proliferation is increased in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:474-477.
- 169. Roth, M., P. R. Johnson, P. Borger, M. P. Bihl, J. J. Rudiger, G. G. King, Q. Ge, K. Hostettler, J. K. Burgess, J. L. Black, and M. Tamm. 2004. Dysfunctional interaction of C/EBPalpha and the glucocorticoid receptor in asthmatic bronchial smooth-muscle cells. *N Engl J Med* 351:560-574.
- 170. Burgess, J. K., J. H. Lee, Q. Ge, E. E. Ramsay, M. H. Poniris, J. Parmentier, M. Roth, P. R. Johnson, N. H. Hunt, J. L. Black, and A. J. Ammit. 2008. Dual ERK and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathways control airway smooth muscle proliferation: differences in asthma. J Cell Physiol 216:673-679.
- 171. Benayoun, L., S. Letuve, A. Druilhe, J. Boczkowski, M. C. Dombret, P. Mechighel, J. Megret, G. Leseche, M. Aubier, and M. Pretolani. 2001. Regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma expression in human asthmatic airways: relationship with proliferation, apoptosis, and airway remodeling. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:1487-1494.
- 172. Oliver, B. G., and J. L. Black. 2006. Airway smooth muscle and asthma. *Allergol Int* 55:215-223.
- 173. Johnson, P. R., J. K. Burgess, P. A. Underwood, W. Au, M. H. Poniris, M. Tamm, Q. Ge, M. Roth, and J. L. Black. 2004. Extracellular matrix proteins modulate asthmatic airway smooth muscle cell proliferation via an autocrine mechanism. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 113:690-696.

- 174. Johnson, P. R., J. K. Burgess, Q. Ge, M. Poniris, S. Boustany, S. M. Twigg, and J. L. Black. 2006. Connective tissue growth factor induces extracellular matrix in asthmatic airway smooth muscle. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 173:32-41.
- 175. Lazaar, A. L., S. M. Albelda, J. M. Pilewski, B. Brennan, E. Pure, and R. A. Panettieri, Jr. 1994. T lymphocytes adhere to airway smooth muscle cells via integrins and CD44 and induce smooth muscle cell DNA synthesis. *J Exp Med* 180:807-816.
- Lazaar, A. L., Y. Amrani, J. Hsu, R. A. Panettieri, Jr., W. C. Fanslow, S. M. Albelda, and E. Pure. 1998. CD40-mediated signal transduction in human airway smooth muscle. *J Immunol* 161:3120-3127.
- 177. Burgess, J. K., S. Carlin, R. A. Pack, G. M. Arndt, W. W. Au, P. R. Johnson, J. L. Black, and N. H. Hunt. 2004. Detection and characterization of OX40 ligand expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: a possible role in asthma? *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 113:683-689.
- 178. Barnes, P. J., K. F. Chung, and C. P. Page. 1998. Inflammatory mediators of asthma: an update. *Pharmacol Rev* 50:515-596.
- 179. Pang, L., and A. J. Knox. 1997. PGE2 release by bradykinin in human airway smooth muscle cells: involvement of cyclooxygenase-2 induction. *Am J Physiol* 273:L1132-1140.
- 180. Hashimoto, K., T. Ichiyama, M. Hasegawa, S. Hasegawa, T. Matsubara, and S. Furukawa. 2009. Cysteinyl leukotrienes induce monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in human monocyte/macrophages via mitogen-activated protein kinase and nuclear factor-kappaB pathways. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 149:275-282.
- 181. Sanchez-Galan, E., A. Gomez-Hernandez, C. Vidal, J. L. Martin-Ventura, L. M. Blanco-Colio, B. Munoz-Garcia, L. Ortega, J. Egido, and J. Tunon. 2009. Leukotriene B4 enhances the activity of nuclear factor-kappaB pathway through BLT1 and BLT2 receptors in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res* 81:216-225.
- 182. Zhu, Y. M., D. A. Bradbury, L. Pang, and A. J. Knox. 2003. Transcriptional regulation of interleukin (IL)-8 by bradykinin in human airway smooth muscle cells involves prostanoid-dependent activation of AP-1 and nuclear factor (NF)-IL-6 and prostanoid-independent activation of NF-kappaB. *J Biol Chem* 278:29366-29375.
- 183. Nie, M., L. Pang, H. Inoue, and A. J. Knox. 2003. Transcriptional regulation of cyclooxygenase 2 by bradykinin and interleukin-1beta in human airway smooth muscle cells: involvement of different promoter elements, transcription factors, and histone h4 acetylation. *Mol Cell Biol* 23:9233-9244.

- 184. Bradbury, D., D. Clarke, C. Seedhouse, L. Corbett, J. Stocks, and A. Knox. 2005. Vascular endothelial growth factor induction by prostaglandin E2 in human airway smooth muscle cells is mediated by E prostanoid EP2/EP4 receptors and SP-1 transcription factor binding sites. J Biol Chem 280:29993-30000.
- 185. Thompson, C., A. Cloutier, Y. Bosse, C. Poisson, P. Larivee, P. P. McDonald, J. Stankova, and M. Rola-Pleszczynski. 2008. Signaling by the cysteinyl-leukotriene receptor 2. Involvement in chemokine gene transcription. *J Biol Chem* 283:1974-1984.
- 186. Holden, N. S., W. Gong, E. M. King, M. Kaur, M. A. Giembycz, and R. Newton. 2007. Potentiation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and inflammatory mediator release by histamine in human airway epithelial cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 152:891-902.
- 187. Yu, L., W. K. Wu, Z. J. Li, H. P. Wong, E. K. Tai, H. T. Li, Y. C. Wu, and C. H. Cho. 2008. E series of prostaglandin receptor 2-mediated activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase/activator protein-1 signaling is required for the mitogenic action of prostaglandin E2 in esophageal squamous-cell carcinoma. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 327:258-267.
- 188. Liu, Q., K. A. Merkler, X. Zhang, and M. P. McLean. 2007. Prostaglandin F2alpha suppresses rat steroidogenic acute regulatory protein expression via induction of Yin Yang 1 protein and recruitment of histone deacetylase 1 protein. *Endocrinology* 148:5209-5219.
- 189. Subbaramaiah, K., C. Hudis, S. H. Chang, T. Hla, and A. J. Dannenberg. 2008. EP2 and EP4 receptors regulate aromatase expression in human adipocytes and breast cancer cells. Evidence of a BRCA1 and p300 exchange. *J Biol Chem* 283:3433-3444.
- 190. Bradbury, D. A., L. Corbett, and A. J. Knox. 2004. PI 3-kinase and MAP kinase regulate bradykinin induced prostaglandin E(2) release in human pulmonary artery by modulating COX-2 activity. *FEBS Lett* 560:30-34.
- 191. Xu, S. W., S. L. Howat, E. A. Renzoni, A. Holmes, J. D. Pearson, M. R. Dashwood, G. Bou-Gharios, C. P. Denton, R. M. du Bois, C. M. Black, A. Leask, and D. J. Abraham. 2004. Endothelin-1 induces expression of matrix-associated genes in lung fibroblasts through MEK/ERK. *J Biol Chem* 279:23098-23103.
- 192. Clerk, A., and P. H. Sugden. 1999. Activation of protein kinase cascades in the heart by hypertrophic G protein-coupled receptor agonists. *Am J Cardiol* 83:64H-69H.
- 193. Billington, C. K., and R. B. Penn. 2003. Signaling and regulation of G protein-coupled receptors in airway smooth muscle. *Respir Res* 4:2.

- 194. Hay, D. 1999. Putative mediator role of endothelin-1 in asthma and other lung diseases. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology and physiology* 26:168-171.
- 195. Chalmers, G. W., S. A. Little, K. R. Patel, and N. C. Thomson. 1997. Endothelin-1-induced bronchoconstriction in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 156:382-388.
- 196. Hay, D. W., W. C. Hubbard, and B. J. Undem. 1993. Endothelininduced contraction and mediator release in human bronchus. *Br J Pharmacol* 110:392-398.
- 197. Panettieri, R. A., Jr., R. G. Goldie, P. J. Rigby, A. J. Eszterhas, and D. W. Hay. 1996. Endothelin-1-induced potentiation of human airway smooth muscle proliferation: an ETA receptor-mediated phenomenon. *Br J Pharmacol* 118:191-197.
- 198. Hocher, B., A. Schwarz, K. A. Fagan, C. Thone-Reineke, K. El-Hag, H. Kusserow, S. Elitok, C. Bauer, H. H. Neumayer, D. M. Rodman, and F. Theuring. 2000. Pulmonary fibrosis and chronic lung inflammation in ET-1 transgenic mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 23:19-26.
- 199. Finsnes, F., O. H. Skjonsberg, T. Lyberg, and G. Christensen. 2000. Endothelin-1 production is associated with eosinophilic rather than neutrophilic airway inflammation. *Eur Respir J* 15:743-750.
- 200. Henry, P. J., T. S. Mann, A. C. D'Aprile, G. J. Self, and R. G. Goldie. 2002. An endothelin receptor antagonist, SB-217242, inhibits airway hyperresponsiveness in allergic mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283:L1072-1078.
- 201. Immervoll, T., S. Loesgen, G. Dutsch, H. Gohlke, N. Herbon, S. Klugbauer, A. Dempfle, H. Bickeboller, J. Becker-Follmann, F. Ruschendorf, K. Saar, A. Reis, H. E. Wichmann, and M. Wjst. 2001. Fine mapping and single nucleotide polymorphism association results of candidate genes for asthma and related phenotypes. *Hum Mutat* 18:327-336.
- 202. Mao, X. Q., P. S. Gao, M. H. Roberts, T. Enomoto, M. Kawai, S. Sasaki, S. R. Shaldon, P. Coull, Y. Dake, C. N. Adra, A. Hagihara, T. Shirakawa, and J. M. Hopkin. 1999. Variants of endothelin-1 and its receptors in atopic asthma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 262:259-262.
- 203. Pang, L., and A. J. Knox. 2001. Regulation of TNF-alpha-induced eotaxin release from cultured human airway smooth muscle cells by beta2-agonists and corticosteroids. *Faseb J* 15:261-269.
- 204. Russo, C., and R. Polosa. 2005. TNF-alpha as a promising therapeutic target in chronic asthma: a lesson from rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*) 109:135-142.

- 205. Aggarwal, B. B. 2003. Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: a double-edged sword. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3:745-756.
- 206. Stellato, C., L. A. Beck, G. A. Gorgone, D. Proud, T. J. Schall, S. J. Ono, L. M. Lichtenstein, and R. P. Schleimer. 1995. Expression of the chemokine RANTES by a human bronchial epithelial cell line. Modulation by cytokines and glucocorticoids. *J Immunol* 155:410-418.
- 207. Broide, D. H., M. Lotz, A. J. Cuomo, D. A. Coburn, E. C. Federman, and S. I. Wasserman. 1992. Cytokines in symptomatic asthma airways. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 89:958-967.
- 208. Bradding, P., J. A. Roberts, K. M. Britten, S. Montefort, R. Djukanovic, R. Mueller, C. H. Heusser, P. H. Howarth, and S. T. Holgate. 1994. Interleukin-4, -5, and -6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in normal and asthmatic airways: evidence for the human mast cell as a source of these cytokines. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 10:471-480.
- 209. Nakamura, Y., S. Esnault, T. Maeda, E. A. Kelly, J. S. Malter, and N. N. Jarjour. 2004. Ets-1 regulates TNF-alpha-induced matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tenascin expression in primary bronchial fibroblasts. *J Immunol* 172:1945-1952.
- Pennings, H. J., K. Kramer, A. Bast, W. A. Buurman, and E. F. Wouters. 1998. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha induces hyperreactivity in tracheal smooth muscle of the guinea-pig in vitro. *Eur Respir J* 12:45-49.
- 211. Kips, J. C., J. Tavernier, and R. A. Pauwels. 1992. Tumor necrosis factor causes bronchial hyperresponsiveness in rats. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 145:332-336.
- 212. Renzetti, L. M., P. M. Paciorek, S. A. Tannu, N. C. Rinaldi, J. E. Tocker, M. A. Wasserman, and P. R. Gater. 1996. Pharmacological evidence for tumor necrosis factor as a mediator of allergic inflammation in the airways. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 278:847-853.
- 213. Thomas, P. S., D. H. Yates, and P. J. Barnes. 1995. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha increases airway responsiveness and sputum neutrophilia in normal human subjects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 152:76-80.
- 214. Thomas, P. S., and G. Heywood. 2002. Effects of inhaled tumour necrosis factor alpha in subjects with mild asthma. *Thorax* 57:774-778.
- 215. Berry, M. A., B. Hargadon, M. Shelley, D. Parker, D. E. Shaw, R. H. Green, P. Bradding, C. E. Brightling, A. J. Wardlaw, and I. D. Pavord. 2006. Evidence of a role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in refractory asthma. *N Engl J Med* 354:697-708.
- 216. Howarth, P. H., K. S. Babu, H. S. Arshad, L. Lau, M. Buckley, W. McConnell, P. Beckett, M. Al Ali, A. Chauhan, S. J. Wilson, A. Reynolds, D. E. Davies, and S. T. Holgate. 2005. Tumour necrosis

factor (TNFalpha) as a novel therapeutic target in symptomatic corticosteroid dependent asthma. *Thorax* 60:1012-1018.

- 217. MacEwan, D. J. 2002. TNF receptor subtype signalling: differences and cellular consequences. *Cell Signal* 14:477-492.
- 218. Esteve, P. O., E. Chicoine, O. Robledo, F. Aoudjit, A. Descoteaux, E. F. Potworowski, and Y. St-Pierre. 2002. Protein kinase C-zeta regulates transcription of the matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene induced by IL-1 and TNF-alpha in glioma cells via NF-kappa B. *J Biol Chem* 277:35150-35155.
- 219. Arnott, C. H., K. A. Scott, R. J. Moore, A. Hewer, D. H. Phillips, P. Parker, F. R. Balkwill, and D. M. Owens. 2002. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha mediates tumour promotion via a PKC alpha- and AP-1-dependent pathway. *Oncogene* 21:4728-4738.
- 220. Ito, K., P. J. Barnes, and I. M. Adcock. 2000. Glucocorticoid receptor recruitment of histone deacetylase 2 inhibits interleukin-1beta-induced histone H4 acetylation on lysines 8 and 12. *Mol Cell Biol* 20:6891-6903.
- 221. Kutlu, B., M. I. Darville, A. K. Cardozo, and D. L. Eizirik. 2003. Molecular regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* 52:348-355.
- 222. Boekhoudt, G. H., Z. Guo, G. W. Beresford, and J. M. Boss. 2003. Communication between NF-kappa B and Sp1 controls histone acetylation within the proximal promoter of the monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 gene. *J Immunol* 170:4139-4147.
- 223. Teferedegne, B., M. R. Green, Z. Guo, and J. M. Boss. 2006. Mechanism of action of a distal NF-kappaB-dependent enhancer. *Mol Cell Biol* 26:5759-5770.
- 224. Nie, M., A. J. Knox, and L. Pang. 2005. beta2-Adrenoceptor agonists, like glucocorticoids, repress eotaxin gene transcription by selective inhibition of histone H4 acetylation. *J Immunol* 175:478-486.
- 225. Raidl, M., B. Sibbing, J. Strauch, K. Muller, A. Nemat, P. M. Schneider, H. Hag, E. Erdmann, and A. Koch. 2007. Impaired TNFalpha-induced VEGF expression in human airway smooth muscle cells from smokers with COPD: role of MAPkinases and histone acetylation--effect of dexamethasone. *Cell Biochem Biophys* 49:98-110.
- 226. Clayton, A. L., and L. C. Mahadevan. 2003. MAP kinase-mediated phosphoacetylation of histone H3 and inducible gene regulation. *FEBS Lett* 546:51-58.
- 227. Lee, C. W., C. C. Lin, S. F. Luo, H. C. Lee, I. T. Lee, W. C. Aird, T. L. Hwang, and C. M. Yang. 2008. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha enhances neutrophil adhesiveness: induction of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1

via activation of Akt and CaM kinase II and modifications of histone acetyltransferase and histone deacetylase 4 in human tracheal smooth muscle cells. *Mol Pharmacol* 73:1454-1464.

- 228. Clarke, D. L., A. Sutcliffe, K. Deacon, D. Bradbury, L. Corbett, and A. J. Knox. 2008. PKCbetaII augments NF-kappaB-dependent transcription at the CCL11 promoter via p300/CBP-associated factor recruitment and histone H4 acetylation. *J Immunol* 181:3503-3514.
- 229. Yuan, L. W., and J. E. Gambee. 2000. Phosphorylation of p300 at serine 89 by protein kinase C. *J Biol Chem* 275:40946-40951.
- 230. Elliott, K. A., N. A. Osna, M. A. Scofield, and M. M. Khan. 2001. Regulation of IL-13 production by histamine in cloned murine T helper type 2 cells. *Int Immunopharmacol* 1:1923-1937.
- 231. Stocks, J., D. Bradbury, L. Corbett, L. Pang, and A. J. Knox. 2005. Cytokines upregulate vascular endothelial growth factor secretion by human airway smooth muscle cells: Role of endogenous prostanoids. *FEBS Lett* 579:2551-2556.
- 232. Krymskaya, V. P., R. B. Penn, M. J. Orsini, P. H. Scott, R. J. Plevin, T. R. Walker, A. J. Eszterhas, Y. Amrani, E. R. Chilvers, and R. A. Panettieri, Jr. 1999. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase mediates mitogen-induced human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Am J Physiol* 277:L65-78.
- 233. Huang, C. D., O. Tliba, R. A. Panettieri Jr, and Y. Amrani. 2003. Bradykinin induces interleukin-6 prodiuction in human airway smooth muscle cells: modulation by Th2 cytokines and dexamethasone. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 28:330-338.
- 234. Esche, C., C. Stellato, and L. A. Beck. 2005. Chemokines: key players in innate and adaptive immunity. *J Invest Dermatol* 125:615-628.
- 235. Zlotnik, A., and O. Yoshie. 2000. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. *Immunity* 12:121-127.
- 236. Sozzani, S., W. Luini, M. Molino, P. Jilek, B. Bottazzi, C. Cerletti, K. Matsushima, and A. Mantovani. 1991. The signal transduction pathway involved in the migration induced by a monocyte chemotactic cytokine. *J Immunol* 147:2215-2221.
- 237. Zachariae, C. O., A. O. Anderson, H. L. Thompson, E. Appella, A. Mantovani, J. J. Oppenheim, and K. Matsushima. 1990. Properties of monocyte chemotactic and activating factor (MCAF) purified from a human fibrosarcoma cell line. *J Exp Med* 171:2177-2182.
- 238. Loetscher, P., M. Seitz, I. Clark-Lewis, M. Baggiolini, and B. Moser. 1994. Monocyte chemotactic proteins MCP-1, MCP-2, and MCP-3 are

major attractants for human CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Faseb J* 8:1055-1060.

- 239. Taub, D. D., P. Proost, W. J. Murphy, M. Anver, D. L. Longo, J. van Damme, and J. J. Oppenheim. 1995. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), -2, and -3 are chemotactic for human T lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest* 95:1370-1376.
- 240. Leonard, E. J., A. Skeel, T. Yoshimura, and J. Rankin. 1993. Secretion of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) by human mononuclear phagocytes. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 351:55-64.
- Chen, P., M. Shibata, R. Zidovetzki, M. Fisher, B. V. Zlokovic, and F. M. Hofman. 2001. Endothelin-1 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 modulation in ischemia and human brain-derived endothelial cell cultures. *J Neuroimmunol* 116:62-73.
- 242. Watson, M. L., S. P. Grix, N. J. Jordan, G. A. Place, S. Dodd, J. Leithead, C. T. Poll, T. Yoshimura, and J. Westwick. 1998. Interleukin 8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 production by cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. *Cytokine* 10:346-352.
- 243. Ritchie, M. H., R. A. Fillmore, R. N. Lausch, and J. E. Oakes. 2004. A role for NF-kappa B binding motifs in the differential induction of chemokine gene expression in human corneal epithelial cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 45:2299-2305.
- 244. Lu, H. T., Y. C. Liang, M. T. Sheu, H. O. Ho, Y. T. Lin, M. S. Hsieh, and C. H. Chen. 2008. Disease-modifying effects of glucosamine HCl involving regulation of metalloproteinases and chemokines activated by interleukin-1beta in human primary synovial fibroblasts. *J Cell Biochem* 104:38-50.
- 245. Sousa, A. R., S. J. Lane, J. A. Nakhosteen, T. Yoshimura, T. H. Lee, and R. N. Poston. 1994. Increased expression of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in bronchial tissue from asthmatic subjects. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 10:142-147.
- 246. Holgate, S. T., K. S. Bodey, A. Janezic, A. J. Frew, A. P. Kaplan, and L. M. Teran. 1997. Release of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MCP-1 into asthmatic airways following endobronchial allergen challenge. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 156:1377-1383.
- 247. Rose, C. E. J., S. S. Sung, and S. M. Fu. 2003. Significant involvement of CCL2 (MCP-1) in inflammatory disorders of the lung. *Microcirculation* 10:273-288.
- 248. Szalai, C., G. T. Kozma, A. Nagy, A. Bojszko, D. Krikovszky, T. Szabo, and A. Falus. 2001. Polymorphism in the gene regulatory region of MCP-1 is associated with asthma susceptibility and severity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108:375-381.

- 249. Pype, J. L., L. J. Dupont, P. Menten, E. Van Coillie, G. Opdenakker, J. Van Damme, K. F. Chung, M. G. Demedts, and G. M. Verleden. 1999. Expression of monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1, MCP-2, and MCP-3 by human airway smooth-muscle cells. Modulation by corticosteroids and T-helper 2 cytokines. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 21:528-536.
- 250. Nie, M., L. Corbett, A. J. Knox, and L. Pang. 2005. Differential regulation of chemokine expression by peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma agonists: interactions with glucocorticoids and beta2-agonists. *J Biol Chem* 280:2550-2561.
- 251. Garcia-Zepeda, E. A., M. E. Rothenberg, R. T. Ownbey, J. Celestin, P. Leder, and A. D. Luster. 1996. Human eotaxin is a specific chemoattractant for eosinophil cells and provides a new mechanism to explain tissue eosinophilia. *Nat Med* 2:449-456.
- 252. Rothenberg, M. E., R. Ownbey, P. D. Mehlhop, P. M. Loiselle, M. van de Rijn, J. V. Bonventre, H. C. Oettgen, P. Leder, and A. D. Luster. 1996. Eotaxin triggers eosinophil-selective chemotaxis and calcium flux via a distinct receptor and induces pulmonary eosinophilia in the presence of interleukin 5 in mice. *Mol Med* 2:334-348.
- 253. Yamada, H., K. Hirai, M. Miyamasu, M. Iikura, Y. Misaki, S. Shoji, T. Takaishi, T. Kasahara, Y. Morita, and K. Ito. 1997. Eotaxin is a potent chemotaxin for human basophils. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 231:365-368.
- 254. Sallusto, F., C. R. Mackay, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1997. Selective expression of the eotaxin receptor CCR3 by human T helper 2 cells. *Science* 277:2005-2007.
- 255. Romagnani, P., A. De Paulis, C. Beltrame, F. Annunziato, V. Dente, E. Maggi, S. Romagnani, and G. Marone. 1999. Tryptase-chymase double-positive human mast cells express the eotaxin receptor CCR3 and are attracted by CCR3-binding chemokines. *Am J Pathol* 155:1195-1204.
- 256. Lamkhioued, B., P. M. Renzi, S. Abi-Younes, E. A. Garcia-Zepada, Z. Allakhverdi, O. Ghaffar, M. D. Rothenberg, A. D. Luster, and Q. Hamid. 1997. Increased expression of eotaxin in bronchoalveolar lavage and airways of asthmatics contributes to the chemotaxis of eosinophils to the site of inflammation. *J Immunol* 159:4593-4601.
- 257. Ghaffar, O., Q. Hamid, P. M. Renzi, Z. Allakhverdi, S. Molet, J. C. Hogg, S. A. Shore, A. D. Luster, and B. Lamkhioued. 1999. Constitutive and cytokine-stimulated expression of eotaxin by human airway smooth muscle cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 159:1933-1942.

- 258. Ying, S., D. S. Robinson, Q. Meng, J. Rottman, R. Kennedy, D. J. Ringler, C. R. Mackay, B. L. Daugherty, M. S. Springer, S. R. Durham, T. J. Williams, and A. B. Kay. 1997. Enhanced expression of eotaxin and CCR3 mRNA and protein in atopic asthma. Association with airway hyperresponsiveness and predominant co-localization of eotaxin mRNA to bronchial epithelial and endothelial cells. *Eur J Immunol* 27:3507-3516.
- 259. Brown, J. R., J. Kleimberg, M. Marini, G. Sun, A. Bellini, and S. Mattoli. 1998. Kinetics of eotaxin expression and its relationship to eosinophil accumulation and activation in bronchial biopsies and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) of asthmatic patients after allergen inhalation. *Clin Exp Immunol* 114:137-146.
- 260. Hallsworth, M. P., C. H. Twort, T. H. Lee, and S. J. Hirst. 2001. beta(2)-adrenoceptor agonists inhibit release of eosinophil-activating cytokines from human airway smooth muscle cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 132:729-741.
- 261. 2008. British Guideline on the Management of Asthma. *Thorax* 63 Suppl 4:iv1-121.
- 262. Nelson, H. S., S. T. Weiss, E. R. Bleecker, S. W. Yancey, and P. M. Dorinsky. 2006. The Salmeterol Multicenter Asthma Research Trial: a comparison of usual pharmacotherapy for asthma or usual pharmacotherapy plus salmeterol. *Chest* 129:15-26.
- 263. Barnes, P. J. 2005. Theophylline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: new horizons. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 2:334-339; discussion 340-331.
- 264. Cosio, B. G., A. Iglesias, A. Rios, A. Noguera, E. Sala, K. Ito, P. J. Barnes, and A. Agusti. 2009. Low-dose theophylline enhances the antiinflammatory effects of steroids during exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax*.
- 265. Spears, M., I. Donnelly, L. Jolly, M. Brannigan, K. Ito, C. McSharry, J. Lafferty, R. Chaudhuri, G. Braganza, I. M. Adcock, P. J. Barnes, S. Wood, and N. C. Thomson. 2009. Effect of theophylline plus beclometasone on lung function in smokers with asthma-a pilot study. *Eur Respir J.*
- 266. Drazen, J. M. 1988. Comparative contractile responses to sulfidopeptide leukotrienes in normal and asthmatic human subjects. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 524:289-297.
- Laitinen, L. A., A. Laitinen, T. Haahtela, V. Vilkka, B. W. Spur, and T. H. Lee. 1993. Leukotriene E4 and granulocytic infiltration into asthmatic airways. *Lancet* 341:989-990.
- 268. Silbaugh, S. A., P. W. Stengel, G. D. Williams, D. K. Herron, P. Gallagher, and S. R. Baker. 1987. Effects of leukotriene B4 inhalation.

Airway sensitization and lung granulocyte infiltration in the guinea pig. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 136:930-934.

- 269. Arakawa, H., J. Lotvall, I. Kawikova, C. G. Lofdahl, and B. E. Skoogh. 1993. Leukotriene D4- and prostaglandin F2 alpha-induced airflow obstruction and airway plasma exudation in guinea-pig: role of thromboxane and its receptor. *Br J Pharmacol* 110:127-132.
- 270. Hoffstein, S. T., P. E. Malo, P. Bugelski, and E. B. Wheeldon. 1990. Leukotriene D4 (LTD4) induces mucus secretion from goblet cells in the guinea pig respiratory epithelium. *Exp Lung Res* 16:711-725.
- 271. Hamad, A. M., A. M. Sutcliffe, and A. J. Knox. 2004. Aspirin-induced asthma: clinical aspects, pathogenesis and management. *Drugs* 64:2417-2432.
- 272. D'Acquisto, F., N. Paschalidis, K. Raza, C. D. Buckley, R. J. Flower, and M. Perretti. 2008. Glucocorticoid treatment inhibits annexin-1 expression in rheumatoid arthritis CD4+ T cells. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*) 47:636-639.
- 273. John, M., S. Lim, J. Seybold, P. Jose, A. Robichaud, B. O'Connor, P. J. Barnes, and K. F. Chung. 1998. Inhaled corticosteroids increase interleukin-10 but reduce macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and interferon-gamma release from alveolar macrophages in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 157:256-262.
- 274. Ito, K., K. F. Chung, and I. M. Adcock. 2006. Update on glucocorticoid action and resistance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 117:522-543.
- 275. Zhang, G., L. Zhang, and G. W. Duff. 1997. A negative regulatory region containing a glucocorticosteroid response element (nGRE) in the human interleukin-1beta gene. *DNA Cell Biol* 16:145-152.
- 276. Barnes, P. J., and I. M. Adcock. 2003. How do corticosteroids work in asthma? *Ann Intern Med* 139:359-370.
- 277. Barnes, P. J., and M. Karin. 1997. Nuclear factor-kappaB: a pivotal transcription factor in chronic inflammatory diseases. *N Engl J Med* 336:1066-1071.
- 278. Barnes, P. J., and I. M. Adcock. 1998. Transcription factors and asthma. *Eur Respir J* 12:221-234.
- 279. Nissen, R. M., and K. R. Yamamoto. 2000. The glucocorticoid receptor inhibits NFkappaB by interfering with serine-2 phosphorylation of the RNA polymerase II carboxy-terminal domain. *Genes Dev* 14:2314-2329.
- 280. Kamei, Y., L. Xu, T. Heinzel, J. Torchia, R. Kurokawa, B. Gloss, S. C. Lin, R. A. Heyman, D. W. Rose, C. K. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld.

1996. A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. *Cell* 85:403-414.

- 281. Auphan, N., J. A. DiDonato, C. Rosette, A. Helmberg, and M. Karin. 1995. Immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: inhibition of NF-kappa B activity through induction of I kappa B synthesis. *Science* 270:286-290.
- Heck, S., K. Bender, M. Kullmann, M. Gottlicher, P. Herrlich, and A. C. Cato. 1997. I kappaB alpha-independent downregulation of NF-kappaB activity by glucocorticoid receptor. *Embo J* 16:4698-4707.
- 283. Mittelstadt, P. R., and J. D. Ashwell. 2001. Inhibition of AP-1 by the glucocorticoid-inducible protein GILZ. *J Biol Chem* 276:29603-29610.
- 284. Huang, S., and J. W. Hershey. 1989. Translational initiation factor expression and ribosomal protein gene expression are repressed coordinately but by different mechanisms in murine lymphosarcoma cells treated with glucocorticoids. *Mol Cell Biol* 9:3679-3684.
- 285. Spahn, J. D., S. J. Szefler, W. Surs, D. E. Doherty, S. R. Nimmagadda, and D. Y. Leung. 1996. A novel action of IL-13: induction of diminished monocyte glucocorticoid receptor-binding affinity. J Immunol 157:2654-2659.
- 286. Kam, J. C., S. J. Szefler, W. Surs, E. R. Sher, and D. Y. Leung. 1993. Combination IL-2 and IL-4 reduces glucocorticoid receptor-binding affinity and T cell response to glucocorticoids. *J Immunol* 151:3460-3466.
- 287. Irusen, E., J. G. Matthews, A. Takahashi, P. J. Barnes, K. F. Chung, and I. M. Adcock. 2002. p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase-induced glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation reduces its activity: role in steroid-insensitive asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 109:649-657.
- 288. Lasa, M., S. M. Abraham, C. Boucheron, J. Saklatvala, and A. R. Clark. 2002. Dexamethasone causes sustained expression of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphatase 1 and phosphatase-mediated inhibition of MAPK p38. *Mol Cell Biol* 22:7802-7811.
- 289. Matthews, J. G., K. Ito, P. J. Barnes, and I. M. Adcock. 2004. Defective glucocorticoid receptor nuclear translocation and altered histone acetylation patterns in glucocorticoid-resistant patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 113:1100-1108.
- 290. Adcock, I. M., and S. J. Lane. 2003. Corticosteroid-insensitive asthma: molecular mechanisms. *J Endocrinol* 178:347-355.
- 291. Adcock, I. M., S. J. Lane, C. R. Brown, T. H. Lee, and P. J. Barnes. 1995. Abnormal glucocorticoid receptor-activator protein 1 interaction in steroid-resistant asthma. *J Exp Med* 182:1951-1958.

- 292. Lane, S. J., I. M. Adcock, D. Richards, C. Hawrylowicz, P. J. Barnes, and T. H. Lee. 1998. Corticosteroid-resistant bronchial asthma is associated with increased c-fos expression in monocytes and T lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest* 102:2156-2164.
- 293. Sousa, A. R., S. J. Lane, C. Soh, and T. H. Lee. 1999. In vivo resistance to corticosteroids in bronchial asthma is associated with enhanced phosyphorylation of JUN N-terminal kinase and failure of prednisolone to inhibit JUN N-terminal kinase phosphorylation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 104:565-574.
- 294. Chalmers, G. W., K. J. Macleod, S. A. Little, L. J. Thomson, C. P. McSharry, and N. C. Thomson. 2002. Influence of cigarette smoking on inhaled corticosteroid treatment in mild asthma. *Thorax* 57:226-230.
- 295. Chaudhuri, R., E. Livingston, A. D. McMahon, L. Thomson, W. Borland, and N. C. Thomson. 2003. Cigarette smoking impairs the therapeutic response to oral corticosteroids in chronic asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 168:1308-1311.
- 296. Katsoulis, K., T. Kontakiotis, I. Leonardopoulos, A. Kotsovili, I. N. Legakis, and D. Patakas. 2003. Serum total antioxidant status in severe exacerbation of asthma: correlation with the severity of the disease. *J Asthma* 40:847-854.
- 297. Baraldi, E., L. Ghiro, V. Piovan, S. Carraro, G. Ciabattoni, P. J. Barnes, and P. Montuschi. 2003. Increased exhaled 8-isoprostane in childhood asthma. *Chest* 124:25-31.
- 298. Ito, K., M. Ito, W. M. Elliott, B. Cosio, G. Caramori, O. M. Kon, A. Barczyk, S. Hayashi, I. M. Adcock, J. C. Hogg, and P. J. Barnes. 2005. Decreased histone deacetylase activity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med* 352:1967-1976.
- 299. Ito, K., S. Yamamura, S. Essilfie-Quaye, B. Cosio, M. Ito, P. J. Barnes, and I. M. Adcock. 2006. Histone deacetylase 2-mediated deacetylation of the glucocorticoid receptor enables NF-kappaB suppression. *J Exp Med* 203:7-13.
- 300. Morjaria, J. B., A. J. Chauhan, K. S. Babu, R. Polosa, D. E. Davies, and S. T. Holgate. 2008. The role of a soluble TNFalpha receptor fusion protein (etanercept) in corticosteroid refractory asthma: a double blind, randomised, placebo controlled trial. *Thorax* 63:584-591.
- 301. Hall, I. P., S. Widdop, P. Townsend, and K. Daykin. 1992. Control of cyclic AMP levels in primary cultures of human tracheal smooth muscle cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 107:422-428.
- 302. Pallisgaard, N., N. Clausen, H. Schroder, and P. Hokland. 1999. Rapid and sensitive minimal residual disease detection in acute leukemia by quantitative real-time RT-PCR exemplified by t(12;21) TEL-AML1 fusion transcript. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer* 26:355-365.

- 303. Bradford, M. M. 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem* 72:248-254.
- 304. Lim, S. P., and A. Garzino-Demo. 2000. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein up-regulates the promoter activity of the betachemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in the human astrocytoma cell line U-87 MG: role of SP-1, AP-1, and NF-kappaB consensus sites. *J Virol* 74:1632-1640.
- 305. Bergmann, M., L. Hart, M. Lindsay, P. J. Barnes, and R. Newton. 1998. IkappaBalpha degradation and nuclear factor-kappaB DNA binding are insufficient for interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alphainduced kappaB-dependent transcription. Requirement for an additional activation pathway. *J Biol Chem* 273:6607-6610.
- 306. Kieser, A., T. Seitz, H. S. Adler, P. Coffer, E. Kremmer, P. Crespo, J. S. Gutkind, D. W. Henderson, J. F. Mushinski, W. Kolch, and H. Mischak. 1996. Protein kinase C-zeta reverts v-raf transformation of NIH-3T3 cells. *Genes Dev* 10:1455-1466.
- 307. Bowie, A., and L. A. J. O'Neill. 2000. The interleukin-1 receptor tolllike receptor superfamily: signal generation for proinflammatory interleukins and microbial products. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 67:508-514.
- 308. Kisselera, T., S. Bhattacharya, J. Braunstein, and C. W. Schindler. 2002. Signalling through the JAK/STAT pathway, recent advances and future challenges. *Gene* 285:1-24.
- 309. Ye, R. D. 2001. Regulation of nuclear factor κB activation by Gprotein coupled receptors. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 70:839-848.
- 310. Hay, D. W. 1999. Putative mediator role of endothelin-1 in asthma and other lung diseases. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 26:168-171.
- 311. Zhu, Y. M., D. A. Bradbury, L. H. Pang, and A. J. Knox. 2003. Transcriptional regulation of IL-8 by bradykinin in human airway smooth muscle cells involves prostanoid dependent activation of AP-1 and NF-IL-6 and prostanoid independent activation of NF kappa B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278:29366-29375.
- 312. Nie, M., L. H. Pang, H. Inoue, and A. J. Knox. 2003. Transcriptional regulation of COX-2 by bradykinin and IL-1 beta in human airways smooth muscle cells: involvement of different promoter elements, transcription factors and histone H4 acetylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 23:9233-9244.
- 313. Cunningham, M. E., M. Huribal, R. J. Bala, and M. A. McMillen. 1997. Endothelin-1 and endothelin-4 stimulate monocyte production of cytokines. *Crit Care Med* 25:958-964.

- 314. Mullol, J., J. N. Baraniuk, C. Logun, T. Benfield, C. Picado, and J. H. Shelhamer. 1996. Endothelin-1 induces GM-CSF, IL-6 and IL-8 but not G-CSF release from a human bronchial epithelial cell line (BEAS-2B). *Neuropeptides* 30:551-556.
- 315. Finsnes, F., T. Lyberg, G. Christensen, and O. H. Skjonsberg. 2001. Effect of endothelin antagonism on the production of cytokines in eosinophilic airway inflammation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 280:L659-665.
- 316. Sharmin, S., M. Shiota, E. Murata, P. Cui, H. Kitamura, M. Yano, and H. Kido. 2002. A novel bioactive 31-amino acid ET-1 peptide stimulates eosinophil recruitment and increases the levels of eotaxin and IL-5. *Inflamm Res* 51:195-200.
- 317. Fehr, J. J., C. A. Hirshman, and C. W. Emala. 2000. Cellular signaling by the potent bronchoconstrictor endothelin-1 in airway smooth muscle. *Crit Care Med* 28:1884-1888.
- 318. Hay, D. W., M. A. Luttmann, R. M. Muccitelli, and R. G. Goldie. 1999. Endothelin receptors and calcium translocation pathways in human airways. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 359:404-410.
- 319. Vichi, P., A. Whelchel, H. Knot, M. Nelson, W. Kolch, and J. Posada. 1999. Endothelin-stimulated ERK activation in airway smooth-muscle cells requires calcium influx and Raf activation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20:99-105.
- 320. Shapiro, P. S., J. N. Evans, R. J. Davis, and J. A. Posada. 1996. The seven-transmembrane-spanning receptors for endothelin and thrombin cause proliferation of airway smooth muscle cells and activation of the extracellular regulated kinase and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase groups of mitogen-activated protein kinases. *J Biol Chem* 271:5750-5754.
- 321. Koyama, S., E. Sato, H. Numanami, K. Kubo, S. Nagai, and T. Izumi. 2000. Bradykinin stimulates lung fibroblasts to release neutrophil and monocyte chemotactic activity. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 22:75-84.
- 322. Chakraborty, C., Y. P. Barbin, S. Chakrabarti, P. Chidiac, S. J. Dixon, and P. K. Lala. 2003. Endothelin-1 promotes migration and induces elevation of [Ca2+]i and phosphorylation of MAP kinase of a human extravillous trophoblast cell line. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 201:63-73.
- 323. Davenport, A. P., and B. Battistini. 2002. Classification of endothelin receptors and antagonists in clinical development. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 103 Suppl 48:1S-3S.
- 324. Ishikawa, K., M. Ihara, K. Noguchi, T. Mase, N. Mino, T. Saeki, T. Fukuroda, T. Fukami, S. Ozaki, T. Nagase, and et al. 1994. Biochemical and pharmacological profile of a potent and selective endothelin B-receptor antagonist, BQ-788. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:4892-4896.

- 325. Ihara, M., K. Ishikawa, T. Fukuroda, T. Saeki, K. Funabashi, T. Fukami, H. Suda, and M. Yano. 1992. In vitro biological profile of a highly potent novel endothelin (ET) antagonist BQ-123 selective for the ETA receptor. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 20 Suppl 12:S11-14.
- 326. Duan, W., and W. S. Wong. 2006. Targeting mitogen-activated protein kinases for asthma. *Curr Drug Targets* 7:691-698.
- 327. Clerk, A., A. Michael, and P. H. Sugden. 1998. Stimulation of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes by the G protein-coupled receptor agonists, endothelin-1 and phenylephrine: a role in cardiac myocyte hypertrophy? *J Cell Biol* 142:523-535.
- 328. Dudley, D. T., L. Pang, S. J. Decker, A. J. Bridges, and A. R. Saltiel. 1995. A synthetic inhibitor of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:7686-7689.
- 329. Alessi, D. R., A. Cuenda, P. Cohen, D. T. Dudley, and A. R. Saltiel. 1995. PD 098059 is a specific inhibitor of the activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase in vitro and in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 270:27489-27494.
- 330. Cuenda, A., J. Rouse, Y. N. Doza, R. Meier, P. Cohen, T. F. Gallagher, P. R. Young, and J. C. Lee. 1995. SB 203580 is a specific inhibitor of a MAP kinase homologue which is stimulated by cellular stresses and interleukin-1. *FEBS Lett* 364:229-233.
- Bennett, B. L., D. T. Sasaki, B. W. Murray, E. C. O'Leary, S. T. Sakata, W. Xu, J. C. Leisten, A. Motiwala, S. Pierce, Y. Satoh, S. S. Bhagwat, A. M. Manning, and D. W. Anderson. 2001. SP600125, an anthrapyrazolone inhibitor of Jun N-terminal kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:13681-13686.
- 332. Arcaro, A., and M. P. Wymann. 1993. Wortmannin is a potent phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor: the role of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate in neutrophil responses. *Biochem J* 296 (Pt 2):297-301.
- 333. Vlahos, C. J., W. F. Matter, K. Y. Hui, and R. F. Brown. 1994. A specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one (LY294002). *J Biol Chem* 269:5241-5248.
- 334. Ishizawa, K., M. Yoshizumi, K. Tsuchiya, H. Houchi, K. Minakuchi, Y. Izawa, Y. Kanematsu, S. Kagami, M. Hirose, and T. Tamaki. 2004. Dual effects of endothelin-1 (1-31): induction of mesangial cell migration and facilitation of monocyte recruitment through monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 production by mesangial cells. *Hypertens Res* 27:433-440.

- 335. Goldie, R. G., P. J. Henry, P. G. Knott, G. J. Self, M. A. Luttmann, and D. W. Hay. 1995. Endothelin-1 receptor density, distribution, and function in human isolated asthmatic airways. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 152:1653-1658.
- 336. Fukuroda, T., S. Ozaki, M. Ihara, K. Ishikawa, M. Yano, T. Miyauchi, S. Ishikawa, M. Onizuka, K. Goto, and M. Nishikibe. 1996. Necessity of dual blockade of endothelin ETA and ETB receptor subtypes for antagonism of endothelin-1-induced contraction in human bronchi. *Br J Pharmacol* 117:995-999.
- Adner, M., L. O. Cardell, T. Sjoberg, A. Ottosson, and L. Edvinsson. 1996. Contractile endothelin-B (ETB) receptors in human small bronchi. *Eur Respir J* 9:351-355.
- 338. Shi-Wen, X., Y. Chen, C. P. Denton, M. Eastwood, E. A. Renzoni, G. Bou-Gharios, J. D. Pearson, M. Dashwood, R. M. du Bois, C. M. Black, A. Leask, and D. J. Abraham. 2004. Endothelin-1 promotes myofibroblast induction through the ETA receptor via a rac/phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt-dependent pathway and is essential for the enhanced contractile phenotype of fibrotic fibroblasts. *Mol Biol Cell* 15:2707-2719.
- 339. Whelchel, A., J. Evans, and J. Posada. 1997. Inhibition of ERK activation attenuates endothelin-stimulated airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 16:589-596.
- 340. Fujitani, Y., and C. Bertrand. 1997. ET-1 cooperates with EGF to induce mitogenesis via a PTX-sensitive pathway in airway smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol* 272:C1492-1498.
- 341. Wuyts, W. A., B. M. Vanaudenaerde, L. J. Dupont, M. G. Demedts, and G. M. Verleden. 2003. Involvement of p38 MAPK, JNK, p42/p44 ERK and NF-kappaB in IL-1beta-induced chemokine release in human airway smooth muscle cells. *Respir Med* 97:811-817.
- 342. Dong, C., R. J. Davis, and R. A. Flavell. 2002. MAP kinases in the immune response. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20:55-72.
- 343. Han, Z., D. L. Boyle, L. Chang, B. Bennett, M. Karin, L. Yang, A. M. Manning, and G. S. Firestein. 2001. c-Jun N-terminal kinase is required for metalloproteinase expression and joint destruction in inflammatory arthritis. *J Clin Invest* 108:73-81.
- 344. Nishikawa, M., A. Myoui, T. Tomita, K. Takahi, A. Nampei, and H. Yoshikawa. 2003. Prevention of the onset and progression of collageninduced arthritis in rats by the potent p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitor FR167653. *Arthritis Rheum* 48:2670-2681.
- 345. Ye, R. D. 2001. Regulation of nuclear factor kappaB activation by G-protein-coupled receptors. *J Leukoc Biol* 70:839-848.

- 346. Scott, P. H., C. M. Belham, J. al-Hafidh, E. R. Chilvers, A. J. Peacock, G. W. Gould, and R. Plevin. 1996. A regulatory role for cAMP in phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/p70 ribosomal S6 kinase-mediated DNA synthesis in platelet-derived-growth-factor-stimulated bovine airway smooth-muscle cells. *Biochem J* 318 (Pt 3):965-971.
- 347. Yin, J., J. A. Lee, and R. D. Howells. 1992. Stimulation of c-fos and cjun gene expression and down-regulation of proenkephalin gene expression in C6 glioma cells by endothelin-1. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 14:213-220.
- 348. Liang, F., S. Lu, and D. G. Gardner. 2000. Endothelin-dependent and independent components of strain-activated brain natriuretic peptide gene transcription require extracellular signal regulated kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Hypertension* 35:188-192.
- 349. Morin, S., P. Paradis, A. Aries, and M. Nemer. 2001. Serum response factor-GATA ternary complex required for nuclear signaling by a G-protein-coupled receptor. *Mol Cell Biol* 21:1036-1044.
- 350. Chintalgattu, V., and L. C. Katwa. 2004. Role of protein kinase Cdelta in endothelin-induced type I collagen expression in cardiac myofibroblasts isolated from the site of myocardial infarction. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 311:691-699.
- 351. Podolin, P. L., J. F. Callahan, B. J. Bolognese, Y. H. Li, K. Carlson, T. G. Davis, G. W. Mellor, C. Evans, and A. K. Roshak. 2005. Attenuation of murine collagen-induced arthritis by a novel, potent, selective small molecule inhibitor of IkappaB Kinase 2, TPCA-1 (2-[(aminocarbonyl)amino]-5-(4-fluorophenyl)-3-thiophenecarboxamide), occurs via reduction of proinflammatory cytokines and antigen-induced T cell Proliferation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 312:373-381.
- 352. Ibarz, G., C. Oiry, E. Carnazzi, P. Crespy, C. Escrieut, D. Fourmy, J. C. Galleyrand, D. Gagne, and J. Martinez. 2006. Cholecystokinin 1 receptor modulates the MEKK1-induced c-Jun trans-activation: structural requirements of the receptor. *Br J Pharmacol* 147:951-958.
- 353. Pulverer, B. J., J. M. Kyriakis, J. Avruch, E. Nikolakaki, and J. R. Woodgett. 1991. Phosphorylation of c-jun mediated by MAP kinases. *Nature* 353:670-674.
- 354. Harvey, E. J., N. Li, and D. P. Ramji. 2007. Critical role for casein kinase 2 and phosphoinositide-3-kinase in the interferon-gamma-induced expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and other key genes implicated in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 27:806-812.
- 355. Sato, Y., Y. Nishio, O. Sekine, K. Kodama, Y. Nagai, T. Nakamura, H. Maegawa, and A. Kashiwagi. 2007. Increased expression of CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-beta and -delta and monocyte

chemoattractant protein-1 genes in aortas from hyperinsulinaemic rats. *Diabetologia* 50:481-489.

- 356. Ichihara, S., K. Obata, Y. Yamada, K. Nagata, A. Noda, G. Ichihara, A. Yamada, T. Kato, H. Izawa, T. Murohara, and M. Yokota. 2006. Attenuation of cardiac dysfunction by a PPAR-alpha agonist is associated with down-regulation of redox-regulated transcription factors. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 41:318-329.
- 357. Dragomir, E., M. Tircol, I. Manduteanu, M. Voinea, and M. Simionescu. 2006. Aspirin and PPAR-alpha activators inhibit monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression induced by high glucose concentration in human endothelial cells. *Vascul Pharmacol* 44:440-449.
- 358. Cullen, J. P., S. Sayeed, Y. Jin, N. G. Theodorakis, J. V. Sitzmann, P. A. Cahill, and E. M. Redmond. 2005. Ethanol inhibits monocyte chemotactic protein-1 expression in interleukin-1{beta}-activated human endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 289:H1669-1675.
- 359. Jaramillo, M., M. Godbout, P. H. Naccache, and M. Olivier. 2004. Signaling events involved in macrophage chemokine expression in response to monosodium urate crystals. *J Biol Chem* 279:52797-52805.
- 360. Tsuchiya, K., T. Yoshimoto, Y. Hirono, T. Tateno, T. Sugiyama, and Y. Hirata. 2006. Angiotensin II induces monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression via a nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent pathway in rat preadipocytes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 291:E771-778.
- 361. Birrell, M. A., E. Hardaker, S. Wong, K. McCluskie, M. Catley, J. De Alba, R. Newton, S. Haj-Yahia, K. T. Pun, C. J. Watts, R. J. Shaw, T. J. Savage, and M. G. Belvisi. 2005. Ikappa-B kinase-2 inhibitor blocks inflammation in human airway smooth muscle and a rat model of asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 172:962-971.
- 362. Lampinen, M., M. Carlson, L. D. Hakansson, and P. Venge. 2004. Cytokine-regulated accumulation of eosinophils in inflammatory disease. *Allergy* 59:793-805.
- 363. Chung, K. F., H. J. Patel, E. J. Fadlon, J. Rousell, E. B. Haddad, P. J. Jose, J. Mitchell, and M. Belvisi. 1999. Induction of eotaxin expression and release from human airway smooth muscle cells by IL-1beta and TNFalpha: effects of IL-10 and corticosteroids. *Br J Pharmacol* 127:1145-1150.
- 364. Greening, A. P., P. W. Ind, M. Northfield, and G. Shaw. 1994. Added salmeterol versus higher-dose corticosteroid in asthma patients with symptoms on existing inhaled corticosteroid. Allen & Hanburys Limited UK Study Group. *Lancet* 344:219-224.
- 365. Woolcock, A., B. Lundback, N. Ringdal, and L. A. Jacques. 1996. Comparison of addition of salmeterol to inhaled steroids with doubling of the dose of inhaled steroids. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 153:1481-1488.
- 366. Barnes, P. J. 2002. Scientific rationale for inhaled combination therapy with long-acting beta2-agonists and corticosteroids. *Eur Respir J* 19:182-191.
- 367. Eickelberg, O., M. Roth, R. Lorx, V. Bruce, J. Rudiger, M. Johnson, and L. H. Block. 1999. Ligand-independent activation of the glucocorticoid receptor by beta2-adrenergic receptor agonists in primary human lung fibroblasts and vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 274:1005-1010.
- 368. Oddera, S., M. Silvestri, R. Testi, and G. A. Rossi. 1998. Salmeterol enhances the inhibitory activity of dexamethasone on allergen-induced blood mononuclear cell activation. *Respiration* 65:199-204.
- 369. Korn, S. H., A. Jerre, and R. Brattsand. 2001. Effects of formoterol and budesonide on GM-CSF and IL-8 secretion by triggered human bronchial epithelial cells. *Eur Respir J* 17:1070-1077.
- 370. Silvestri, M., L. Fregonese, F. Sabatini, G. Dasic, and G. A. Rossi. 2001. Fluticasone and salmeterol downregulate in vitro, fibroblast proliferation and ICAM-1 or H-CAM expression. *Eur Respir J* 18:139-145.
- 371. Ito, K., G. Caramori, S. Lim, T. Oates, K. F. Chung, P. J. Barnes, and I. M. Adcock. 2002. Expression and activity of histone deacetylases in human asthmatic airways. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 166:392-396.
- 372. Cosio, B. G., B. Mann, K. Ito, E. Jazrawi, P. J. Barnes, K. F. Chung, and I. M. Adcock. 2004. Histone acetylase and deacetylase activity in alveolar macrophages and blood mononocytes in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 170:141-147.
- 373. Ito, K., S. Lim, G. Caramori, B. Cosio, K. F. Chung, I. M. Adcock, and P. J. Barnes. 2002. A molecular mechanism of action of theophylline: Induction of histone deacetylase activity to decrease inflammatory gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99:8921-8926.
- 374. Kitaura, M., T. Nakajima, T. Imai, S. Harada, C. Combadiere, H. L. Tiffany, P. M. Murphy, and O. Yoshie. 1996. Molecular cloning of human eotaxin, an eosinophil-selective CC chemokine, and identification of a specific eosinophil eotaxin receptor, CC chemokine receptor 3. J Biol Chem 271:7725-7730.
- 375. Hein, H., C. Schluter, R. Kulke, E. Christophers, J. M. Schroder, and J. Bartels. 1997. Genomic organization, sequence, and transcriptional regulation of the human eotaxin gene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 237:537-542.

- 376. Matsukura, S., C. Stellato, J. R. Plitt, C. Bickel, K. Miura, S. N. Georas, V. Casolaro, and R. P. Schleimer. 1999. Activation of eotaxin gene transcription by NF-kappa B and STAT6 in human airway epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 163:6876-6883.
- 377. Hoeck, J., and M. Woisetschlager. 2001. STAT6 mediates eotaxin-1 expression in IL-4 or TNF-alpha-induced fibroblasts. *J Immunol* 166:4507-4515.
- 378. Lee, K. Y., K. Ito, R. Hayashi, E. P. Jazrawi, P. J. Barnes, and I. M. Adcock. 2006. NF-kappaB and activator protein 1 response elements and the role of histone modifications in IL-1beta-induced TGF-beta1 gene transcription. *J Immunol* 176:603-615.
- 379. Sullivan, K. E., A. B. Reddy, K. Dietzmann, A. R. Suriano, V. P. Kocieda, M. Stewart, and M. Bhatia. 2007. Epigenetic regulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Mol Cell Biol* 27:5147-5160.
- 380. Akimzhanov, A. M., X. O. Yang, and C. Dong. 2007. Chromatin remodeling of interleukin-17 (IL-17)-IL-17F cytokine gene locus during inflammatory helper T cell differentiation. *J Biol Chem* 282:5969-5972.
- 381. Sahar, S., M. A. Reddy, C. Wong, L. Meng, M. Wang, and R. Natarajan. 2007. Cooperation of SRC-1 and p300 with NF-kappaB and CREB in angiotensin II-induced IL-6 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 27:1528-1534.
- 382. Adcock, I. M., and K. Y. Lee. 2006. Abnormal histone acetylase and deacetylase expression and function in lung inflammation. *Inflamm Res* 55:311-321.
- 383. Brandl, A., T. Heinzel, and O. H. Kramer. 2009. Histone deacetylases: salesmen and customers in the post-translational modification market. *Biol Cell* 101:193-205.
- 384. Keslacy, S., O. Tliba, H. Baidouri, and Y. Amrani. 2007. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha-inducible inflammatory genes by interferon-gamma is associated with altered nuclear factor-kappaB transactivation and enhanced histone deacetylase activity. *Mol Pharmacol* 71:609-618.
- 385. Chen, L., W. Fischle, E. Verdin, and W. C. Greene. 2001. Duration of nuclear NF-kappaB action regulated by reversible acetylation. *Science* 293:1653-1657.
- 386. Kovacs, J. J., P. J. Murphy, S. Gaillard, X. Zhao, J. T. Wu, C. V. Nicchitta, M. Yoshida, D. O. Toft, W. B. Pratt, and T. P. Yao. 2005. HDAC6 regulates Hsp90 acetylation and chaperone-dependent activation of glucocorticoid receptor. *Mol Cell* 18:601-607.

- 387. Jacobsen, L. B., S. A. Calvin, K. E. Colvin, and M. Wright. 2004. FuGENE 6 Transfection Reagent: the gentle power. *Methods* 33:104-112.
- 388. Bain, J., L. Plater, M. Elliott, N. Shpiro, C. J. Hastie, H. McLauchlan, I. Klevernic, J. S. Arthur, D. R. Alessi, and P. Cohen. 2007. The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: a further update. *Biochem J* 408:297-315.
- 389. Pang, L., M. Nie, L. Corbett, R. Donnelly, S. Gray, and A. J. Knox. 2002. Protein kinase C-epsilon mediates bradykinin-induced cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human airway smooth muscle cells. *Faseb J* 16:1435-1437.
- 390. Karin, M. 2004. Mitogen activated protein kinases as targets for development of novel anti-inflammatory drugs. *Ann Rheum Dis* 63 Suppl 2:ii62-ii64.
- 391. Adcock, I. M., K. F. Chung, G. Caramori, and K. Ito. 2006. Kinase inhibitors and airway inflammation. *Eur J Pharmacol* 533:118-132.